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CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Millions of Dollars, except for earnings per share)

Years ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2021 2020
LAV LU TR 3 $ 15,577 14,379 12,669
COSE OF SAIES ...ttt ettt 2.17,5 (10,755) (9,743) (8,586)
GFOSS PIOTIL ©.vvviieciciiiicieicicese ettt 4,822 4,636 4,083
OPErating EXPENSES ....vviveriiererieterestest sttt eses sttt esesa ettt bbb b et e bt nne b e 2.17,6 (3,261) (2,917) (2,791)
Operating earnings before other eXpenses, Net.........c.ccvvvvveiveieeresieereeseeseseens 2.1 1,561 1,719 1,292
Other EXPENSES, NEL ..iviieieiceiee sttt se e be et e 7 (467) (82) (1,763)
Operating arnings (I0SS)........ceireirerrerrereereeeeresrestessesseseresrestestessessesseressssrens 1,094 1,637 (471)
FINANCIAL EXPENSE ...ttt ettt sbesae s 8.1,17 (401) (658) (773)
Financial income and other itemS, NEt ..........cccioiiiiiniiiice e 8.2 47 (79) (115)
Share of profit of equity accounted INVESLEES ..........ccereiieieiinienireneee e 14.1 30 54 49
Earnings (10ss) Defore iNCOME LaX ..........ocivveeverierieeiieissesicse st ssessssns 770 954 (1,310)
INCOME TAX 1.ttt b bbbt b et nee et e e e e e neeresbe e e 20 (209) (137) (36)
Net income (loss) from continuing OPErations ...........ccceeerveerereresssesesessesnens 561 817 (1,346)
DiscontinuUed OPEIatiONS .........ccciiiiirenieiereeiee ettt sae 42 324 (39 (100)
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (LOSS) ......ooooooeereerrerreeeeneeeeseessesssssssesssesseesreee 885 778 (1,446)
Non-controlling interest Net INCOME ...........coooiiiiereieeeeee e 27 25 21
CONTROLLING INTEREST NET INCOME (LOSS)....cccssietininnieicieenennrieane $ 858 753 (1,467)
Basic earnings (10SS) PEr ShAIE.........cc.cocviviieecieiieieeie st 23 $ 0.0197 0.0171 (0.0332)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations ............cccoeevevevennas 23 $ 0.0123 0.0180 (0.0309)
Diluted earnings (10SS) PEF SNATE ............ccvuveeiereereeeiieiesesies et seessssans 23 $ 0.0193 0.0168 (0.0332)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations 23 $ 0.0120 0.0177 (0.0309)

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Millions of Dollars)

Years ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2021 2020
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (LOSS) .....oonmveeierveenseeeosesssisesssssssssssssssssssssees $ 885 778 (1,446)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the statement of operations....
Net actuarial gains (losses) from remeasurements of defined benefit
PENSION PIANS ...ttt s 19 176 263 (199)
Effects from strategic equity investments 14.2 9) 9) (12)
Income tax income (expense) recognized directly in other comprehensive
INCOIMIE ottt bbbttt b 20 (32) (26) 41
135 228 (169)
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the statement of
OPBIALIONS ...ttt ettt b bbbkttt
Results from derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow
NBOAGES oottt eans 17.4 80 60 (5)
Currency translation results of foreign subsidiaries...........ccccevevvevivernennane. 21.2 (326) (400) (193)
Income tax income (expense) recognized directly in other comprehensive
TNCOME ettt bbbttt b e st b e ee e neeneas 20 18 70 19
(228) (270) (179)
Total items of other comprehensive income (10Ss), Net.........cccccocererieenne. (93) (42) (348)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ..ot 792 736 (1,794)
Non-controlling interest comprehensive income (10SS)..........cccoovrerieinnnns (36) 14 (181)
CONTROLLING INTEREST COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)......... $ 828 722 (1,613)

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Millions of Dollars)

December 31,

Notes 2022 2021
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS...........oiiiiiiicece et b e sresr b ean 9 495 613
Trade aCCOUNES TECEIVADIE .........oiiieiiiciee ettt 10 1,644 1,521
Other aCCOUNTS TECEIVADIE .......c.eiieeiieeie bbbttt 11 535 558
INVENEOTIES ...tttk bbb b etk b st s b bt bt ekt b bbbt b ettt eb et 12 1,669 1,261
Assets held for sale and Other CUMTENT SSELS .......civeiriueirieiriee e 13 183 272
Total current assets 4,526 4,225
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in assoCiates and JOINT VENTUIES .........veiriiieirieirieicieeeesei et 14.1 640 535
Other investments and non-current acCoUNts reCeivable ..........cocoovieiiiieiiiice s 142 293 243
Property, machinery and equipment, net and assets for the right-of-use, net............ccoceoveinvinninnnne 15 11,284 11,322
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 16 9,293 9,763
Deferred income tax assets 20.2 411 562
Total non-current assets 21,921 22,425
TOTAL ASSETS ..ottt 26,447 26,650
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
CUITENT AEDE ...kt bbb bbbt b ettt b bbbt 17.1 51 73
Other current financial OBHGAtIONS .......ccciiiiiiie e 172 936 867
Trade payables ........... 2,966 2,762
Income tax payable 368 437
Other CUITENE TADTIITIES ....vveeiieiie ettt et e e e ettt e s bt e e sttt e s sttt e e sabeeesasbeeesssbeeesasbeeesbeeessnes 18.1 1,225 1,202
Liabilities directly related to assets held fOr Sale..........coooiiiiiii i 13 — 39
Total current HAbIIITIES ........coiiiiicie ittt eae e 5,546 5,380
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CUITENT BB ...t 17.1 6,920 7,306
Other non-current financial obligations ............. 172 918 911
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 19 695 999
Deferred income tax [HabilitIES ........coiiii et 20.2 394 485
Other NON-CUITENTE HHADTIITIES ... .veieieeee ettt ettt e e e st e e s ettt e e st e e s s bt e e s s sabeeesebbeessabaaessrnes 18.2 1,065 1,298
Total NON-CUrreNt lADIIITIES .....eeeeieeeii ettt s e s e 9,992 10,999
TOTAL LIABILITIES ..ottt 15,538 16,379
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Controlling interest:
Common stock and additional paid-in Capital ..........cccooiiiiriiiii e 21.1 7,810 7,810
Other equity reserves and SUDOIAINAEA NOLES .........cceiiiriiireieeeee e 21.2 (1,555) (1,371)
RELAINEA BAIMINGS ...ttt b ettt b e bbb e e e e et e b e bt nbeebe b neenes 21.3 4,246 3,388
Total controlling interest 10,501 9,827
NON-CONEFOITING TNTEFEST ......veeiteiee et b ettt be st s 214 408 444
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ...ccooouiiiiiiiineineineessese e esssessesssesssasssesssns 10,909 10,271
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ........o.oooiiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeseenis 26,447 26,650

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Millions of Dollars)

Years ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2021 2020
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated NEt iNCOME (I0SS) ......c.uvuurvrivrieeisciesies sttt bbbt nen $ 885 778 (1,446)
DiSCONLINUEA OPEIALIONS ........ouieuiriicieieiei ettt 324 (39) (100)
Net income (10ss) from continUING OPEratioNS ..o 561 817 (1,346)
Adjustments for:
Gain on sale of emisSioN AllOWANCES ............ccviviiiiieieic e 2.19,7 - (600) -
Depreciation and amortization 0f @SSELS ........cccvvieiiiiieiiiicice e 5,6 1,120 1,120 1,105
Impairment 10sses of 10nged-1ved ASSELS ..ot 7 442 509 1,520
Share of profit of equity aCCOUNtEd INVESLEES ........cevveiriiiiiiieircese e 14.1 (30) (54) (49)
Results on sale of subsidiaries, other disposal groups and others............ccccccevvvevirieennanns (116) (23) (5)
Financial expense, financial income and other items, Net..........c.cocoviieieininiene e 354 737 888
INCOIME TAXES ...ttt bttt b et e s te e s bt et e st e esneabe e e e nbeennen 20 209 137 36
Changes in working capital, excluding iNCOME taXES .......cccovrererererieieescse e (390) (143) 199
Cash flows provided by operating activities from continuing operations.............cccoeevevrevrerienennns 2,150 2,500 2,348
INEEIESE PAIG ... ettt ettt b et b ettt b e bbb s (493) (524) (679)
INCOME TAXES PAIA. ...ttt b et b et e ettt b et e neen (188) (170) (124)
Net cash flows provided by operating activities from continuing operations................... 1,469 1,806 1,545
Net cash flows provided by operating activities from discontinued operations................ 6 37 49
Net cash flows provided by 0perating aCtiVities ........cccovreeeririnienenieneeesssssse e 1,475 1,843 1,594
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, machinery and equipment, net ............ccccceoriniciiiinniseec 15 (909) (776) (538)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and assets held for sale, net ..........ccccceoveineinenene 4,141 341 122 628
Proceeds from the sale of emission allOWANCES...........c..covveiiieiiiicieccee e 2.19,7 - 600 -
Acquisition of intangible aSSEtS, NEL..........coii i e 16.1 (152) (192) (53)
Non-current assets and OtNEIS, NEL .........o.oiiiiiiiiee e (12) (10) 50
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations................ (731) (256) 87
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities from discontinued operations...... (1) 17 —
Net cash flows provided by (used in) iNVeSting aCtIVILIES ..........ccccceieiiirrrciiinneeeeee e (732) (273) 87
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from New debt INSTIUMENTS...........coovuiiiiiiie ettt e e e 17.1 2,006 3,960 4,210
DEDE FEPAYMENLS ...ttt ettt bbbttt b et 17.1 (2,420) (5,897) (4,572)
Issuance of SUDOIINALEd NOLES............cvvveviiiiiiii e 21.2 - 994 -
Other financial obligations, NEE ..o 17.2 (197) (288) (820)
Share repUrChASE PIOGIAM ........c.cvueverveereeseseeseeseeseeseeseesassessses s st s e seeseenes 211 (111) - (83)
Shares in trust for future deliveries under share-based compensation.............c.cccvvevrnennnee 22 (36) - -
Changes in non-controlling interests and repayment of perpetual debentures................c...... 21.4 (14) (447) (105)
Derivative financial INStIUMENTS .........ccoiiiiiiii e 17.4 34 (42) 12
Coupons on perpetual debentures and subordinated NOTES ...........cc.covevveveereereeeeereeeesieeeieeas 212,214 (51) (24) (24)
Non-current labIHTIES, NEL ........oi e (172) (109) (138)
Net cash flows used in fiNANCING ACTIVITIES ..........cccevuiieiucieieeiecieieeee st seenes (961) (1,852) (1,520)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations.................. (223) (302) 112
Increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations .............cc.ccoceveiienne 5 20 49
Foreign currency translation effect on €ash..........cc.ccoceveiiicciicsccc e 100 (55) 1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ...........cccccovviiiicnicicieccece e 613 950 788
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD ....coomviereeniereieneeinsesnssssssssneens 9 $ 495 613 950
Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes:
Trade FECRIVADIES. ......ccuiiiiiicic ettt b e be b en $ (208) (20) 25
Other accounts receivable and Other aSSELS .........ccceveiierieieiciie e (23) 94 (22)
INVENTOTIES ©.vvivvieieticte ettt sttt b et s b et et e s b e s e e b e s be st e sa e b e s b eseabesbesbesae b ensereas (464) (341) 24
Trade PAYADIES .....coveeieciee bbbt 290 290 20
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ........... 15 (166) 152
Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes $ (390) (143) 199

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(Millions of Dollars)

Other equity

Additional reserves and Total Non- Total
Common paid-in subordinated Retained controlling controlling  stockholders’
Notes stock capital notes earnings interest interest equity
Balance as of December 31, 2019 ........ccouiiriniieeieieiesrnee e 318 10,106 (2,724) 1,621 9,321 1,503 10,824
Net 10SS TOr the PEriod ..........coovveieiiiiiee e - - - (1,467) (1,467) 21 (1,446)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period..........c.c.covvevneenee. - - (146) - (146) (202) (348)
Total of other comprehensive income (loss) for the period ................ 21.2 - - (146) (1,467) (1,613) (181) (1,794)
Own shares purchased under shares repurchase program............c...cc..... 211 - (50) (33) - (83) - (83)
Restitution of retained earnings ..........ccoevrvveineienerensereseeeeseeens 21.3 - (2,481) - 2,481 - - -
Changes in non-controlling iNtErest..........cccvvrvreereieneerneeseeeee 21.4 - - 445 - 445 (445) -
Share-based COMPENSALION.........cccervriiiiireirene e 22 - - 29 - 29 - 29
Coupons paid on perpetual debentures ..........ccccveevreennerneieneneeens 21.4 - - (24) - (24) - (24)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ..........ccorreeininnieeeereesies s 318 7,575 (2,453) 2,635 8,075 877 8,952
Net income for the Period..........coeoieirciineee e - - - 753 753 25 778
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period.........c.c.ccovvereenee. - - (31) - (31) (11) (42)
Total of other comprehensive income (loss) for the period ................ 21.2 - - (32) 753 722 14 736
Own shares purchased under shares repurchase program............c..ccc.... 211 - (83) 83 - - - -
Issuance of subordinated NOTES ...........ccviiiereiineee e 212 - - 994 - 994 - 994
Changes in non-controlling interest and repayment of perpetual
debentures.........c.coocoveenne 214 - - - - - (447) (447)
Share-based compensation 22 - - 77 - 77 - 77
Coupons paid on perpetual debentures and subordinated notes.............. 21.2,21.4 - - (41) - (41) - (41)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 ...t 318 7,492 (1,371) 3,388 9,827 444 10,271
Net income for the Period...........ocoveeiiinniice e - - - 858 858 27 885
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period............cccoveireenee. - - (30) - (30) (63) (93)
Total of other comprehensive income (loss) for the period ................ 21.2 - - (30) 858 828 (36) 792
Own shares purchased under shares repurchase program..............cc....... 21.1 - - (111) - (111) - (111)
Shares in trust for future deliveries under share-based compensation .... 22 - - (36) - (36) - (36)
Changes in non-controlling iNterest............ccovvvvciiiiiinnnieecias 21.4 - - - - - - -
Share-based COMPENSALION..........ccccciviriiiiieci e 22 - - 47 - 47 - 47
Coupons paid on subordinated NOES ..........cceveveieieieieiiseeee e 21.2,21.4 - - (54) - (54) - (54)
Balance as of December 31, 2022.............cooeiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 318 7,492 (1,555) 4,246 10,501 408 10,909

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(Millions of U.S. Dollars)

1) DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., originated in 1906, is a publicly traded variable stock corporation (Sociedad Anénima Bursatil de Capital Variable) organized
under the laws of the United Mexican States, or Mexico, and is the parent company of entities whose main activities are oriented to the construction
industry, through the production, marketing, sale and distribution of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials and
services, including urbanization solutions. In addition, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. performs significant business and operational activities in Mexico.

The shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. are listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange (“MSE”) as Ordinary Participation Certificates (“CPOs”)
(Certificados de Participaciéon Ordinaria) under the symbol “CEMEXCPO”. Each CPO represents two series “A” shares and one series “B” share of
common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. In addition, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) as
American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) under the symbol “CX.” Each ADS represents ten CPOs.

The terms “CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.” and/or the “Parent Company” used in these accompanying notes to the financial statements refer to CEMEX,
S.A.B. de C.V. without its consolidated subsidiaries. The terms the “Company” or “CEMEX"” refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. together with its
consolidated subsidiaries.

The issuance of these consolidated financial statements was authorized by the Board of Directors of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. on February 9, 2023
considering the favorable recommendation of its Audit Committee. These financial statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual General
Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of the Parent Company on March 23, 2023.

2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1) BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, were prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“TASB”).

Presentation currency and definition of terms

The consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes are presented in Dollars of the United States of America (“United States”), except
when specific reference is made to a different currency. When reference is made to “Dollar,” “Dollars” or “$” it means Dollars of the United States.
All amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes are stated in millions, except when references are made to earnings per share
and/or prices per share. When reference is made to “PS” or “Pes0s”, it means Mexican Pesos. When reference is made to “€” or “Euros,” it means the
currency in circulation in a significant number of European Union (“EU”) countries. When reference is made to “£” or “Pounds”, it means British
Pounds sterling. Previously reported Dollar amounts of prior years are not restated unless the transactions in other currencies are still outstanding, in
which case those are restated using the closing exchange rates as of the reporting date. Amounts reported in Dollars should not be construed as
representations that such amounts represented those Dollars or could be converted into Dollars at the rate indicated.

Amounts disclosed in the notes in connection with outstanding tax and/or legal proceedings (notes 20.4 and 25), which are originated in jurisdictions
where currencies are different from the Dollar, are presented in Dollar equivalents as of the closing of the most recent year presented. Consequently,
without any change in the original currency, such Dollar amounts will fluctuate over time due to changes in exchange rates.

Discontinued operations (note 4.2)

Considering the disposal of entire reportable operating segments as well as the sale of significant businesses, CEMEX’s Statements of Operations
present in the single line item of “Discontinued operations,” net of income tax, the results of: a) Neoris N.V. (“Neoris”) operations for the period from
January 1 to October 25, 2022 and for the years 2021 and 2020; b) the operating segments in Costa Rica and El Salvador for the period from January
1 to August 31, 2022 and for the years 2021 and 2020; c) the white cement business sold in Spain for the period from January 1 to July 9, 2021 and for
the year 2020; d) France related to the assets sold in the Rhone Alpes region for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 and for the year 2020;
e) certain assets sold in the United Kingdom for the period from January 1 to August 3, 2020 and; f) the cement assets sold in the United States for the
period from January 1 to March 6, 2020.

Statements of operations

CEMEX includes the line item titled “Operating earnings before other expenses, net” considering that it is a subtotal relevant for the determination of
CEMEX’s “Operating EBITDA” (Operating earnings before other expenses, net plus depreciation and amortization) as described below in this note.
The line item “Other expenses, net” consists primarily of revenues and expenses not directly related to CEMEX’s main activities or which are of a non-
recurring nature, including impairment losses of long-lived assets, non-recurring sales of emission allowances (note 2.19), results on disposal of assets
and restructuring costs, among others (note 7). Under IFRS, the inclusion of certain subtotals such as “Operating earnings before other expenses, net” and
the display of the statement of operations vary significantly by industry and company according to specific needs.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(Millions of U.S. Dollars)

Basis of presentation and disclosure — continued

Considering that it is a relevant measure used by CEMEX’s management to review operating performance and for decision-making purposes, as well
as an indicator used by CEMEX’s creditors of its ability to internally fund capital expenditures and to measure its ability to service or incur debt under
its financing agreements, for purposes of notes 4.3 and 17, CEMEX presents “Operating EBITDA” (Operating earnings before other expenses, net plus
depreciation and amortization). Operating EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance, an alternative to cash flows or a measure of liquidity
under IFRS. Moreover, Operating EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.

Statements of cash flows
The statements of cash flows exclude the following transactions that did not represent sources or uses of cash:
Financing activities:

o In 2022, 2021 and 2020, the increases in other financing obligations in connection with lease contracts negotiated during the year for $296, $227 and
$213, respectively (note 17.2); and

Investing activities:

o In 2022, 2021 and 2020, in connection with the leases negotiated during the year, the increases in assets for the right-of-use related to lease contracts
for $296, $227 and $213, respectively (note 15.2).

Newly issued IFRS adopted in the reported periods

Beginning January 1, 2022, CEMEX adopted prospectively IFRS amendments that did not result in any material impact on its results or financial
position, and which are explained as follows:

Standard Main topic

Amendment to IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent  Clarifies that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
Liabilities and Contingent Assets — Onerous  contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that
Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract........ contract or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

Amendments to 1AS 16, Property, Plant and Clarifies the standard to prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
Equipment —Proceeds before Intended Use .... any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Annual improvements (2018-2020 cycle): IFRS The amendment permits a subsidiary to measure cumulative translation differences using the
1, First-time Adoption of IFRS — Subsidiary ~ amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRSs.
as a First-time Adopter .........cccoceveveiiiencennn

Annual improvements (2018-2020 cycle): IFRS The amendment clarifies which fees an entity includes when it applies the ‘10 per cent’ test in
9, Financial Instruments — Fees in the ‘10 per assessing whether to derecognize a financial liability. An entity includes only fees paid or received

cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity
LiabilitieS......ccoeiiiiicice e or the lender on the other’s behalf.

Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations Update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without
— Reference to the conceptual framework....... changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.

2.2) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include those of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and those of the entities over which the Parent Company exercises
control, including structured entities (special purpose entities), by means of which the Parent Company, directly or indirectly, is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee’s relevant
activities. Balances and operations between related parties are eliminated in consolidation.

Investments in associates when CEMEX has significant influence which is generally presumed with a minimum equity interest of 20%, and/or joint
ventures arrangements in which the Company and other third-party investors have joint control and have rights to the net assets of the arrangements,
are accounted for by the equity method. The equity method reflects the investee’s original cost and CEMEX’s share of the investee’s equity and
earnings after acquisition. During the reported periods, CEMEX did not have joint operations, referring to those cases in which the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights over specific assets and obligations for specific liabilities relating to the arrangements. The equity method
is discontinued when the carrying amount of the investment, including any long-term interest in the investee or joint venture, is reduced to zero, unless
CEMEX has incurred or guaranteed additional obligations of the investee or joint venture.



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(Millions of U.S. Dollars)

2.3) USE OF ESTIMATES AND CRITICAL ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. These assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis using available information. Actual results
could differ from these estimates. The items subject to significant estimates and assumptions by management include impairment tests of long-lived
assets, recognition of deferred income tax assets and uncertain tax positions, the measurement of financial instruments at fair value, the assets and
liabilities related to employee benefits, legal proceedings and provisions regarding assets retirements obligations and environmental liabilities.
Significant judgment is required by management to appropriately assess the amounts of these concepts.

2.4) CLIMATE CHANGE AND COMMITMENTS FOR THE REDUCTION OF CARBON DIOXIDE (“CO”) EMISSIONS (unaudited)

The cement industry releases CO2 as part of the production process, mainly during the calcination of limestone, as well as CO2 released through the
use of fossil fuels in the kilns. Currently, it is estimated that the whole cement industry releases between 5% to 7% of global CO2 emissions per year.
In CEMEX, from estimated 50 million tons of gross CO2 emissions per year, 60% are directly related to the production process (Scope 1), 20% are
indirect emissions from electricity consumption (Scope 2) and the remaining 20% arise from activities of supply and transportation (Scope 3).

CEMEX has an agenda of medium-term and long-term initiatives aiming at significantly reducing its CO2 emissions in order to align the Company’s
efforts with the Paris Agreement objectives of limiting global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. During 2022, CEMEX enhanced its goals
by redefining its medium-term and long-term targets, which are mainly: 1) a 35% reduction in CO2 emissions by 2025 and reaching a reduction greater
than 47% by 2030, compared to its 1990 baseline in Scope 1 emissions; 2) achieve a 58% reduction in Scope 2 emissions by 2030 compared to a 2020
baseline, which represents reaching a 65% clean electricity consumption; 3) achieve reductions by 2030 compared to a 2020 baseline, of 25% in CO2
emissions per ton of purchased clinker and cement, 30% in transport emissions, 40% of Scope 3 emissions per ton of purchased fuels and 42% in
absolute Scope 3 emissions from the use of traded fuels; and 4) reach net zero CO2 emissions across the company by 2050. CEMEX’s 2030 targets for
its cement business were verified by the Science-Based Targets initiative (“SBTi”) to be in line with the 1.5°C scenario. Also, CEMEX’s 2050 net-zero
roadmap was validated by SBTi. SBTi, the foremost entity on science-based climate action goals, drives ambitious climate action in the private sector
by enabling companies to set science-based emissions reductions targets.

To meet CEMEX’s 2030 targets, the objectives will have an impact that will range from -10% to +10% in the total cash payout of the annual executive
variable compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, the top senior management, and approximately 4,400 employees, eligible for executive variable
compensation. Moreover, CEMEX has detailed yearly CO2 roadmaps developed for each cement plant which include, among other factors: a) the
increasing use of alternative fuels and electricity from clean sources as well as combustion enhancers such as hydrogen, b) the increasing use of
decarbonated or lower carbon raw materials and cementitious materials to reduce the clinker factor, as well as, ¢) a roll-out of other proven CO:
reduction technologies and the investments required for their implementation.

Furthermore, to achieve the net-zero CO2 emissions target globally by 2050, CEMEX is working through an open innovation platform in which it
partners and collaborates with start-ups, universities, other industry players and entities from other industries to develop a robust research and
development portfolio of projects aimed at identifying the most promising technologies to capture, store and utilize CO2. These new technologies
shouldcontribute beyond 2030 to fully decarbonize CEMEX’s operations. To build this portfolio, CEMEX is tapping into and expects to continue to
tap government funding in Europe and the United States, where there are well established programs to foster innovation in the green technologies of
the future. CEMEX continues to pursue its strategy in the different markets where it operates.

As of the reporting date, there are no internal plans or commitments with local authorities to shut down operating assets due to climate change issues
or concerns. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s other expenses, net, in the statement of operations, include
expenses and losses associated with severe weather conditions of $1, $5 and less than $1, respectively, mainly related with hurricane lan in 2022,
storms in Texas in 2021 and Hurricanes Sally and Maria in 2020. The incremental cost is related to power and gas consumption costs and additional
parts replacement due to these events. As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX does not expect additional investments, expenses, or losses in connection
with these events of nature.

2.5) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency of each consolidated entity at the exchange rates prevailing on
the dates of their execution. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of each
consolidated entity at the exchange rates prevailing at the statement of financial position date, and the resulting foreign exchange fluctuations are
recognized in earnings, except for exchange fluctuations arising from: 1) foreign currency indebtedness associated with the acquisition of foreign
entities; and 2) fluctuations associated with related parties” balances denominated in foreign currency, whose settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future and as a result, such balances are of a permanent investment nature. These fluctuations are recorded against “Other
equity reserves”, as part of the foreign currency translation adjustment (note 21.2) until the disposal of the foreign net investment, at which time, the
accumulated amount is recognized through the statement of operations as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Foreign currency transactions and translation of foreign currency financial statements — continued

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, as determined using their respective functional currency, are translated to Dollars at the closing
exchange rate for the statement of financial position and at the closing exchange rates of each month within the period for the statements of operations.
The functional currency is that in which each consolidated entity primarily generates and expends cash. The corresponding translation effect is included
within “Other equity reserves” and is presented in the statement of other comprehensive income for the period as part of the foreign currency translation
adjustment (note 21.2) until the disposal of the net investment in the foreign subsidiary.

Considering its integrated activities, for purposes of functional currency, the Parent Company is considered to have two divisions, one related with its
financial and holding company activities, in which the functional currency is the Dollar for all assets, liabilities and transactions associated with these
activities, and another division related with the Parent Company’s operating activities in Mexico, in which the functional currency is the Peso for all
assets, liabilities and transactions associated with these activities.

The most significant closing exchange rates for the statement of financial position and the approximate average exchange rates (as determined using
the closing exchange rates of each month within the period) for the statements of operations in respect to CEMEX’s main functional currencies to the
Dollar as of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, were as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Currency Closing Average Closing Average Closing Average
PESO . 19.5000 20.0274 20.5000 20.4266 19.8900 21.5766
BUFD o 0.9344 0.9522 0.8789 0.8467 0.8183 0.8736
British Pound Sterling 0.8266 0.8139 0.7395 0.7262 0.7313 0.7758
Colombian Peso.............. 4,810 4,277 3,981 3,783 3,433 3,730

2.6) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (note 9)

The balance in this caption is comprised of available amounts of cash and cash equivalents, mainly represented by highly liquid short-term investments,
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, and which are not subject to significant risks of changes in their values, including overnight
investments, which yield fixed returns and have maturities of less than three months from the investment date. These fixed-income investments are
recorded at cost plus accrued interest. Accrued interest is included in the income statement as part of “Financial income and other items, net.”

When applicable, the amount of cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position includes restricted cash and investments to the extent
that any restriction will be lifted in less than three months from the reporting date, comprised of deposits in margin accounts that guarantee certain
obligations, except when contracts contain provisions for net settlement, in which case, these restricted amounts of cash and cash equivalents are offset
against the liabilities that CEMEX has with its counterparties. When the restriction period is greater than three months, any restricted balance of cash
and investments is not considered cash equivalents and is included within short-term or long-term “Other accounts receivable,” as appropriate.

2.7) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Classification and measurement of financial instruments

Financial assets are classified as “Held to collect” and measured at amortized cost when they meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss: a) are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and b) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. Amortized cost represents the Net Present Value (“NPV”) of the consideration receivable or payable as of the transaction date. This
classification of financial assets comprises the following captions:

e Cash and cash equivalents (notes 2.6 and 9).

e Trade receivables, other current accounts receivable and other current assets (notes 10 and 11). Due to their short-term nature, CEMEX initially
recognizes these assets at the original invoiced or transaction amount less expected credit losses, as explained below.

e Trade receivables sold under securitization programs, in which certain residual interest in the trade receivables sold in case of recovery failure and
continued involvement in such assets is maintained, do not qualify for derecognition and are maintained in the statement of financial position (notes
10 and 17.2).

e Investments and non-current accounts receivable (note 14.2). Subsequent changes in effects from amortized cost are recognized in the income
statement as part of “Financial income and other items, net”.

Certain strategic investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income within “Other equity reserves” (note 14.2). CEMEX does
not maintain financial assets “Held to collect and sell” whose business model has the objective of collecting contractual cash flows and then selling
those financial assets.
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Classification and measurement of financial instruments — continued

The financial assets that are not classified as “Held to collect” or that do not have strategic characteristics fall into the residual category of held at fair
value through the income statement as part of “Financial income and other items, net” (note 14.2).

Debt instruments and other financial obligations are classified as “Loans” and measured at amortized cost (notes 17.1 and 17.2). Interest accrued on
financial instruments is recognized within “Other accounts payable and accrued expenses” against financial expense. During the reported periods,
CEMEX did not have financial liabilities voluntarily recognized at fair value or associated with fair value hedge strategies with derivative financial
instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognized as assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position at their estimated fair values, and the changes
in such fair values are recognized in the income statement within “Financial income and other items, net” for the period in which they occur, except in
the case of hedging instruments as described below (note 17.4).

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment losses of financial assets, including trade accounts receivable, are recognized using the Expected Credit Loss model (“ECL”) for the entire
lifetime of such financial assets on initial recognition, and at each subsequent reporting period, even in the absence of a credit event or if a loss has not
yet been incurred, considering for their measurement past events and current conditions, as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts affecting
collectability. For purposes of the ECL model of trade accounts receivable, CEMEX segments its accounts receivable in a matrix by country, type of
client or homogeneous credit risk and days past due and determines for each segment an average rate of ECL, considering actual credit loss experience
generally over the last 12 months and analyses of future delinquency, that is applied to the balance of the accounts receivable. The average ECL rate
increases in each segment of days past due until the rate is 100% for the segment of 365 days or more past due.

Costs incurred in the issuance of debt or borrowings

Direct costs incurred in debt issuances or borrowings, as well as debt refinancing or non-substantial modifications to debt agreements that did not
represent an extinguishment of debt by considering that the holders and the relevant economic terms of the new instrument are not substantially different
to the replaced instrument, adjust the carrying amount of the related debt and are amortized as interest expense as part of the effective interest rate of
each instrument over its maturity. These costs include commissions and professional fees. Costs incurred in the extinguishment of debt, as well as debt
refinancing or modifications to debt agreements, when the new instrument is substantially different from the old instrument according to a qualitative
and quantitative analysis, are recognized in the income statement as incurred.

Leases (notes 2.9, 15 and 17.2)

At the inception of a contract, CEMEX assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains a lease, if at inception of the
contract, it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration, based on IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”).
Pursuant to IFRS 16, leases are recognized as financial liabilities against assets for the right-of-use, measured at their commencement date as the NPV
of the future contractual fixed payments, using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, CEMEX’s incremental
borrowing rate. CEMEX determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from its external financing sources and makes certain
adjustments to reflect the term of the lease, the type of the asset leased and the economic environment in which the asset is leased.

CEMEX does not separate the non-lease component from the lease component included in the same contract. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability comprise contractual rental fixed payments, less incentives, fixed payments of non-lease components and the value
of a purchase option, to the extent that option is highly probable to be exercised or is considered a bargain purchase option. Interest incurred under the
financial obligations related to lease contracts is recognized as part of the “Interest expense” line item in the income statement.

At commencement date or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, CEMEX allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component based on their relative stand-alone prices. CEMEX applies the recognition exception for lease terms of 12 months or less and contracts
of low-value assets and recognizes the lease payment of these leases as rental expense in the income statement over the lease term. CEMEX defined
the lease contracts related to office and computer equipment as low-value assets.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method as payments are incurred and is remeasured when: a) there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, b) if there is a change in the amount expected to be payable under a residual
guarantee, c) if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option, or d) if there is a revised
in-substance fixed lease payment. When the lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the asset for the right-of-use
or is recognized within “Financial income and other items, net” if such asset has been reduced to zero.

Hedging instruments (note 17.4)

A hedging relationship is established to the extent the entity considers, based on the analysis of the overall characteristics of the hedging and hedged
items, that the hedge will be highly effective in the future and the hedge relationship at inception is aligned with the entity’s reported risk management
strategy (note 17.5). The accounting categories of hedging instruments are: a) cash flow hedge; b) fair value hedge of an asset or forecasted transaction;
and c) hedge of a net investment in a subsidiary.
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Hedging instruments — continued

In cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivative instruments are recognized in stockholders’ equity within other equity
reserves and are reclassified to earnings as the interest expense of the related debt is accrued, in the case of interest rate swaps, or when the underlying
products are consumed in the case of contracts on the price of raw materials and commaodities. In hedges of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries,
changes in fair value are recognized in stockholders’ equity as part of the foreign currency translation result within “Other equity reserves” (note 2.5),
whose reversal to earnings would take place upon disposal of the foreign investment. During the reported periods, CEMEX did not have derivatives
designated as fair value hedges. Derivative instruments are negotiated with institutions with significant financial capacity; therefore, CEMEX believes
the risk of non-performance of the obligations agreed to by such counterparties to be minimal.

Embedded derivative financial instruments

CEMEX reviews its contracts to identify the existence of embedded derivatives. Identified embedded derivatives are analyzed to determine if they need
to be separated from the host contract and recognized in the statement of financial position as assets or liabilities, applying the same valuation rules
used for other derivative instruments.

Put options granted for the purchase of non-controlling interests

Under IFRS 9, represent agreements by means of which a non-controlling interest has the right to sell, at a future date using a predefined price formula
or at fair market value, its shares in a consolidated subsidiary. When the obligation should be settled in cash or through the delivery of another financial
asset, an entity should recognize a liability for the NPV of the redemption amount as of the reporting date against the controlling interest within
stockholders’ equity. A liability is not recognized under these agreements when the redemption amount is determined at fair market value at the exercise
date and the entity has the election to settle using its own shares. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX did not have written put options.

Fair value measurements (note 17.3)

Under IFRS, fair value represents an “Exit Value” which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, considering the counterparty’s credit risk in the valuation. The concept of Exit Value
is premised on the existence of a market and market participants for the specific asset or liability. When there are no market and/or market participants
willing to make a market, IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

e Level 1.- represent quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that CEMEX can access at the measurement date.
A quoted price in an active market provides the most reliable evidence of fair value and is used without adjustment to measure fair value whenever
available.

e Level 2.- are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and are used
mainly to determine the fair value of securities, investments or loans that are not actively traded. Level 2 inputs included equity prices, certain
interest rates and yield curves, implied volatility and credit spreads, among others, as well as inputs extrapolated from other observable inputs. In
the absence of Level 1 inputs, CEMEX determined fair values by iteration of the applicable Level 2 inputs, the number of securities and/or the
other relevant terms of the contract, as applicable.

e Level 3.- inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. CEMEX used unobservable inputs to determine fair values, to the extent there are
no Level 1 or Level 2 inputs, in valuation models such as Black-Scholes, binomial, discounted cash flows or multiples of Operating EBITDA,
including risk assumptions consistent with what market participants would use to arrive at fair value.

2.8) INVENTORIES (note 12)

Inventories are valued using the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on weighted average cost formula and includes
expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location
and condition. CEMEX analyzes its inventory balances to determine if, because of internal events, such as physical damage, or external events, such
as technological changes or market conditions, certain portions of such balances have become obsolete or impaired. When an impairment situation
arises, the inventory balance is adjusted to its net realizable value. In such cases, these adjustments are recognized against the results of the period.
Advances to suppliers of inventory are presented as part of other current assets.

2.9) PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS FOR THE RIGHT-OF-USE (note 15)

Property, machinery and equipmentare recognized at their acquisition or construction cost, as applicable, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation of fixed assets is recognized as part of cost and operating expenses (notes 5 and 6) and is calculated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for mineral reserves, which are depleted using the units-of-production method.
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Property, machinery and equipment and assets for the right-of-use — continued

As of December 31, 2022, the average useful lives by category of fixed assets, which are reviewed at each reporting date, were as follows:

Years
AMINISTIALIVE DUIIAINGS ...c.veiveiiecte ettt e st e et e s be et e s te e besbeesbesbeesbeshs e beeteeabeeheeabesteesbeeheebeebeesbeaasebestsesbesaeebesbeenbeanes 27
a0 [UTS (T LN o LU T o oo OSSPSR 24
Machinery and eqUIPMENT IN PIANT ........ooiiiiie ettt et et et e e e aeeteebeetesbe s e e e e seebeebeebesb e ee e emseseeseabeebeseessenseseanearentens 16
Ready-miX truCKS and MOLOE VENICIES ..ottt sttt sttt ettt e b et et e e st e aeeb e ebe et e eb e be e en e eseebeabeebesbesteneereanearentens 8
OFfice eQUIPMENT ANG OLNEE SSELS ......eiueieiiieiti ittt ettt ettt e st et et et e et e e be e e e eb et e e es e e st eR e eEeeae s beee e s b e s e eme e b e ebeebesb e e et eneereenenrees 6

As of December 31, 2022, to the best of its knowledge, management considers that its commitments and actions in relation to climate change will not
affect the estimated average useful lives of its property, machinery and equipment described above (note 2.4).

Assets for the right-of-use related to leases are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted by any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle, remove or restore the
underlying asset, less any lease incentives received. The asset for the right-of-use is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to CEMEX by the end of the lease term
or if the cost of the asset for the right-of-use reflects that CEMEX will exercise a purchase option. In that case the asset for the right-of-use would be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, assets for the right-of-
use may be reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

CEMEX capitalizes, as part of the related cost of fixed assets, interest expense from existing debt during the construction or installation period of
significant fixed assets, considering CEMEX’s corporate average interest rate and the average balance of investments in process for the period.

All waste removal costs or stripping costs incurred in the operative phase of a surface mine to access the mineral reserves are recognized as part of its
carrying amount. The capitalized amounts are further amortized over the expected useful life of exposed ore body based on the units-of-production
method.

Costs incurred in respect of operating fixed assets that result in future economic benefits, such as an extension in their useful lives, an increase in their
production capacity or in safety, as well as those costs incurred to mitigate or prevent environmental damage, are capitalized as part of the carrying
amount of the related assets. The capitalized costs are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of such fixed assets. Periodic maintenance of fixed
assets is expensed as incurred. Advances to suppliers of fixed assets are presented as part of other long-term accounts receivable.

2.10) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS, GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (notes 4.1 and 16)

Business combinations are recognized using the acquisition method, by allocating the consideration transferred to assume control of the entity to all
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired are identified and
recognized at fair value. Any unallocated portion of the purchase price represents goodwill, which is not amortized and is subject to periodic impairment
tests (note 2.11). Goodwill may be adjusted for any change to the preliminary assessment given to the assets acquired and/or liabilities assumed within
the twelve-month period after purchase. Costs associated with the acquisition are expensed in the income statement as incurred.

CEMEX capitalizes intangible assets acquired and costs incurred in the development of intangible assets when probable future economic benefits are
identified and there is evidence of control over such benefits. Intangible assets are recognized at their acquisition or development cost, as applicable.
Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized since the period in which the benefits associated with such intangibles will terminate cannot be
accurately established. Definite life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis or using the units-of-production method, as applicable, as
part of operating costs and expenses (notes 5 and 6).

Startup costs are recognized in the income statement as they are incurred. Costs associated with research and development activities (“R&D”),
performed by CEMEX to create products and services, as well as to develop processes, equipment and methods to optimize operational efficiency and
reduce costs are recognized in the operating results as incurred. Direct costs incurred in the development stage of computer software for internal use
are capitalized and amortized through the operating results over the useful life of the software, which on average is approximately 5 years.

Costs incurred in exploration activities such as payments for rights to explore, topographical and geological studies, as well as trenching, among other
items incurred to assess the technical and commercial feasibility of extracting a mineral resource, which are not significant to CEMEX, are capitalized
when probable future economic benefits associated with such activities are identified. When extraction begins, these costs are amortized during the
useful life of the quarry based on the estimated tons of material to be extracted. When future economic benefits are not achieved, any capitalized costs
are subject to impairment.

CEMEX’s extraction rights have weighted-average useful lives of 83 years, depending on the sector and the expected life of the related reserves. As of

December 31, 2022, except for extraction rights which are amortized using the units-of-production method and/or as otherwise indicated, CEMEX’s
intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives that range on average from 3 to 20 years.

12



CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(Millions of U.S. Dollars)

2.11) IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS (notes 15 and 16)
Property, machinery and equipment, assets for the right-of-use, intangible assets of definite life and other investments

These assets are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of internal or external indicators of impairment, such as changes in CEMEX’s operating
business model or in technology that affect the asset, or expectations of lower operating results, to determine whether their carrying amounts may not
be recovered. An impairment loss is recorded in the income statement for the period within “Other expenses, net,” for the excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its recoverable amount, corresponding to the higher of the fair value less costs to sell the asset, as generally determined by an external
appraiser, and the asset’s value in use, the latter represented by the NPV of estimated cash flows related to the use and eventual disposal of the asset.
The main assumptions utilized to develop estimates of NPV are a discount rate that reflects the risk of the cash flows associated with the assets and the
estimations of generation of future income. Those assumptions are evaluated for reasonableness by comparing such discount rates to available market
information and by comparing to third-party expectations of industry growth, such as governmental agencies or industry chambers.

When impairment indicators exist, for each intangible asset, CEMEX determines its projected revenue streams over the estimated useful life of the
asset. To obtain discounted cash flows attributable to each intangible asset, such revenue is adjusted for operating expenses, changes in working capital
and other expenditures, as applicable, and discounted to NPV using the risk adjusted discount rate of return. The most significant economic assumptions
are: a) the useful life of the asset; b) the risk adjusted discount rate of return; c) royalty rates; and d) growth rates. Assumptions used for these cash
flows are consistent with internal forecasts and industry practices. The fair values of these assets are significantly sensitive to changes in such relevant
assumptions. Certain key assumptions are more subjective than others. In respect of trademarks, CEMEX considers that the most subjective key
assumption is the royalty rate. In respect of extraction rights and customer relationships, the most subjective assumptions are revenue growth rates and
estimated useful lives. CEMEX validates its assumptions through benchmarking with industry practices and the corroboration of third-party valuation
advisors. Significant judgment by management is required to appropriately assess the fair values and values in use of the related assets, as well as to
determine the appropriate valuation method and select the significant economic assumptions.

Goodwill is tested for impairment when required upon the occurrence of internal or external indicators of impairment or at least once a year, during
the last quarter of such year. CEMEX determines the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill balances
were allocated, which consists of the higher of such group of CGUs fair value less cost to sell and its value in use, the latter represented by the NPV of
estimated future cash flows to be generated by such CGUs to which goodwill was allocated, which are determined over periods of 5 years. If the value
in use of a group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is lower than its corresponding carrying amount, CEMEX determines the fair value of
such group of CGUs using methodologies generally accepted in the market to determine the value of entities, such as multiples of Operating EBITDA
and by reference to other market transactions. An impairment loss is recognized within “Other expenses, net”, if the recoverable amount is lower than
the net book value of the group of CGUs. Impairment charges recognized on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

The reportable segments reported by CEMEX (note 4.3), represent CEMEX’s groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated for purposes of
testing goodwill for impairment, considering: a) that after the acquisition, goodwill was allocated at the level of the reportable segment; b) that the
operating components that comprise the reported segment have similar economic characteristics; c) that the reported segments are used by CEMEX to
organize and evaluate its activities in its internal information system; d) the homogeneous nature of the items produced and traded in each operative
component, which are all used by the construction industry; e) the vertical integration in the value chain of the products comprising each component;
f) the type of clients, which are substantially similar in all components; g) the operative integration among components; and h) that the compensation
system of a specific country is based on the consolidated results of the geographic segment and not on the particular results of the components. In
addition, the country level represents the lowest level within CEMEX at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment tests are significantly sensitive to the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development of operating expenses, local and
international economic trends in the construction industry, the long-term growth expectations in the different markets, as well as the discount rates and
the growth rates in perpetuity applied. For purposes of estimating future prices, CEMEX uses, to the extent available, historical data; plus the expected
increase or decrease according to information issued by trusted external sources, such as national construction or cement producer chambers and/or in
governmental economic expectations. Operating expenses are normally measured as a constant proportion of revenues, following experience. However,
such operating expenses are also reviewed considering external information sources in respect of inputs that behave according to international prices,
such as oil and gas. CEMEX uses specific pre-tax discount rates for each group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated, which are applied to discount
pre-tax cash flows. The amounts of estimated undiscounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth rate in perpetuity applied. The higher
the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the higher the amount of undiscounted future cash flows by group of CGUs obtained. Moreover, the amounts of
discounted estimated future cash flows are significantly sensitive to the weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) applied. The higher the discount
rate applied, the lower the amount of discounted estimated future cash flows by group of CGUs obtained.

2.12) PROVISIONS

CEMEX recognizes provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation resulting from past events, whose resolution would require cash outflows,
or the delivery of other resources owned by the Company. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, some significant proceedings that gave rise to a portion
of the carrying amount of CEMEXs other current and non-current liabilities and provisions are detailed in note 25.1.

Considering guidance under IFRS, CEMEX recognizes provisions for levies imposed by governments when the obligating event or the activity that
triggers the payment of the levy has occurred, as defined in the legislation.
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Restructuring

CEMEX recognizes provisions for restructuring when the restructuring detailed plans have been properly finalized and authorized by management
and have been communicated to the third parties involved and/or affected by the restructuring prior to the statement of financial position’s date.
These provisions may include costs not associated with CEMEX’s ongoing activities.

Asset retirement obligations (note 18)

Unavoidable obligations, legal or constructive, to restore operating sites upon retirement of long-lived assets at the end of their useful lives are
measured at the NPV of estimated future cash flows to be incurred in the restoration process and are initially recognized against the related
assets’ book value. The increase to the assets’ book value is depreciated during its remaining useful life. The increase in the liability related to
adjustments to NPV by the passage of time is charged to the line item “Financial income and other items, net.” Adjustments to the liability for
changes in estimations are recognized against fixed assets, and depreciation is modified prospectively. These obligations are related mainly to
future costs of demolition, cleaning and reforestation, so that quarries, maritime terminals and other production sites are left in acceptable conditions
at the end of their operation.

Costs related to remediation of the environment (notes 18 and 25)

Provisions associated with environmental damage represent the estimated future cost of remediation, which are recognized at their nominal value when
the time schedule for the disbursement is not clear, or when the economic effect for the passage of time is not significant; otherwise, such provisions are
recognized at their discounted values. Reimbursements from insurance companies are recognized as assets only when their recovery is practically
certain. In that case, such reimbursement assets are not offset against the provision for remediation costs.

Contingencies and commitments (notes 24 and 25)

Obligations or losses related to contingencies are recognized as liabilities in the statement of financial position only when present obligations
exist resulting from past events that are probable to result in an outflow of resources and the amount can be measured reliably. Otherwise, a qualitative
disclosure is included in the notes to the financial statements. The effects of long-term commitments established with third parties, such as supply
contracts with suppliers or customers, are recognized in the financial statements on an incurred or accrued basis, after taking into consideration the
substance of the agreements. Relevant commitments are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The Company recognizes contingent
revenues, income or assets only when their realization is virtually certain.

2.13) PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (note 19)
Defined contribution pension plans

The costs of defined contribution pension plans are recognized in the operating results as they are incurred. Liabilities arising from such plans are
settled through cash transfers to the employees’ retirement accounts, without generating future obligations.

Defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits

The costs associated with employees’ benefits for defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits, generally comprised of health
care benefits, life insurance and seniority premiums, granted by CEMEX and/or pursuant to applicable law, are recognized as services are rendered by
the employees based on actuarial estimations of the benefits’ present value considering the advice of external actuaries. For certain pension plans,
CEMEX has created irrevocable trust funds to cover future benefit payments (“plan assets”). These plan assets are valued at their estimated fair value
at the statement of financial position date. The actuarial assumptions and accounting policy consider: a) the use of nominal rates; b) a single rate is used
for the determination of the expected return on plan assets and the discount of the benefits obligation to present value; c) a net interest is recognized on
the net defined benefit liability (liability minus plan assets); and d) all actuarial gains and losses for the period, related to differences between the
projected and real actuarial assumptions at the end of the period, as well as the difference between the expected and real return on plan assets, are
recognized as part of “Other items of comprehensive income, net” within stockholders’ equity.

The service cost, corresponding to the increase in the obligation for additional benefits earned by employees during the period, is recognized within
operating costs and expenses. The net interest cost, resulting from the increase in obligations for changes in NPV and the change during the period in
the estimated fair value of plan assets, is recognized within “Financial income and other items, net.”

The effects from modifications to the pension plans that affect the cost of past services are recognized within operating costs and expenses over the
period in which such modifications become effective to the employees or without delay if changes are effective immediately. Likewise, the effects
from curtailments and/or settlements of obligations occurring during the period, associated with events that significantly reduce the cost of future
services and/or significantly reduce the population subject to pension benefits, respectively, are recognized within operating costs and expenses.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits, not associated with a restructuring event, which mainly represent severance payments by law, are recognized in the operating
results for the period in which they are incurred.
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2.14) INCOME TAXES (note 20)

The effects reflected in the income statement for income taxes include the amounts incurred during the period and the amounts of deferred income
taxes, determined according to the income tax law applicable to each subsidiary, reflecting uncertainty in income tax treatments, if any. Consolidated
deferred income taxes represent the addition of the amounts determined in each subsidiary by applying the enacted statutory income tax rate or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period to the total temporary differences resulting from comparing the book and taxable values of
assets and liabilities, considering tax assets such as loss carryforwards and other recoverable taxes, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they can be utilized. The measurement of deferred income taxes at the reporting period reflects the tax
consequences that follow the way in which CEMEX expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes
for the period represent the difference between balances of deferred income taxes at the beginning and the end of the period. Deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relating to different tax jurisdictions are not offset. According to IFRS, all items charged or credited directly in stockholders’ equity or
as part of other comprehensive income or loss for the period are recognized net of their current and deferred income tax effects. The effect of a change
in enacted statutory tax rates is recognized in the period in which the change is officially enacted.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are derecognized when it is not deemed probable that the related tax benefit will be realized,
considering the aggregate amount of self-determined tax loss carryforwards that CEMEX believes will not be rejected by the tax authorities based on
available evidence and the likelihood of recovering them prior to their expiration through an analysis of estimated future taxable income. If it is probable
that the tax authorities would reject a self-determined deferred tax asset, CEMEX would derecognized such asset. When it is considered that a deferred tax
asset will not be recovered before its expiration, CEMEX would not recognize such deferred tax asset. Both situations would result in additional income
tax expense for the period in which such determination is made. To determine whether it is probable that deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered,
CEMEX takes into consideration all available positive and negative evidence, including factors such as market conditions, industry analysis, expansion
plans, projected taxable income, carryforward periods, current tax structure, potential changes or adjustments in tax structure, tax planning strategies,
future reversals of existing temporary differences. Likewise, CEMEX analyzes its actual results versus the Company’s estimates, and adjusts, as
necessary, its tax asset valuations. If actual results vary from CEMEX’s estimates, the deferred tax asset and/or valuations may be affected, and
necessary adjustments will be made based on relevant information in CEMEX’s income statement for such period.

The income tax effects from an uncertain tax position are recognized when it is probable that the position will be sustained based on its technical merits
and assuming that the tax authorities will examine each position and have full knowledge of all relevant information. For each position is considered
individually its probability, regardless of its relation to any other broader tax settlement. The probability threshold represents a positive assertion by
management that CEMEX is entitled to the economic benefits of a tax position. If a tax position is considered not probable of being sustained, no
benefits of the position are recognized. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded as part of the income tax in the
consolidated statements of operations.

The effective income tax rate is determined dividing the line item “Income tax” by the line item “Earnings before income tax.” This effective tax rate
is further reconciled to CEMEX’s statutory tax rate applicable in Mexico (note 20.3). A significant effect in CEMEX’s effective tax rate and
consequently in the reconciliation of CEMEXs effective tax rate, relates to the difference between the statutory income tax rate in Mexico of 30%
against the applicable income tax rates of each country where CEMEX operates.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the statutory tax rates in CEMEX’s main operations were as follows:

Country 2022 2021 2020
IMIBXICO ... s 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%
UNIEEA STALES.....e.veviereisicesi e 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
United KINGAOM ...ttt 19.0% 19.0% 19.0%
FRANCE ..ot 25.8% 28.4% 32.0%
GBIMNANY ..ttt ettt b et b e b e b e st e bt e b e e e b e eneenneenes 28.2% 28.2% 28.2%
SPIN 1.t 25.0% 25.0% 25.0%
PRITIPPINES ... 25.0% 25.0% 30.0%
ISTART .. 23.0% 23.0% 23.0%
COIOMDIA ... 35.0% 31.0% 32.0%
ONEIS < 5.5% — 30.0% 5.5% — 30.0% 9.0% — 30.0%

CEMEX’s current and deferred income tax amounts included in the income statement for the period are highly variable, and are subject, among other
factors, to taxable income determined in each jurisdiction in which CEMEX operates. Such amounts of taxable income depend on factors such as sale
volumes and prices, costs and expenses, exchange rate fluctuations and interest on debt, among others, as well as to the estimated tax assets at the end
of the period due to the expected future generation of taxable gains in each jurisdiction.
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2.15) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock and additional paid-in capital (note 21.1)

These items represent the value of stockholders’ contributions and include the recognition of executive compensation programs in CEMEX, S.A.B. de
C.V.’s CPOs as well as decreases associated with the restitution of retained earnings.

Other equity reserves and subordinated notes (note 21.2)

Groups the cumulative effects of items and transactions that are, temporarily or permanently, recognized directly to stockholders’ equity, and includes
the comprehensive income (loss), which reflects certain changes in stockholders’ equity that do not result from investments by owners and distributions
to owners.

Beginning in June 2021, this line item includes the balance of subordinated notes with no fixed maturity issued by the Parent Company. Considering
that the Parent Company’s subordinated notes have no fixed maturity date, there is no contractual obligation for the Parent Company to deliver cash or
any other financial assets, the payment of principal and interest may be deferred indefinitely at the sole discretion of CEMEX and specific redemption
events, are fully under the Parent Company’s control, under applicable IFRS, these subordinated notes issued by the Parent Company qualify as equity
instruments and are classified within controlling interest stockholders’ equity.

The most significant items within “Other equity reserves and subordinated notes” during the reported periods are as follows:
Items of “Other equity reserves and subordinated notes” included within other comprehensive income (loss):

o Currency translation effects from the translation of foreign subsidiaries, net of: a) exchange results from foreign currency debt directly related to the
acquisition of foreign subsidiaries; and b) exchange results from foreign currency related parties’ balances that are of a non-current investment class
(note 2.5);

o The effective portion of the valuation and liquidation effects from derivative financial instruments under cash flow hedging relationships, which are
recorded temporarily in stockholders’ equity (note 2.7);

o Changes in fair value of other investments in strategic securities (note 2.7); and

o Current and deferred income taxes during the period arising from items whose effects are directly recognized in stockholders’ equity.

Items of “Other equity reserves and subordinated notes” not included in comprehensive income (10ss):

o Effects related to controlling stockholders’ equity for changes or transactions affecting non-controlling interest stockholders in CEMEX’s
consolidated subsidiaries;

o Effects attributable to controlling stockholders’ equity for financial instruments issued by consolidated subsidiaries that qualify for accounting
purposes as equity instruments, such as the interest expense paid on perpetual debentures;

o The balance of subordinated notes with no fixed maturity and any interest accrued thereof; and
o The cancellation of the Parent Company’s shares held by consolidated entities.
Retained earnings (note 21.3)

Retained earnings represent the cumulative net results of prior years, net of: a) dividends declared; b) capitalization of retained earnings; c) restitution
of retained earnings when applicable; and d) cumulative effects from adoption of new IFRS.

Non-controlling interest and perpetual debentures (note 21.4)

This caption includes the share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries. This caption also includes the
nominal amounts of financial instruments (perpetual debentures) issued by consolidated entities that qualify as equity instruments considering that
there is: a) no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset; b) no predefined maturity date; and c) a unilateral option to defer interest
payments or preferred dividends for indeterminate periods. In June 2021, CEMEX redeemed all its perpetual debentures.

2.16) REVENUE RECOGNITION (note 3)

Revenue is recognized at a point in time or over time in the amount of the price, before tax on sales, expected to be received for goods and services
supplied because of ordinary activities, as contractual performance obligations are fulfilled, and control of goods and services passes to the customer.
Revenues are decreased by any trade discounts or volume rebates granted to customers. Transactions between related parties are eliminated in
consolidation. Variable consideration is recognized when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized
for the contract will not occur and is measured using the expected value or the most likely amount method, whichever is expected to better predict the
amount based on the terms and conditions of the contract.
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Revenue recognition (note 3) — continued

Revenue and costs from trading activities, in which CEMEX acquires finished goods from a third party and subsequently sells the goods to another
third-party, are recognized on a gross basis, considering that CEMEX assumes ownership risks on the goods purchased, not acting as agent or broker.

When revenue is earned over time as contractual performance obligations are satisfied, which is the case of construction contracts, CEMEX applies the
stage of completion method to measure revenue, which represents: a) the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the
estimated total contract costs; b) the surveys of work performed; or c) the physical proportion of the contract work completed; whichever better reflects
the percentage of completion under the specific circumstances. Revenue related to such construction contracts is recognized in the period in which the
work is performed by reference to the contract’s stage of completion at the end of the period, considering that the following have been defined: a) each
party’s enforceable rights regarding the asset under construction; b) the consideration to be exchanged; ¢) the manner and terms of settlement; d) actual
costs incurred and contract costs required to complete the asset are effectively controlled; and e) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the contract will flow to the entity.

Progress payments and advances received from customers do not reflect the work performed and are recognized as short-term or long-term advanced
payments, as appropriate.

2.17) COST OF SALES AND OPERATING EXPENSES (notes 5 and 6)

Cost of sales represents the production cost of inventories at the moment of sale. Such cost of sales includes depreciation, amortization and depletion
of assets involved in production, expenses related to storage in production plants and freight expenses of raw material in plants and delivery expenses
of CEMEX’s ready-mix concrete business.

Administrative expenses represent the expenses associated with personnel, services and equipment, including depreciation and amortization, related to
managerial activities and back office for the Company’s management.

Sales expenses represent the expenses associated with personnel, services and equipment, including depreciation and amortization, involved specifically
in sales activities.

Distribution and logistics expenses refer to expenses of storage at points of sales, including depreciation and amortization, as well as freight expenses
of finished products between plants and points of sale and freight expenses between points of sales and the customers’ facilities.

2.18) EXECUTIVE SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (note 22)

Share-based payments to executives are defined as equity instruments when services received from employees are settled by delivering shares of the
Parent Company and/or a subsidiary; or as liability instruments when CEMEX commits to make cash payments to the executives upon exercise of the
awards based on changes in the Parent Company and/or the subsidiary’s stock (intrinsic value). The cost of equity instruments represents their estimated
fair value at the date of grant and is recognized in the operating results during the periods in which the exercise rights are vested. Liability instruments
are valued at their estimated fair value at each reporting date, recognizing the changes in fair value through the operating results.

2.19) ALLOWANCES RELATED TO EMISSIONS OF CO2

According to the Paris Agreement objectives (note 2.4), in certain countries where CEMEX operates, such as the EU countries and the United Kingdom,
among others, mechanisms aimed at reducing carbon dioxide emissions have been established, such as the EU’s Emissions Trading System (“EU
ETS”), by means of which, the relevant environmental authorities grant annually certain number of emission rights (“Allowances”) so far free of cost
to the entities releasing CO.. Entities in turn must submit to such environmental authorities at the end of the compliance period, Allowances for a
volume equivalent to the tons of COz released. Companies must buy additional Allowances to meet deficits between actual CO2 emissions during the
compliance period and Allowances received. Entities may also dispose of any surplus of Allowances in the market. In general, failure to meet the
emissions caps is subject to significant monetary penalties. The trend is that Allowances received free of cost will be reduced over time so that entities
are compelled to act and gradually reduce the aggregate volume of emissions.

As of December 31, 2022, according to management estimates (unaudited), CEMEX held excess Allowances received for no consideration in prior
years sufficient to allow the Company offsetting CO: costs in the EU and the United Kingdom operations until 2026. Moreover, the increasing use of
decarbonated or lower carbon raw materials, although far more expensive than traditional raw materials, among other strategies to reduce CO2 emissions
such as the use of alternative fuels and decarbonated or lower carbon cementitious materials, may allow CEMEX, according to internal estimates, to
extend its consolidated surplus of Allowances beyond 2026.

CEMEX accounts for the effects associated with CO2 emission reduction mechanisms as follows:
o Certificates received through government grants for no consideration paid are recognized at zero cost in the statement of financial position.
o Revenues received from the sale of excess Allowances are recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which they occur.

o Allowances that would be acquired to hedge exceeding CO2 emissions would be recognized as intangible assets at cost and would be further
amortized to cost of sales during the compliance period.
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Allowances related to emissions of CO— continued

o CEMEX would accrue a provision at market value against cost of sales when current emissions of CO2 would exceed the number of emission rights
on hand and the required additional Allowances would not be yet acquired in the market.

e Inaddition, in certain countries, the environmental authorities impose levies per ton of CO2 or other greenhouse gases released. Such expenses are
recognized as part of cost of sales as incurred.

2.20) CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT

CEMEX sells its products primarily to distributors in the construction industry, with no specific geographic concentration within the countries in which
CEMEX operates. As of and for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, no single customer individually accounted for a significant
amount of the reported amounts of sales or in the balances of trade receivables. In addition, there is no significant concentration of a specific supplier
relating to the purchase of raw materials.

2.21) NEWLY ISSUED IFRS NOT YET ADOPTED
There are several amendments or new IFRS issued but not yet effective which are under analysis and the Company’s management expects to adopt in

their specific effective dates considering preliminarily without any significant effect in the Company’s financial position or operating results, and which
are summarized as follows:

Standard Main topic Effective date
Amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Clarify the recognition of gains or losses in the Parent’s financial statements for the Has yet to be set
financial statements and IAS 28............ sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture

. January 1, 2023
Amendments to 1AS 1, Presentation of

Financial Statements- Classification of ~ Clarifies the requirements to be applied in classifying liabilities as current and non-
Liabilities as Current or Non-current...... current.

Amendments to 1AS 8,Definition of The amendment makes a distinction between how an entity should present and January 1, 2023
Accounting Estimates ............cccceeerennene disclose different types of accounting changes in its financial statements. Changes in
accounting policies must be applied retrospectively while changes in accounting
estimates are accounted for prospectively.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice ~ The amendment requires entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather  January 1, 2023
Statement 2,Disclosure of Accounting than their significant accounting policies. To support this amendment the Board has
POlICIES ..o also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of
the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements to accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to 1AS 12, Income Taxes — January 1, 2023
Deferred Tax related to Assets and The amendment clarifies that companies should account for deferred tax assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single liabilities on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. CEMEX
Transaction ........cccveveeevenerieieece e has always applied these criteria.

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts.................. The new Standard establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, January 1, 2023

presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4, Insurance
contracts. The Standard outlines a General Model, which is modified for insurance
contracts with direct participation features, described as the Variable Fee Approach.
The General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the liability
for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation Approach.

Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease  The amendments mentioned that on initial recognition, the seller-lessee would include  January 1, 2024
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback .......... variable payments when it measures a lease liability arising from a sale-and-leaseback
transaction. In addition, the amendments established that the seller-lessee could not
recognize gains or losses relating to the right of use it retains after initial recognition.
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3) REVENUES

CEMEX’s revenues are mainly originated from the sale and distribution of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials
and services, including urbanization solutions. CEMEX grants credit for terms ranging from 15 to 90 days depending on the type and risk of each
customer. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, revenue is as follows:

2022 2021 2020
From the sale of goods associated to CEMEX’s main activities s $ 15,137 14,009 12,344
From the sale of other goods and SEIVICES 2 ..........ccceveverriieiecrcrererereris s 440 370 325
$ 15,577 14,379 12,669

1 Include in each period immaterial amounts of revenue generated under construction contracts.

2 Refers mainly to revenues generated by subsidiaries not individually significant operating in different lines of business.

Information of revenues by reportable segment and line of business for the years 2022, 2021 and 2020 is presented in note 4.3

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts receivable for progress billings to and advances received from customers of construction contracts were
not significant. Moreover, for the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, revenues and costs related to construction contracts in progress were not material.

Certain promotions and/or discounts and rebates offered as part of the sale transaction, result in a portion of the transaction price should be allocated
to such commercial incentives as separate performance obligations, recognized as contract liabilities with customers, and deferred to the income
statement during the period in which the incentive is exercised by the customer or until it expires. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and
2020 changes in the balance of contract liabilities with customers are as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Opening balance of contract liabilities with CUSTOMErS ...........cccovveiiiiriceccec e $ 257 201 225
Increase during the period for new transactions............c.cccceeveeveeenenne. 1,493 1,626 1,536
Decrease during the period for exercise or expiration of incentives........... (1,458) (1,574) (1,561)
Currency translation EffECES ........ceiiiieiiiiieii e 1 4 1
Closing balance of contract liabilities with CUSTOMErS..........ccoveiiieiiiiiccece e $ 293 257 201

For the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX did not identify any significant costs required to be capitalized as contract fulfilment assets and released
over the contract life according to IFRS 15, Revenues from contracts with customers.

4) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT
AND LINE OF BUSINESS

4.1) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On July 11, 2022, through a subsidiary in Germany, CEMEX completed the acquisition of a 53% stake in the German aggregates company ProStein
for a total consideration of $21. The investment expands CEMEX’s aggregates business in the region and CEMEX estimates increases the life of
aggregates reserves for CEMEX’s operations in Central Europe for at least the next 25 years. The majority stake in ProStein’s assets adds a full range
of fine and hard aggregates to CEMEX’s aggregates portfolio. In addition to supplying the greater Berlin area, the additional capacity can supply
several urban centers in Poland and the Czech Republic. ProStein’s assets include six active hardstone plants and six construction, demolition, and
excavation waste (CDEW) recovery sites. As of December 31, 2022, based on the preliminary valuation of the fair values of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, CEMEX has not determined any goodwill.

On December 10, 2021, through a subsidiary in Mexico, CEMEX acquired Broquers Ambiental, a sustainable waste management company for a total
consideration of $13. Broquers Ambiental assets include a plant for solid waste treatment for its use as alternate fuel. During 2022, considering the
valuation of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CEMEX determined goodwill of $4.

In January 2021, a subsidiary of CEMEX in Israel acquired two ready-mix concrete plants from Kinneret and Beton-He'Emek for an amount in shekels
equivalent to $6. As of December 31, 2021, based on the preliminary valuation of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CEMEX
determined goodwill of $5.

During the first 6 months of 2020, a subsidiary of CEMEX in Israel acquired a ready-mix concrete products business from Ashtrom Industries for an

amount in shekels equivalent to $33. After the conclusion of the purchase price allocation to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
of this business, CEMEX determined goodwill of $2.
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4.2) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On October 25, 2022, to accelerate the growth and development of Neoris, its subsidiary in the digital solutions sector, CEMEX closed a partnership
with Advent International (“Advent”). As part of the partnership CEMEX sold to Advent a 65% stake in Neoris for a total cash consideration of $119.
While surrendering control to Advent, CEMEX retains an approximate 35% stake and remains as a key strategic partner and customer of Neoris.
CEMEX s retained an approximate 35% in Neoris was remeasured at fair value at the date of loss of control, is subsequently accounted for under the
equity method and is presented in the line item “Investments in associates and joint ventures. Neoris’ results for the period from January 1 to October
25, 2022 and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are reported in the statements of operations, net of income tax, in the single line item
“Discontinued operations,” including in 2022 a gain on sale of $117, net of the reclassification of foreign currency translation effects accrued in equity
until the date of loss of control. In connection with this transaction, CEMEX, as borrower, entered into short-terms loan agreements with certain
subsidiaries of Neoris to support Neoris with working capital requirements while the ownership transition took place. These loan were in market terms
and conditions and were for amounts that are not material to CEMEX but material to Neoris.

On August 31, 2022, through subsidiaries in Colombia and Spain, CEMEX concluded the sale with affiliates of Cementos Progreso Holdings, S.L. of
its entire operations in Costa Rica and El Salvador for a total cash consideration of $325, related to CEMEX’s aggregate controlling interest. The assets
sold consisted of one cement plant, one grinding station, seven ready-mix plants, one aggregates quarry, as well as one distribution center in Costa Rica
and one distribution center in El Salvador. As of December 31, 2021 the assets and liabilities associated with the operations in Costa Rica and El
Salvador were presented in the statement of financial position within the line items of “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities directly related to assets
held for sale”, as correspond. CEMEX’s results of these operations for the period from January 1 to August 31, 2022 and for the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020 are reported in the statements of operations, net of income tax, in the single line item “Discontinued operations,” including in 2022
a gain on sale of $240 which includes the reclassification of foreign currency translation effects accrued in equity until the disposal date.

On July 9, 2021, CEMEX closed the sale to Cimsa Cimento Sanayi Ve Ticaret A.S., of its white cement business, except for Mexico and the United
States, for a total cash consideration of $155, including its Bufiol cement plant in Spain and its white cement customer list. CEMEX’s operations of
these assets in Spain for the period from January 1 to July 9, 2021 and for the year ended December 31, 2020 are reported in the statements of operations,
net of income tax, in the single line item “Discontinued operations,” including in 2021 a loss on sale of $67 net of the proportional allocation of goodwill
of $41.

On March 31, 2021, CEMEX closed the sale to LafargeHolcim of 24 concrete plants and one aggregates quarry located in the Rhone Alpes region in
the Southeast of France for a total cash consideration of $44. CEMEXs operations of these assets in France for the three-month period ended on March
31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 are reported in the statements of operations, net of income tax, in the single line item “Discontinued
operations.”

On August 3, 2020, through a subsidiary in the United Kingdom, CEMEX concluded the sale to Breedon Group plc of certain assets for a total cash
consideration in Pounds equivalent to $230, including $30 of debt. The assets sold consisted of 49 ready-mix plants, 28 aggregate quarries, four depots,
one cement terminal, 14 asphalt plants, four concrete products operations, as well as a portion of CEMEX’s paving solutions business in the United
Kingdom. CEMEXs operations of these assets in the United Kingdom for the period from January 1 to August 3, 2020, including in 2020 a loss on
sale of $57 net of the proportional allocation of goodwill of $47 are reported in the statements of operations, net of tax, in the single line item
“Discontinued operations.”

On March 6, 2020, CEMEX concluded the sale to Eagle Materials Inc. of its U.S. subsidiary Kosmos Cement Company (“Kosmos™), a partnership
with a subsidiary of Buzzi Unicem S.p.A. in which CEMEX held a 75% interest, for a total cash consideration of $665, of which the proceeds to
CEMEX were $499. The assets sold consisted of Kosmos’ cement plant in Louisville, Kentucky, as well as related assets which include seven
distribution terminals and raw material reserves. CEMEXs operations of these assets in the United States for the period from January 1 to March 6,
2020, including in 2020 a gain on sale of $14 net of the proportional allocation of goodwill of $291 are reported in the statements of operations, net of
income tax, in the single line item “Discontinued operations.”

The following table presents condensed combined information of the statement of financial position for the assets held for sale in 2021 related to the operating
segments in Costa Rica and El Salvador, as mentioned above:

2021
CUITENE ASSELS ...veveetevitesteteeteeteeteeteetesteeeseeteebeebestesessesseseeseetesbesaessessessebsebeebesee st essessessebeeaeebenbe s essenseseebeebesbesbessensessansebesbestessentans $ 29
INONI=CUITENT @SSEES ... tvevveetiestteetee st estee e teesteeateessaeeeeessseeaseeaseeesseeassaeaseeesteeass e e s eeesseeaseeanseeasseenteeeneeeseeenteenreeanseenneeensennneaenneeannn 48
TOtAl @SSELS NEIA FOI SAIE.......eviiiiii ettt bbbt s bbbt s s bbb bbbt s s bbbt bbb bbb bbbt 77
CUITENT LHADIIITIES. ...ttt et e s b e s te e s beehe e b e e re e beehe e beeae e beehe e besbeebeehe e beebsebesabenbesbeesbesaeebesreenreas 31
INON=CUITENT HTADITITIES .....veiviiii ettt e e te e b e s te e be e bt e sbeessesbeeaeesbeesbesbeenbesbeesbesbeensesbeessesbeenbesreesrents 8
Total liabilities directly related t0 asSets NEIA fOr SAIE ........ccviriririririeesee ettt 39
QO] Eo I To s ET=Y ol A= [0 IS 0T Y- L= $ 38
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Discontinued operations — continued

In addition, the following table presents condensed combined information of the statements of operations of CEMEX’s discontinued operations
previously mentioned related to: a) Neoris operations for the period from January 1 to October 25, 2022 and for years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020; b) Costa Rica and El Salvador for the period from January 1 to August 31, 2022 and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020; ¢) Spain
related to the white cement business for the period from January 1 to July 9, 2021 and for the year ended December 31, 2020; d) France related to the
Rhone Alpes region for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020; e) the United Kingdom for the period
from January 1 to August 3, 2020 and; f) the United States related to Kosmos assets for the period from January 1 to March 6, 2020.

2022 2021 2020
REVEINUES ...ttt $ 256 354 490
Cost of sales and operating expenses .... (225) (304) (434)
Other income (expenses), net................ (8) (42) (21)
Financial expenses, net and Others ... e — 5 2
Earnings DEfore iNCOME TAX ..........cc.ceuiuiueieiiieieisee ettt sans 23 13 37
Income tax (3) (48) (92)
Result of diSCONtINUEd OPEFAtiONS ..........cevivveieeieiieiereieissiesie et ss s 20 (35) (55)
NEt dISPOSAI FESUIL ..ottt 304 4 (45)
Net result of diSCONtINUEd OPETALIONS ............ccvucviivireieisses et $ 324 (39) (100)

43) SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT AND LINE OF BUSINESS

Reportable segments represent the components of CEMEX that engage in business activities from which CEMEX may earn revenues and incur
expenses, whose operating results are reviewed by the entity’s top management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and
assess their performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. CEMEX operates by geography and business on a regional basis.
For the reported periods, CEMEX’s operations were organized in four regions, each under the supervision of a regional president, as follows: 1) Mexico,
2) United States, 3) Europe, Middle East, Africa and Asia (“EMEAA”) and 4) South, Central America and the Caribbean (“SCA&C”). The accounting
policies applied to determine the financial information by reportable segment are consistent with those described in note 2.

Considering similar regional and economic characteristics and/or materiality, certain countries have been aggregated and presented as single line items
as follows: a) “Rest of EMEAA” refers to CEMEX’s operations in the Czech Republic, Croatia, Egypt and the United Arab Emirates; b) “Rest of
SCA&C” refers to CEMEX’s operations in Puerto Rico, Nicaragua, Jamaica, the Caribbean and Guatemala, excluding the operations of Trinidad
Cement Limited (“TCL”); and c) “Caribbean TCL” refers to the operations of TCL and subsidiaries in Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica, Guyana and
Barbados. The segment “Others” refers to: 1) cement trade maritime operations, 2) the Parent Company, other corporate entities and finance
subsidiaries, and 3) other minor subsidiaries with different lines of business. For the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, for purposes of the selected financial
information by reportable segment and line of business, the operations of Neoris, formerly part of the segment “Others,”, are presented as discontinued
operations. The financial information for the years 2021 and 2020 previously reported was reformulated to consider this new presentation.

Selected information of the consolidated statements of operations by reportable segment for the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, excluding the share of
profits of equity accounted investees by reportable segment that is included in the note 14.1, was as follows:

Revenues Less: Operating

(including Less: Depreciation earnings Other Other

intragroup  Intragroup Operating and before other  expenses, Financial financing

2022 transactions) transactions Revenues EBITDA amortization expenses, net net expense items, net

MEXICO ...evvreereereereierinas $ 3,842 (200) 3,642 1,133 172 961 (69) (28) 32
United States ...........cocceveenne 5,038 4) 5,034 762 455 307 (205) (55) (21)
EMEAA
United Kingdom ................. 982 - 982 195 60 135 (8) (8) (8)
France ........ccc..... 781 - 781 63 50 13 1 (10) 2
Germany ... 485 (46) 439 40 28 12 2 ) ®3)
Poland.......... 419 4) 415 64 22 42 1 ) 4
Spain .......... 382 (36) 346 6 28 (22) (113) ) 2
Philippines®.... 379 - 379 84 37 47 (2) 18 9)
Israel ....ccovvernee 840 - 840 112 46 66 5 4) -
Rest of EMEAA .......ccooeeene 707 1) 706 116 55 61 (10) 4) 2
SCA&C
ColombiaZ.....c..cccovevveinrennnnes 429 - 429 61 24 37 12 @) 22
PanamaZ...... 149 (34) 115 28 16 12 2 - -
Caribbean TCL °........ 302 (8) 294 74 17 57 (19) (4) 1)
Dominican Republic . 348 (6) 342 133 8 125 1) (1) ®3)
Rest of SCA&C?....... 394 1) 393 90 13 77 2 ) 3)
Others .....ccoovvvivicriciins 2,849 (2,409) 440 (280) 89 (369) (57) (290) 31
Continuing operations........ 18,326 (2,749) 15,577 2,681 1,120 1,561 (467) (401) 47
Discontinued operations .... 256 - 256 39 8 31 (8) 4 4
Total ..o $ 18,582 (2,749) 15,833 2,720 1,128 1,592 (475) (405) 51
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Selected financial information by reportable segment and line of business — continued

Revenues Less: Operating

(including Less: Depreciation earnings Other Other

intragroup  Intragroup Operating and before other  expenses, Financial financing

2021 transactions) transactions Revenues EBITDA amortization expenses, net net expense items, net

MEXICO ... $ 3,466 (142) 3,324 1,164 161 1,003 (43) (29) 2
United States .........c.cocceoveenne 4,359 4) 4,355 778 464 314 (127) (47) (19)
EMEAA
United Kingdom ................. 940 - 940 141 69 72 3) (8) 17)
France 863 - 863 93 50 43 (6) (11) -
Germany .......cccooveeerreernennnns 472 (43) 429 69 28 41 - ) )
Poland........ccooeuvereevinieininins 405 (6) 399 73 25 48 (4) ) 1
Spain ....... 359 (25) 334 6) 33 (39) (331) 3) 51
Philippines 424 - 424 114 40 74 (1) 17 )
[T L] 785 - 785 114 45 69 (1) (4) 2
Rest of EMEAA .......ccoovnne 618 (5) 613 87 56 31 (110) 3) 1
SCA&C
ColombiaZ......c.ccccoveneiniennenee 437 - 437 87 26 61 (19) 7) (12)
PanamaZ®........... 121 (23) 98 31 16 15 ) - -
Caribbean TCL °..... 280 @) 273 65 19 46 ) (6) (6)
Dominican Republic .. 299 (8) 291 128 7 121 3 - Q)
Rest of SCA&C?.......ccouene. 465 (21) 444 110 13 97 (5) ) ®3)
Others ......ccovevneenieninnns 1,621 (1,251) 370 (209) 68 277) 568 (551) (74)
Continuing operations........ 15,914 (1,535) 14,379 2,839 1,120 1,719 (82) (658) (79)
Discontinued operations ... 354 — 354 66 16 50 (42) (5) 10
Total ..o $ 16,268 (1,535) 14,733 2,905 1,136 1,769 (124) (663) (69)

Revenues Less: Operating

(including Less: Depreciation earnings Other Other

intragroup  Intragroup Operating and before other  expenses, Financial financing

2020 transactions) transactions Revenues EBITDA amortization expenses, net net expense items, net

MEXICO ..oevvreerererereierennas $ 2,812 (134) 2,678 931 148 783 (46) (31) 4)
United States 3,994 (1) 3,993 747 440 307 (1,350) (53) (20)
EMEAA
United Kingdom ................. 739 - 739 88 67 21 (73) 9 77)
France .....ccooeovveenieninnnns 754 - 754 71 48 23 (1) (12) 3
Germany ......cccceeeevererenveenens 489 (37) 452 67 28 39 ?3) 2 3)
Poland....... 377 (7) 370 74 25 49 (1) 2 1
Spain ....... 319 (16) 303 25 39 (14) (195) 3) 9)
Philippines®. 398 - 398 118 46 72 () 2 2
Israel ....ccovvernee 754 - 754 115 28 87 - 4) 1
Rest of EMEAA .......ccooeeene 582 9) 573 75 56 19 (26) 3) (22)
SCA&C
ColombiaZ......ccccccovenrinienienee 404 - 404 86 25 61 (14) (5) (13)
Panama®........... 80 7) 73 12 16 4) (19) 1) 1
Caribbean TCL ®..... 251 (@) 244 65 22 43 9) 6) 8
Dominican Republic ............ 229 (11) 218 84 8 76 (5) (€))] 4
Rest of SCA&C?......ccocnnenee 393 (3) 390 100 15 85 (38) 2 7
Others 796 (470) 326 (261) 94 (355) 18 (641) 22
Continuing operations........ 13,371 (702) 12,669 2,397 1,105 1,292 (1,763) (773) (115)
Discontinued operations .... 505 (15) 490 76 20 56 (21) (4) 6
Total ..o $ 13,876 (717) 13,159 2,473 1,125 1,348 (1,784) (777) (109)

1 CEMEX’s operations in the Philippines are mainly conducted through CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. (“CHP”), a Philippine company whose shares trade on
the Philippines Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is a non-controlling interest in CHP of 22.10% and 22.16%, respectively, of its ordinary
shares (note 21.4).

2 CEMEZX Latam Holdings, S.A. (“CLH”), a company incorporated in Spain, trades its ordinary shares on the Colombian Stock Exchange. CLH is the indirect holding
company of CEMEX’s operations in Colombia, Panama, Guatemala and Nicaragua, and until August 31, 2022, of the operations in Costa Rica and El Salvador. At
year end 2022 and 2021, there is a non-controlling interest in CLH of 4.70% and 7.74%, respectively, of its ordinary shares, excluding shares held in CLH’s treasury
(note 21.4).

3 The shares of TCL trade on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is a non-controlling interest in TCL of 30.17% of
its ordinary shares in both years (note 21.4).
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Debt by reportable segment is disclosed in note 17.1. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, selected statement of financial position information by
reportable segment was as follows:

Other
Associates and segment Total Total Net assets Additions to
2022 joint ventures assets assets liabilities by segment fixed assets *

MEXICO ...t $ - 3,846 3,846 1,381 2,465 265
United STAteS .......coveeeeiieieiesc e 198 12,425 12,623 2,642 9,981 551
EMEAA
United Kingdom .......ccooveiiniiiiieneieseeeeeee e 5 1,388 1,393 921 472 74
France ..o 42 910 952 471 481 57

3 449 452 255 197 33

- 341 341 119 222 33
SPAIN oo - 616 616 204 412 27
Philippines - 792 792 155 637 72
ISFABI .o - 771 771 495 276 37
Rest Of EMEAA ... 10 773 783 303 480 55
SCA&C
ColoMDIA ... - 742 742 274 468 45
PaNama ........cooiiiiii e - 302 302 88 214 19
Caribbean TCL .....cccciviiiiicee e - 499 499 218 281 16
Dominican Republic ........ccccoovveiiiineiccee - 232 232 81 151 18
ReSt Of SCALC ......ooviiiieieeeee e - 268 268 104 164 20
Others ....cccovvvveeeee. TP 382 1,385 1,767 7,827 (6,060) 40
TOAL 640 25,739 26,379 15,538 10,841 1,362
Assets held for sale and related liabilities (note 13)........ - 68 68 - 68 -
Total consolidated ... $ 640 25,807 26,447 15,538 10,909 1,362

Other
Associates and segment Total Total Net assets Additions to
2021 joint ventures assets assets liabilities by segment fixed assets *

MEXICO vttt $ - 3,785 3,785 1,513 2,272 190
UNited SEAtES ..cvevvvereieeirieeree e 159 12,651 12,810 2,707 10,103 373
EMEAA
United Kingdom ..ot 6 1,585 1,591 1,220 371 94
FIanCe ..ooeeeiieeeee e 41 952 993 476 517 44
GEIMANY ..ottt 3 398 401 287 114 29
POIANG......ooiiiee e 1 321 322 126 196 29
SPAIN ot e - 704 704 240 464 34
PhilIPPINES ...voveiviiiieieee e - 777 777 153 624 89
ISTAEL v - 776 776 526 250 45
Rest Of EMEAA ... 9 798 807 287 520 66
SCA&C
COolOMDIA .. - 962 962 477 485 27
Panama - 282 282 88 194 9
Caribbean TCL .....ccociviiieeee e - 498 498 219 279 22
Dominican Republic ..........ccooviiiiiiiicceec - 192 192 87 105 15
ReSt OF SCAKC ..o - 262 262 173 89 15
Others .....cccceeenenn.. e 316 1,031 1,347 7,761 (6,414) 13
TOtAl oo 535 25,974 26,509 16,340 10,169 1,094
Assets held for sale and related liabilities (note 13)........ - 141 141 39 102 5
Total coNSONAAtEd .........cevvvveerrierereeeeeree e $ 535 26,115 26,650 16,379 10,271 1,099

1 In 2022 and 2021, the column “Additions to fixed assets” includes capital expenditures, which comprises acquisitions of property, machinery and equipment as well
as additions of assets for the right-of-use, for combined amounts of $1,362 and $1,099, respectively (note 15).
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Revenues by line of business and reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Urbanization
2022 Cement Concrete Aggregates solutions Others Eliminations  Revenues

MEXICO .ooicecici s $ 2,663 925 261 843 14 (1,064) 3,642
United Sates ..........ccevoveveieiccece e 2,017 2,871 1,202 697 12 (1,765) 5,034
EMEAA

United Kingdom ..........cccooeiiiiiccc, 312 329 371 206 27 (263) 982
France ..o, - 622 332 15 - (188) 781
GEIMANY ..o 220 186 81 32 71 (151) 439
Poland............... 282 160 41 4 1 (73) 415
Spain ................ 281 99 34 25 - (93) 346
Philippines 378 - - 4 - 3) 379
ISFABI ..o - 718 213 97 21 (209) 840
Rest Of EMEAA ... 504 260 48 18 26 (150) 706
SCA&C

Colombia ......c.ooeic 296 137 40 62 19 (125) 429
PanNama ........cccoeueviiiiiiic 119 27 7 13 2 (53) 115
Caribbean TCL .....ooocvie e 297 4 6 2 5 (20) 204
Dominican Republic ..o 285 20 — 46 10 (19) 342
Rest Of SCA&C ......covvvviieiiiccccees 360 16 3 22 1 (9) 393
OhBIS oo - - - - 2,851 (2,411) 440
Continuing OPErations............coooierrvvviemsiissseesssiis, 8,014 6,374 2,639 2,086 3,060 (6,596) 15,577
Discontinued OPerations ... 113 18 4 3 174 (56) 256
TOAl i $ 8,127 6,392 2,643 2,089 3,234 (6,652) 15,833

Urbanization
2021 Cement Concrete  Aggregates solutions Others Eliminations  Revenues

MEXICO it $ 2,412 733 208 810 14 (853) 3,324
United STates .....vcveiieieceee e 1,731 2,479 1,005 558 13 (1,431) 4,355
EMEAA

United Kingdom ........ccoiiiiiiiieeeesceese e 270 311 377 200 53 (271) 940
France - 682 397 6 - (222) 863
GEIMANY .ottt 210 204 65 30 69 (149) 429
POIANG.....c.ociiiciecec e 272 154 38 6 1 (72) 399
Spain 256 93 31 23 - (69) 334
PhilIpPINES ....oveiiceeee e 423 - - 4 1 4) 424
ISFAEL v - 657 199 89 27 (187) 785
Rest Of EMEAA ..o 423 232 47 14 21 (124) 613
SCA&C

ColOMDIA ..eieiiiee s 309 130 36 58 21 (117) 437
PANAMA ... 103 16 5 7 1 (34) 98
Caribbean TCL .....cccovviviiveie e 271 5 7 4 6 (20) 273
Dominican Republic ........c.ccceveveviciciiiieie e 240 16 - 44 8 @an 291
Rest Of SCAEC ..o 400 20 6 24 1 ©) 444
Others ..., — — — — 1,619 (1,249) 370
ContinUING OPErations.........ccceeiriririeieieereere e 7,320 5,732 2,421 1,877 1,855 (4,826) 14,379
Discontinued OPerations ..........cooeeeenieininsenenessesieeenens 156 23 7 3 174 (9) 354
TOTAl covvvevrveeeeeeeees e s $ 7,476 5,755 2,428 1,880 2,029 (4,835) 14,733
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Information related to revenue by line of business and reportable segment — continued

Urbanization
2020 Cement Concrete  Aggregates solutions Others Eliminations  Revenues
MEXICO vttt $ 2,001 628 172 590 14 (727) 2,678
UNited SEALES ....vevvveeeveiieeice e 1,599 2,255 954 468 13 (1,296) 3,993
EMEAA
United Kingdom ........ccccoviiinieieieicece e 201 274 314 176 53 (279) 739
FranCe ...ovoeeecececee e - 647 340 - - (233) 754
Germany .......... 210 202 69 31 69 (129) 452
Poland............... 244 142 39 6 1 (62) 370
Spain .......cce..... 233 83 24 18 - (55) 303
Philippines 398 - - 2 1 ?3) 398
Israel ..ccooevvveiinee - 623 195 81 27 172) 754
Rest 0f EMEAA ..o 400 220 42 11 21 (121) 573
SCA&C
Colombia ..voveieieicce 294 119 34 44 21 (108) 404
PaNAMA ...t 67 14 4 4 1 a7 73
Caribbean TCL ....coccvrieiecec s 245 5 7 2 6 (22) 244
Dominican Republic 185 15 5 31 8 (26) 218
Rest of SCA&C.............. 359 3 6 19 1 2 390
OIS ..o — - — - 803 (477) 326
CoNtinuUINgG OPEratioNS. ...........c.vverveeveerersisessssssssesssesseons 6,436 5,230 2,205 1,483 1,038 (3,724) 12,669
Discontinued operations ... 167 920 77 3 201 (47) 490
TOLAl oo $ 6,603 5,320 2,282 1,486 1,239 (3,771) 13,159
5) COST OF SALES
The detail of consolidated cost of sales by nature for the years 2022, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
2022 2021 2020
Raw materials and 0o0ds fOr reSAlE ..........ccuvicviiiiiiic e $ 4,916 4,875 4,108
Payroll 1,474 1,349 1,254
Electricity, fuels and Other SEIVICES ........ccviiiiiiriiie ettt 1,655 1,174 1,052
Depreciation and amOrtiZatioN..........c.covviiieieiireie et sre e sre e 929 934 914
Maintenance, repairs and supplies.... 809 722 648
Transportation COStS..........cceeveennnns 671 573 352
Other production costs.... 969 982 929
Change iN INVENLOTY .....cc.oiuiiiiiiiiceee ettt sttt s be bbb seebeebesbesresbesbeean (668) (866) (671)
$ 10,755 9.743 8,586
6)  OPERATING EXPENSES
Consolidated operating expenses during 2022, 2021 and 2020 by function are as follows:
2022 2021 2020

AdMINISrAtive BXPENSES 12 ... ..ottt bbb $ 1,074 958 1,049
SEIIING BXPENSES 2 ...ttt bbb bbbttt bbb s et ae bbb 363 322 329

Total administrative and SEHING EXPENSES .......cciiereriirieieercre e 1,437 1,280 1,378
Distribution and 10giStICS EXPENSES .......eeveruerueieieiertisiesiesee et ettt e e e see e seesee e eneene 1,824 1,637 1,413

Total OPErating EXPENSES ....c.cvveverrerieiresirreesr ettt r e en e $ 3,261 2,917 2,791

1 All significant R&D activities are executed by several internal areas of CEMEX as part of their daily activities. In 2022, 2021 and 2020, total combined expenses of
these departments recognized within administrative expenses were $42, $44 and $39, respectively.

2 In 2022, 2021 and 2020, administrative expenses include depreciation and amortization of $140, $137 and $141, respectively, and selling expenses include
depreciation and amortization of $51 in 2022, $49 in 2021 and $50 in 2020.
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Operating expenses — continued

Consolidated operating expenses during 2022, 2021 and 2020 by nature are as follows:

2022 2021 2020
TrANSPOITATION COSES....eiviviitiieieriee ittt ettt ettt e et b et st e b et eseeteabesresaesae s ene $ 1,676 1,502 1,313
PAYTOI 1.ttt bbbttt ns 1,038 905 935
Depreciation and amortization.............cccoeiiiieiieieiece e 191 186 191
Professional legal, accounting and adviSOry SEIVICES .........ccoveriieirieeneirieieesieeseee e 145 144 174
Maintenance, repairs and SUPPIIES ........oveiiiiriiiiieere s 84 76 72
Other OPEratiNg EXPENSES. ....c.evetiriiieiirieterietei ettt sttt b ettt b ettt b et nae bbb et e s e 127 104 106
$ 3,261 2,917 2,791
7)  OTHER EXPENSES, NET
The detail of the line item “Other expenses, net” for the years 2022, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
2022 2021 2020
Impairment losses (notes 15.1, 16.1 and 16.2)..........cccccvevriririiciiiiiisssccee s $ (442) (513) (1,520)
Results from the sale of assets and OthErS L ..o 9 (126) (114)
Incremental costs and expenses related to the COVID-19 Pandemic 2 (14) (26) (48)
RESLIUCIUNING COSES 3....uvivivivitiieie et (20) a7 (81)
Sale of CO2 Allowances (note 2.19) 4 — 600 —
$ (467) (82) (1,763)

1 In 2022, 2021 and 2020, includes $14, $29 and $11, respectively, in connection with property damages and natural disasters (note 25.1). In addition, in 2022 includes
a gain of $48 as a result of the remeasurement at fair value of CEMEX’s previous controlling interest in Neoris at the time of sale.

2 Refers to certain incremental costs and expenses related to the compliance of the hygiene measures and other negative effects of the Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2
pandemic declared in March 2020 (the “COVID-19 Pandemic”). From the beginning of the COVID-19 Pandemic and attending official dispositions of the authorities
in the countries in which CEMEX operates, the Company implemented strict hygiene, sanitary and security protocols in all its operations and modified its
manufacturing, selling and distribution processes to implement physical distancing, aiming to protect the health and safety of its employees and their families,
customers and communities.

3 Restructuring costs mainly refer to severance payments and the definite closing of operating sites.

4 In connection with the CO, Allowances under the EU ETS, during March 2021, considering CEMEX’s targets for the reduction of CO, emissions (note 2.4), as well
as the innovative technologies and considerable capital investments that have to be deployed to achieve such goals, CEMEX sold 12.3 million Allowances in several
transactions for an aggregate amount of $600. The Company had accrued such Allowances as of the end of Phase Il under the EU ETS, which finalized on December
31, 2020.

8) FINANCIAL ITEMS
8.1) FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Consolidated financial expense in 2022, 2021 and 2020 includes $67, $67 and $74 of interest expense from financial obligations related to lease
contracts (notes 15.2 and 17.2).

8.2) FINANCIAL INCOME AND OTHER ITEMS, NET

The detail of financial income and other items, net in 2022, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

2022 2021 2020

Effects of amortized cost on assets and liabilities and others, net ...........cc.cccvveriinennn $ (32) (28) (89)
Net interest cost of pension liabilities (note 19) (26) (25) 27)
Results from financial instruments, net (notes 14.2 and 17.4) .......cccocevvveiieeniensenesens (5) (6) a7
Foreign eXChange reSUILS ............oiiiieiicesce e 73 (35) (3)
FINANCIAl INCOME ... s 27 22 20
OBNEIS <.ttt b bbbt b ettt n e 10 (7 1

$ 47 (79) (115)
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9) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated cash and cash equivalents consisted of:

2022 2021
(O T T a0 I o= 0= Vool o LU S SS $ 297 367
Fixed-income securities and other cash equivalents 198 246
$ 495 613

Based on net settlement agreements, the balance of cash and cash equivalents excludes deposits in margin accounts that guarantee several obligations
of CEMEX of $6 in 2022 and $15 in 2021, which were offset against the corresponding obligations of CEMEX with the counterparties, considering
CEMEX s right, ability and intention to settle the amounts on a net basis.

10) TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated trade accounts receivable consisted of:

2022 2021
Trade aCCOUNLS TECEIVADIE ........eeeeieeie ettt ettt e e et e e e sttt e e st e e e s st e e e s sataeesbtaessabeeesssbaessbeneas $ 1,735 1,622
Allowances for eXPected Credit I0SSES ........cc.iiiiiiiieieeee et e et sbe st e eene (91) (101)
$ 1,644 1,521

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, trade accounts receivable include receivables of $828 and $727, respectively, sold under outstanding trade
receivables securitization programs and/or factoring programs with recourse, established in Mexico, the United States, France and the United Kingdom,
in which CEMEX effectively surrenders control associated with the trade accounts receivable sold and there is no guarantee or obligation to reacquire
the assets; nonetheless, in such programs, CEMEX retains certain residual interest in the programs and/or maintains continuing involvement with the
accounts receivable. Therefore, the trade accounts receivable sold were not removed from the statement of financial position and the funded amounts to
CEMEX of $678 in 2022 and $602 in 2021, were recognized within the line item of “Other financial obligations.” Trade accounts receivable qualifying for
sale exclude amounts over certain days past due or concentrations over certain limits to any one customer, according to the terms of the programs. The
discount granted to the acquirers of the trade accounts receivable is recorded as financial expense and amounted to $24 in 2022, $11 in 2021 and $13
in 2020. CEMEX’s securitization programs are usually negotiated for periods of one to two years and are usually renewed at their maturity.

As of December 31, 2022, the balances of trade accounts receivable and the allowance for Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) were as follows:

Accounts ECL average
receivable ECL allowance rate
IMIEXECO . vttt ettt ettt e e st st e b e e et et et et e ne et er et en e et neenes $ 306 31 10.1%
United States 591 9 1.5%
Europe, Middle East, Africa and Asia............ 763 41 5.4%
South, Central America and the Caribbean 73 10 13.7%
(011 £ TSRS 2 - -
$ 1,735 91
Changes in the allowance for expected credit losses in 2022, 2021 and 2020, were as follows:
2022 2021 2020
Allowances for expected credit losses at beginning of period $ 101 121 116
Charged to Selling EXPENSES ......covveririeirieirieereeeee e 9 1 23
DedUCLIONS ....veveiiiecese s (21) (16) (19)
Reclassification to assets held for sale (Note 4.2)...........cccevviiiiiiiiiiniiii - 2 -
Foreign currency translation effects ... 2 3) 1
Allowances for expected credit losses at end of period ...........c.coceveiciiiiiiiniieices $ 91 101 121

As of December 31, 2021, in relation to the COVID-19 Pandemic and the potential increase in expected credit losses on trade accounts receivable
associated with the still remaining negative economic effects, CEMEX maintains continuous communication with its customers as part of its collection
management, in order to anticipate situations that could represent an extension in the portfolio’s recovery period or in some cases the risk of non-
recovery. As of this same date, the Company considers that these negative effects do not yet have a significant impact on the estimates of expected
credit losses and will continue to monitor the development of relevant events that may eventually have effect because of a deepening or extension of
the COVID-19 Pandemic.
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11) OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated other accounts receivable consisted of:

2022 2021
Advances of income taxes and other refundable taxes ... $ 335 396
Non-trade accounts receivable !...............cccooeieveieinnen. 119 84
Interest and notes receivable.........vevviiieeiicierieieeiece e 41 31
Current portion of valuation of derivative financial instruments .... 25 36
Loans to employees and OThers ..........cooiiiiiriiieieeeee ettt sttt se et sa et sbe e e neene 15 11
$ 535 558
1 Non-trade accounts receivable are mainly attributable to the sale of assets.
12) INVENTORIES
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the consolidated balance of inventories was summarized as follows:
2022 2021
Materials and SPATE PATLS .....ccuveeeuieeiierieiteertie et erte et esteeteesteeeseeasaeeseessseesseessseesaesnseenseeanseessaeenseessseenseennseans $ 563 372
FINISNEA ZOOAS ...ttt ettt ettt b et b et e st et et e st e st e st et e b e st e b e st e st e bt et e ebe et enteneene 406 343
RAW MALETIALS ..eiviitieiieiiieiitieiete ettt ettt e et et e s te et e s bt esbesteessesseessessaessasseassasaessenseessasseessanseessessaessansanssene 329 242
WOTK-NPIOCESS ....eitititeienietieti ettt sttt ettt et et s et e e bt et et et ene e s e e bt eb e et e e em e emeeseebees e s e e eneentesceneeseeteabentenseneane 284 225
Inventory in transit 87 79
$ 1,669 1,261

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX recognized within “Cost of sales” in the income statement, inventory impairment
losses of $10, $4 and $9, respectively.

13)  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, assets held for sale and other current assets was detailed as follows:

2022 2021
ASSCLS NELA FOT SALC......eeiiiiieiieieie ettt ettt ettt et e st e et e bt et et e sseesbeestessasseenseessesseessenseassensaessansannsenn $ 69 141
OLhET CUITENT ASSELS ....veeuveiieiiesiietesieetesteetesteetesteestesseessenseessesseessesseessessasssesseassessesssanseassessesssenseessensesssensenssense 114 131
$ 183 272

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, assets held for sale, which are measured at the lower of their estimated realizable value, less costs to sell, and their
carrying amounts, as well as liabilities directly related with such assets are detailed as follows:

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities Net assets Assets Liabilities Net assets
Other assets held for sale...........ooooiivviiiiiiiiiiiinnns $ 69 — 69 $ 64 — 64
Costa Rica and El Salvador (note 4.2).................. — — — 77 39 38
$ 69 — 69 $ 141 39 102

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, other current assets presented above are mainly comprised of advance payments to suppliers.
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14) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, OTHER INVESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
14.1) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the investments in common shares of associates and joint ventures were as follows:

Activity Country % 2022 2021

Camcem, SLAA. de C.V. .o Cement Mexico 40.1 $ 306 269
Concrete SUpPlY CO. LLC...oceoveiiieicieeceeeee e Concrete United States 40.0 96 90
Lehigh White Cement Company .... Cement United States 36.8 76 69
NEOTIS NV Lottt Technology The Netherlands 34.8 62 -
Société d’Exploitation de Carrieres ...........cceevevrenrennenn Aggregates France 50.0 23 22
Société Méridionale de Carrieres .........ccooeevveieniernnnene, Aggregates France 33.3 12 12
Other COMPANIES ......ocoviiiereieeeeee e — — — 65 73

$ 640 535
Out of which:
oo 0171 o] I oo ) RSOSSN $ 302 303
EqQUItY MEthod FrECOGNITION .......c.eiiiitiieite ettt b et e et e e b e bt et benbeneeneene $ 338 232

1 On October 25, 2022, in connection with the sale of Neoris’ 65% stake to Advent described in note 4.2, CEMEX’s remaining equity interest in Neoris was remeasured
at fair value at the date of loss of control, measured prospectively under the equity method and is presented in the line item of investments in associates and joint
ventures.

Combined condensed statement of financial position information of CEMEX’s equity accounted investees as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is set
forth below:

2022 2021
CUITENE ASSELS ...vvvieiuveieieteieesittesesbeeesstteessstesssabeaessssesssastesesasaeesssseaesassesesabeaaesssssesssbeessbeaessabeaessabesesssbasssbeneens $ 1,603 1,424
L0 g BT =] 0 TS KN 1,699 1,718
B0 ] =L IS £ 3,302 3,142
CUITENE TIADIIITIES 1..viiviiiiictiiie et b et et e e b s b e et e s be et e s be et e sbeesbesbeesbesbeesbesbeesbesteenreas 468 532
Non-current liabilities 774 737
Total liabilities ......... 1,242 1,269
TOLAL NEE ASSEES ..evviieiiteii et e ettt e ettt e e ettt e e et e e e st e e e e eateaesestesesbeeesssseasssbaeesbbeessabasesasbeeessbbeessaresessrens $ 2,060 1,873

Combined selected information of the statements of operations of CEMEX’s equity accounted investees in 2022, 2021 and 2020 is set forth below:

2022 2021 2020
REVENUES ....vevie ettt ettt s b e e s e et e s teese e s be et s e sbeeseesteeseesbeaseesbeeneeabeeseesteannenaeeneeses $ 2,319 1,801 1,759
OPEIAtING BAIMINGS. ... citeitititeieeeie sttt ettt sbe st e b e e e et e et e abesbesbesae e eneebeebesbesbeneeeeneenea 398 312 296
INCOME DEFOIE INCOME TAX .viviiieicricie ettt sbe e b e reereenas 268 219 175
INEE INCOIME <.ttt e e b e b e s be et e e beerbesbeereesbeereesbeeabesbeersesbeeneenaesreeses 186 153 128

The share of equity accounted investees by reportable segment in the statements of operations for 2022, 2021 and 2020 is detailed as follows:

2022 2021 2020
IMIEXICO ettt ekttt ekt bbb bbbt b et $ 39 28 30
United States 17 18 15
EMEAA ... 8 8 6
Corporate and others (34) — (2)
$ 30 54 49
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14.2) OTHER INVESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated other investments and non-current accounts receivable were summarized as follows:

2022 2021
NON-CUITENt aCCOUNES TECEIVADIE L ...........ovieieciicicieeec et $ 228 204
INVestments in Strategic BQUILY SECUIMLIES 2 .........viviverieiiiiieiereteee ettt sttt b ettt bt re e en e 5 14
Non-current portion of valuation of derivative financial instruments (Note 17.4)........ccccocvviniinncneneiieens 57 22
Investments at fair value through the income Statement 3 ............cccoveviiieiiiiccee e 3 3
$ 293 243

1 Includes, among other items: a) accounts receivable from investees and joint ventures of $33 in 2022 and $21 in 2021, b) advances to suppliers of fixed assets of $58
in 2022 and $35 in 2021, c) employee prepaid compensation of $12 in 2022 and $7 in 2021, and d) warranty deposits of $21 in 2022 and $27 in 2021.

2 These investments are recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income.
3 Refers to investments in private funds. In 2022 and 2021, no contributions were made to such private funds.
15)  PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND ASSETS FOR THE RIGHT-OF-USE, NET

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, property, machinery and equipment, net and assets for the right-of-use, net were summarized as follows:

2022 2021
Property, machinery and eQUIPMENT, NEL ........coviiiiiiiieii st a e te b e b sre b nan $ 10,156 10,202
ASSELS FOr the FIGNT-0F-USE, NMEL......cciiiiiiieici et sb ettt e s tesbesbesrenens 1,128 1,120
$ 11,284 11,322

15.1) PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated property, machinery and equipment, net and the changes in this line item during 2022, 2021 and
2020, were as follows:

2022
Land and Machinery
mineral and Construction
reserves Building equipment in progress! Total

Cost at beginning of PEriod ...........cccoeveveeiiiiiicccccee e $ 4,801 2,532 11,727 1,262 20,322
Accumulated depreciation and depletion............cccccceeeeieiiiviecnennnan. (1,226) (1,494) (7,400) - (10,120)
Net book value at beginning of Period ..........c..cccoevoerverrveereisreesnienseeseeens 3,575 1,038 4,327 1,262 10,202
Capital EXPENAItUIES ......cveviviiieieieieieei e 126 52 406 457 1,041
SEAPPING COSES 1.vuvviririiieretcieee sttt 25 - - - 25
Total capital eXpenditures...........ccoeoervernerineieerseeeee 151 52 406 457 1,066
DISPOSAIS 2. 4 ) (22) - (30)
Business combinations (NOe 4.1) ......cccvvvvvvveveeiernriisiseeieresesese e 32 1 9 1 43
Depreciation and depletion for the period .............coccoevverveeeveerrennen. (153) (78) (493) - (724)
IMPAIrMeNt 10SSES (NOLE 7)......cvuveerrereerieerenseessessessssseenseessssesssnneees (12) (8) (55) (2) (77)
Foreign currency translation effects ............coe.vvvuecvrerreesriesrenrnnons (83) (172) (19) (50) (324)
Cost at end Of PEFIOT .......vveveeeieiiiissee e 4,843 2,342 11,663 1,668 20,516
Accumulated depreciation and depletion.............ccccceevveiieiciiieennn, (1,337) (1,513) (7,510) - (10,360)
Net book value at end 0f PEFIOT ............coceeveeveereeeeeeeeeeee e eeeneen $ 3,506 829 4,153 1,668 10,156
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Property, machinery and equipment, net — continued

2021
Land and Machinery
mineral and Construction
reserves Building equipment in progress * Total 20201

Cost at beginning of period .............cco..... . 3 4,741 2,438 11,929 1,188 20,296 19,708
Accumulated depreciation and depletion (1,177) (1,474) (7,475) — (10,126) (9,143)
Net book value at beginning of period ..........cccccconevinnnne 3,564 964 4,454 1,188 10,170 10,565
Capital expenditures .........ccoceoeveernenneineiennnns 81 159 609 - 849 564
SripPING COSES ..ovviviieiiiieeee e 18 — — — 18 18
Total capital expenditures..........cccccceeeervrennnne 99 159 609 - 867 582
DISPOSAIS? ....ocvvvrrcreteeeeeeeve e (20) (6) (80) - (106) (63)
Reclassifications® ...........ccococieeeeiiiiceeee e 4) (8) (29) ?3) (44) (18)
Business combinations (note 4.1) ........ccccceeevenennene - - - - - 11
Depreciation and depletion for the period ................ (108) (74) (536) - (718) (736)
Impairment 10SSes (NOE 7).........vvvevevevevereririiieieeenas (11) 9 (15) (8) (43) (306)
Foreign currency translation effects ......................... 55 12 (76) 85 76 135
Cost at end of period .........ccccevvevviiiveieicscee e 4,801 2,532 11,727 1,262 20,322 20,296
Accumulated depreciation and depletion.................. (1,226) (1,494) (7,400) - (10,120) (10,126)
Net book value at end of period ...........cccccoeveevicrrrrerennen. $ 3,575 1,038 4,327 1,262 10,202 10,170

1 As of December 31, 2022, the Maceo plant in Colombia, finalized significantly in 2017, with an annual capacity of approximately 1.3 million tons of cement, has not
initiated commercial operations mainly as the access road has not been finalized. As of the reporting date, the works related to the access road to the plant reflect a
significant progress; nonetheless, the beginning of commercial operations is subject also to the successful conclusion of several ongoing processes for the proper
operation of the assets and other legal proceedings (note 25.3). As of December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of the plant, is for an amount in Colombian Pesos

equivalent to $219.

2 In 2022 includes sales of non-strategic fixed assets in the United States and the United Kingdom for $5 and $5, respectively, among others. In 2021 includes sales of
non-strategic fixed assets in Spain, the United States and the United Kingdom for $51, $29 and $12, respectively, among others. In 2020, includes sales of non-
strategic fixed assets in the United Kingdom and the United States for $28 and $18, respectively, among others.

3 In 2021, refers to the reclassification to held-for-sale of the assets in Costa Rica and El Salvador for $43 and $1, respectively. In 2020, refers to the reclassification
of the assets in France, Puerto Rico, Colombia and Dominican Republic for $8, $5, $3 and $2, respectively.

During 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX recognized impairment losses of fixed assets for $77, $43 and $306, respectively, mainly in connection with
reductions in estimated discounted future cash flows due to the increase in interest rates and assets held for sale in 2022 and 2021, and the negative
effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic in 2020, as a result of which CEMEX closed certain idle assets that will remain closed for the foreseeable future in
relation to the estimated sales volumes and the Company’s ability to supply demand by achieving efficiencies in other operating assets. Moreover,
during 2022 and 2021 there were no reversal of impairment charges of the COVID-19 Pandemic’ related adjustments of 2020 as all related assets

remain closed.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX adjusted the related fixed assets to their estimated value in use in those circumstances
in which the assets would continue in operation based on estimated cash flows during the remaining useful life, or to their realizable value, in case of
permanent shut down, and recognized impairment losses within the line item of “Other expenses, net” (notes 2.11 and 7).

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 impairment losses of fixed assets by country are as follows:

United Kingdom

Puerto Rico................
Croatia......ccoeeveeveenee.

2022 2021 2020
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- $ 26 18 76
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 23 - 135
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- - 10 2
........................................................................................................ 14 -
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 10 5 39
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- - 20
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- - 13
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- - - 12
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 4 10 9
$ 77 43 306
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15.2) ASSETS FOR THE RIGHT-OF-USE, NET

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated assets for the right-of-use, net and the changes in this caption during 2022, 2021 and 2020, were as
follows:

2022
Machinery
and
Land Buildings equipment Others Total
Assets for the right-of-use at beginning of period ...........c.cccoviiniene $ 395 401 1,513 21 2,330
Accumulated depreCiation ...........oceoiereiniieescee e (147) (205) (845) (13) (1,210)
Net book value at beginning of PEriod ..........ccccccvereireireiseeeieesee s 248 196 668 8 1,120
Additions of NEW 1EaSES...........vvvrreirieiirerreeee s 45 21 207 23 296
Cancellations and remeasuremMentsS........ccoeoveeeeieerireseseneeeeesese e (15) 27) (82) 1) (125)
DEPIECIALION ...ttt 1) 77) (165) (15) (258)
Foreign currency translation effects 20 19 48 8 95
Assets for the right-of-use at end of period ..o 439 335 1,570 55 2,399
Accumulated depreCiation ..o (142) (203) (894) (32) (1,271)
Net book value at end 0f PEriod .........cc.evueuiiereneieiniisereseesse s $ 297 132 676 23 1,128
2021
Machinery
and
Land Buildings equipment Others Total 2020
Assets for the right-of-use at beginning of period ..... $ 409 457 1,502 21 2,389 2,265
Accumulated depreciation ...........ccccoeeveiereiiniennennn (139) (253) (744) (10) (1,146) (980)
Net book value at beginning of period ..............cccccoevnnnnne. 270 204 758 11 1,243 1,285
Additions of New 1eases.........cccoeerireneieneeerc 59 22 143 3 227 213
Cancellations and remeasurements...........ccoeeveerennne (28) (19 (87) - (134) (76)
Business combinations (note 4.1) .......ccccoceveieieicnnnn - - - - - 13
DEPIECIAtION ....cvvvvevvieeecccv e 17) (37) (226) 3) (283) (239)
Foreign currency translation effects ...........c.cccevevnees (36) 26 80 (3) 67 47
Assets for the right-of-use at end of period ................ 395 401 1,513 21 2,330 2,389
Accumulated depreciation ...........cccevververeneiineenenns (147) (205) (845) (13) (1,210) (1,146)
Net book value at end of period ..........cccccovvveinicciinnenn, $ 248 196 668 8 1,120 1,243

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the combined rental expense related with short-term leases, leases of low-value assets and
variable lease payments were $108, $94 and $97, respectively, and were recognized in cost of sales and operating expenses, as correspond. During the
reported periods, CEMEX did not have any material revenue from sub-leasing activities. Moreover, during 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX did not have
significant rent concessions related to the COVID-19 Pandemic.

16) GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
16.1) BALANCES AND CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated goodwill, intangible assets and deferred charges were summarized as follows:

2022 2021
Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Cost amortization amount Cost amortization amount
Intangible assets of indefinite useful life:
GOOAWIIL . $ 7,538 - 7538 % 7,984 - 7,984
Intangible assets of definite useful life:
EXtraction rights .........ccocooevvininnninnnnns 1,729 (452) 1,277 1,781 (431) 1,350
Industrial property and trademarks ............ 32 (15) 17 45 (22) 23
Customer relationships .........c.ccoceeeierinene 196 (196) _ 196 (196) _
Mining Projects .........ocueevvrerniniinenininns 39 (6) 33 52 (7 45
Internally developed software... 820 (534) 286 689 (461) 228
Other intangible assets ............. 305 (163) 142 351 (218) 133
$ 10,659 (1,366) 9,293 $ 11,098 (1,335) 9,763
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Changes in consolidated goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, were as follows:

2022 2021 2020

Balance at beginning Of PO .........ccviiiiiiie s $ 7,984 8,506 9,562

Impairment l0sses (NOteS 7 and 16.2) .........ccccviiiiiiiiiiiniiiiic s (365) (440) (1,020)

Business combinations (NOTE 4.1) .....uueieeeeiiiiiiirieee e s e e e e s snrrree e e e e e 4 5 2

Reclassification to assets held for sale (notes 4.2 and 13)...........cccoviviiiiiiiiiiiniinnnn, - (2) 9

Foreign currency translation effects ..o (85) (85) (29)
Balance at end OF PEIIOQ .......cc.oouiiiiiice e $ 7,538 7,984 8,506
Changes in intangible assets of definite life in 2022, 2021 and 2020, were as follows:

2022
Industrial Internally
Extraction property and Mining developed
rights trademarks projects software Others Total

Balance at beginning of period............... $ 1,350 23 45 228 133 1,779

Amortization for the period.............. (44) 7 ) (73) (13) (138)

Additions (decreases), net? .............. (10) - (10) 136 35 151

Foreign currency translation effects (19) 1 1) (5) (13) (37)
Balance at the end of period ................... $ 1,277 17 33 286 142 1,755

2021
Industrial Internally
Extraction property and Mining developed
rights trademarks projects software ! Others Total 2020

Balance at beginning of period............... $ 1,358 24 43 213 108 1,746 2,028

Impairment losses (note 7)............... - - - (49) (4) (53) (194)

Amortization for the period.............. (24) 2) (1) (71) (21) (119) (130)

Additions (decreases), net *.............. 27 - 2 132 31 192 53

Business combinations (note 4.1) ... - - - - - — 7

Foreign currency translation effects (11) 1 1 3 19 13 (18)
Balance at the end of period ................... $ 1,350 23 45 228 133 1,779 1,746

1 Includes the capitalized direct costs incurred in the development stage of internal-use software, such as professional fees, direct labor and related travel expenses. The
capitalized amounts are amortized to the statement of operations over a period ranging from 3 to 5 years.

In 2021, CEMEX recognized impairment losses in connection with its internally developed software of $49 considering certain obsolescence generated
by the significant replacement of the applications platform during the period. In 2020, in connection with the idle status of North Brooksville plant in
the United States, CEMEX also recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $181 associated with the operating permits related to such plant
considering that the book value of such permits will not be recovered through normal use before their expiration and $13 of other intangible assets.

16.2) ANALYSIS OF GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

Based on IFRS, CEMEX analyses the possible impairment of goodwill mandatorily at least once a year, determination made during the last quarter, or
additionally at any interim date when impairment indicators exist, by means of determining the value in use of its groups of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs”) to which goodwill balances have been allocated. The value in use represents the discounted cash flows projections of each CGU for the next
five years using risk adjusted discount rates.

In 2022, as part of the mandatory impairment tests during the fourth quarter, CEMEX recognized within Other expenses, net (note 7), non-cash goodwill
impairment losses for an aggregate amount of $365, of which, $273 correspond to the operating segment in the United States and $92 correspond to the
operating segment in Spain. In both cases, the related book value of the operating segment exceeded the corresponding value in use. The impairment losses
in 2022 are mainly related to the significant increase in the discount rates as compared to 2021 and the resulting significant decrease in the Company’s
projected cash flows in these segments considering the global high inflationary environment, which increased the risk-free rates, and the material increase in
the funding cost observed in the industry during the period. These negative effects more than offset the expected improvements in the estimated Operating
EBITDA generation in both the United States and Spain.

During 2021 and 2020, in addition to the mandatory goodwill impairment tests at year end, considering the then negative effects and aftermath of the
COVID-19 Pandemic, as well as the high uncertainty and lack of visibility in relation to the duration and consequences in the different markets where
the Company operates, management considered that impairment indicators occurred during the third quarter of 2021 and 2020 in its operating segments
in Spain and the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) in 2021, and in the United States, Spain, Egypt and the United Arab Emirates in 2020, and consequently
carried out impairment analyses of goodwill as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 in these operating segments.
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Analysis of goodwill impairment — continued

As a result of these impairment analyses, in the third quarter of 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized within Other expenses, net (note 7) in the
statement of operations, non-cash goodwill impairment losses for aggregate amounts of $440 and $1,020, respectively, related, in 2021, to the operating
segments in Spain of $317, UAE of $96 as well as $27 related to Neoris due to reorganization, and in 2020, related entirely with its operating segment
in the United States. No other impairment test of goodwill as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 resulted in additional goodwill impairment losses.
Furthermore, CEMEX did not determine additional impairment losses in its mandatory goodwill impairment test as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 in
any of the groups of CGUs to which goodwill balances have been allocated.

In 2021, the impairment losses in Spain and UAE referred closely to disruptions in the supply chains that have generated increases in the estimated production
and transportation costs that are considered will be sustained in the mid-term. These negative effects significantly reduced the projected Operating EBITDA
as a result of the aforementioned increases in costs and the corresponding value in use of the reporting segments in Spain and UAE as of September 30, 2021
as compared to the valuations determined as of December 31, 2020. Discount rates and long-term growth rates remained unchanged, which were 7.7% and
1.5% in Spain, respectively, as well as 8.3% and 2.6% in UAE, respectively.

In 2020, the perceived high volatility, lack of visibility and reduced outlook associated with the effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic made CEMEX
reduce its cash-flows projections in the United States from 7 to 5 years as well as reduce its long-term growth rate from 2.5% to 2%. Such changes
significantly reduced the value in use as of September 30, 2020, which decreased by 25.7% as compared to December 31, 2019. Of this reduction,
almost 52% was related to the decrease of two years in the cash flows projections, almost one third resulted from the reduction in the long-term growth
rate used to determine the terminal value which changed from 2.5% in 2019 to 2.0% as of September 30, 2020, and the difference resulted from the
slowdown of sales growth over the projected years, partially compensated by a positive effect associated with the reduction in the discount rate which
decreased from 7.8% in 2019 to 7.7% as of September 30, 2020.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, goodwill balances allocated by Operating Segment after impairment adjustments were as follows:

2022 2021

IIEXICO 1.vviteieie ittt ettt ettt et et e s te et e e bt et e e be e st e ebe et e sbeesbeebe e st e s beesbeebe e Rt e ebeesbeebe e st e ebeesbeebeeabeebeebeeRb e beebeebeeaeebenreenreas $ 384 361
L0110 ] £ (TSR 6,176 6,449
EMEAA
United Kingdom 250 280
France .....ccceeeveens 201 213
Spain .......ceeenee. 57 158
Philippines .............. 82 89
Rest of EMEAA? 38 48
SCA&C
(0101 (o] 101 oL F- RSSO RO OT 202 244
Caribbean TCL ........ 83 83
Rest of SCA&C? 65 59

$ 7,538 7,984

1 This caption refers to the operating segments in Israel, the Czech Republic and Egypt.
2 This caption refers to the operating segments in the Dominican Republic, the Caribbean and Panama.

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, CEMEX’s pre-tax discount rates and long-term growth rates used to determine the discounted cash flows
in the group of CGUs with the main goodwill balances were as follows:

Discount rates Long-term growth rates*

Groups of CGUs 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
United States ........occovveerreicneeneeneae 9.1% 7.2% 7.3% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
SPAIN ..o 9.4% 7.6% 7.7% 1.7% 1.5% 1.5%
United Kingdom .........ccccocociiiiiiinns 9.1% 7.3% 7.4% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6%
France ......ccccciininiiiiiniien 9.2% 7.3% 7.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.7%
Mexico ............. 10.3% 8.4% 8.3% 1.1% 1.0% 1.1%
Colombia 10.9% 8.5% 8.4% 3.3% 3.5% 2.5%
United Arab Emirates .........ccccocevvrunnee. _ _ 8.3% _ _ 2.6%
EQYPL cooveeerereieereieereeeeeieieee s 13.6% 10.7% 10.2% 3.0% 3.0% 5.6%
Range of rates in other countries .......... 9.3%-13.9% 7.4%-11.7%  7.2% —15.5% 15%-6.0% 1.7%-6.0% (0.3%) — 6.5%

1 The long-term growth rates are generally based on projections issued by the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”).
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Analysis of goodwill impairment — continued

As of December 31, 2022, the discount rates used by CEMEX in its cash flows projections to determine the value in use of its operating segments
increased by a weighted average of 2.0% in respect to the discount rates determined at December 31, 2021, mainly considering the increase in the risk-
free rate associated to CEMEX which changed from 1.82% in 2021 to 3.58% in 2022, the significant increase in the funding cost observed in the
industry which changed from 4.1% in 2021 to 6.7% in 2022, as well as the average increase of approximately 1.7% in 2022 in the cost of equity. The
other variables remained relatively flat. These financial assumptions will be revised upwards or downwards again in the future as new economic data
is available. CEMEX maintained certain reductions to the long-term growth rates used as of December 31, 2022 as compared to the IMF projections,
mainly Mexico in 1.0% and Egypt in 2.85%.

The discount rates used by CEMEX as of December 31, 2021 changed slightly as compared to 2020 in a range of -0.1% up to 0.5%. The discount rates
increased considering the weighing of debt in the calculation that decreased from 34.6% in 2020 to 26.9% in 2021 and the market risk premium which
increased from 5.7% in 2020 to 5.8% in 2021. These increasing effects were offset by the decrease in the risk-free rate associated to CEMEX which
changed from 2.2% in 2020 to 1.8% in 2021 and the reduction in the public comparable companies’ stock volatility (beta) that changed from 1.19 in
2020t0 1.12 in 2021. As of December 31, 2021, the funding cost observed in the industry of 4.1% remained unchanged against 2020, while the specific
risk rates of each country experienced mixed non-significant changes in 2021 as compared to 2020 in the majority of the countries. In addition, as
preventive measure to continue considering the COVID-19 Pandemic negative effects, CEMEX reduced in certain countries its long-term growth rates
used in their cash flows projections as of December 31, 2021 as compared to the IMF projections such as in Mexico in 1.0% and Egypt in 2.8%.

Moreover, the discount rates used by CEMEX as of December 31, 2020 generally decreased as compared to 2019 in a range of 0.1% up to 1.5%, mainly
as a result of a decrease in the funding cost observed in the industry that changed from 5.4% in 2019 to 4.1% in 2020, the weighing of debt in the
calculation of the discount rates that increased from 31.7% in 2019 to 34.6% in 2020 and the risk-free rate associated to CEMEX which changed from
2.9% in 2019 to 2.2% in 2020. These reductions were partially offset by a slight increase in the public comparable companies’ stock volatility (beta)
that changed from 1.08 in 2019 to 1.19 in 2020. Moreover, in 2020, as preventive measure to consider the then high uncertainty, volatility and reduced
visibility related to the negative effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic, CEMEX reduced in certain countries its long-term growth rates used in the
Company’s cash flows projections as of December 31, 2020 as compared to the IMF projections such as in the United States in 0.5%, Mexico in 1.3%
and Colombia in 1.2%.

In connection with the discount rates and long-term growth rates included in the table above, CEMEX verified the reasonableness of its conclusions
using sensitivity analyses to changes in assumptions, affecting the value in use of all groups of CGUs with an independent reasonably possible increase
of 1% in the pre-tax discount rate, an independent possible decrease of 1% in the long-term growth rate, as well as using multiples of Operating
EBITDA, by means of which, CEMEX determined a weighted-average multiple of Operating EBITDA to enterprise value observed in recent mergers
and acquisitions in the industry. The average multiple was then applied to a stabilized amount of Operating EBITDA and the result was compared to
the corresponding carrying amount for each group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. CEMEX considered an industry average Operating
EBITDA multiple of 11.3 times in 2022 and 11.5 times in 2021 and 2020.

In relation to the economic assumptions used by the Company described above, the additional impairment losses that would have resulted from the
sensitivity analyses derived from independent changes in each of the relevant assumptions, as well as the average multiple of Operating EBITDA, in
those operating segments that presented relative impairment risk as of December 31, 2022, are as follows:

Additional effects to the impairment losses recognized
from the sensitivity analyses to changes in
assumptions as of December 31, 2022

Multiples
Impairment Long-term Operating
) losses Discount rate growth rate EBITDA
Operating segment recognized +1% -1% 11.3x
UNIEEA SEAES ......vvovveecececeeceere e $ (273) (1,243) (986) -
SPRIN .ottt (92) (59) (47) -

As of December 31, 2022, except for the operating segments presented in the table above, none of the other sensitivity analyses indicated a potential
impairment risk in CEMEX’s operating segments. The factors considered by the Company’s management that could cause the hypothetical scenarios
of the previous sensitivity analysis in Spain and the United States are, in relation to the discount rate, an independent increase of 372 bps in the
Company’s funding cost observed as of December 31, 2022 of 6.7% or, an independent increase in the risk-free rate of 137 bps over the rates of 4.0%
in Spain and 3.6% in the United States. Nonetheless, such assumptions did not seem reasonable as of December 31, 2022. CEMEX continually monitors
the evolution of the group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated that have presented relative goodwill impairment risk in any of the reported
periods and, if the relevant economic variables and the related value in use would be negatively affected, it may result in a goodwill impairment loss
in the future.
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17) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

17.1) CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT DEBT

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX’s consolidated debt summarized by interest rates and currencies, was as follows:

2022 2021
Current Non-current Total 12 Current Non-current Total 12
Floating rate debt...........ccco...... $ - 1,750 1,750 $ 27 896 923
Fixed rate debt..........cocevvennnnee. 51 5,170 5,221 46 6,410 6,456
$ 51 6,920 6,971 $ 73 7,306 7,379
Effective rate
Floating rate........c.cccecevvevievennane. 3.2% 4.6% 2.7% 2.6%
Fixed rate.......cccovveveveieeireineennn, 5.1% 5.3% 5.2% 4.8%
2022 2021

Currency Current  Non-current Total Effective rate 3 Current Non-current Total Effective rate
Dollars.........cccoeuvueininnnn, $ 5 5,511 5,516 57% $ 6 6,375 6,381 4.4%
EUroS ...oeeiii, 2 962 964 3.3% 1 453 454 3.1%
Pesos......ccovriiii - 267 267 12.2% - 254 254 7.2%
Philippine Pesos............. 8 139 147 5.4% 66 109 175 4.4%
Other currencies ............ 36 41 77 4.3% — 115 115 4.1%

$ 51 6,920 6,971 $ 73 7,306 7,379

1 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, from total debt of $6,971 and $7,379, respectively, 94% was held in the Parent Company and 6% in subsidiaries of the Parent

Company, in both periods.

2 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, cumulative discounts, fees and other direct costs incurred in CEMEX’s outstanding debt borrowings and the issuance of notes
payable (jointly “Issuance Costs™) for $45 and $53, respectively, are presented reducing debt balances and are amortized to financial expense over the maturity of the

related debt instruments under the effective interest rate method.

3 In 2022 and 2021, represents the weighted-average nominal interest rate of the related debt agreements determined at the end of each period.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX’s consolidated debt summarized by type of instrument, was as follows:

2022 Current  Non-current 2021 Current  Non-current
Bank loans Bank loans
Loans in foreign countries, 2024 to 2025 . $ 43 184 Loans in foreign countries, 2023 to 2024.. $ - 289
Syndicated loans, 2024 to 2026.................. — 2,578 Syndicated loans, 2023 to 2026 ................ — 1,728
43 2,762 — 2,017
Notes payable Notes payable
Medium-term notes, 2024 to 2031 - 3,988 Medium-term notes, 2024 to 2031 - 5,179
Other notes payable, 2022 to 2027 6 172 Other notes payable, 2022 to 2027 5 178
6 4,160 5 5,357
Total bank loans and notes payable .......... 49 6,922 Total bank loans and notes payable .......... 5 7,374
Current Maturities ..........ccocvvevenereieiennens 2 (2)  Current maturities .........ccoceeereririenereneenns 68 (68)
$ 51 6,920 $ 73 7,306
Changes in consolidated debt for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
2022 2021 2020
Debt at beginning Of YEAI ......ccocviiiiicic e $ 7,379 9,339 9,365
Proceeds from new debt INSEIUMENTS .........c..oiiiiieii it 2,006 3,960 4,210
DD FEPAYMENTS ... ettt b e bbbt et eb et e b e b e e ens (2,420) (5,897) (4,572)
Foreign currency translation and accretion effects ... 6 (23) 336
Debt @t €N OF YA ...ttt $ 6,971 7,379 9,339
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Consolidated debt — continued

During 2022, CEMEX closed a €500 3-year sustainability-linked term loan (the “Term Loan”), the proceeds of which were used to repay other debt.
The Term Loan was issued under CEMEX’s Sustainability-linked Financing Framework (the “Framework”), increasing the amount of debt that is
linked and aligned to CEMEX’s strategy of CO2 emissions reduction and its ultimate vision of a carbon-neutral economy (note 2.4). All sustainability-
linked loans issued under the Framework have the same metrics and adjustments to the interest rate margin.

As a result of debt issuances and/or debt tender offers incurred during the reported periods to refinance, replace and/or repurchase existing debt
instruments, as applicable, CEMEX paid transactional costs, including premiums and/or redemption costs (the “Transactional Costs™) for aggregate
amounts of $51 in 2022, $142 in 2021 and $98 in 2020. Of these Transactional Costs, $4 in 2022, $37 in 2021 and $38 in 2020, corresponding to new
debt instruments or the refinancing of old debt, adjusted the carrying amount of the related debt instruments and are amortized over the remaining term
of each instrument, while $47 in 2022, $99 in 2021 and $60 in 2020 of such Transactional Costs, associated with the extinguished portion of the related
debt, were recognized each period in the line item of “Financial expense”. In addition, Transactional Costs pending for amortization related to
extinguished debt instruments of $6 in 2022, $27 in 2021 and $19 in 2020 were also recognized within “Financial expense.”

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, non-current notes payable for $4,160 and $5,357, respectively, were detailed as follows:

Redeemed Outstanding

Date of Principal Maturity ~ amount 2 amount?
Description issuance Issuer ! Currency amount Rate date $ $ 2022 2021
July 2031 Notes ..o 12/Jan/21 CEMEX, S.A.B.de C.V. Dollar 1,750 3.875% 11/ul/31 (642) 1,108 $ 1,102 1,741
September 2030 Notes 3. ... 17/Sep/20 CEMEX, S.A.B.deC.V. Dollar 1,000 5.2% 17/Sep/30 (283) 717 714 995
November 2029 Notes 3 .............. 19/Nov/19 CEMEX, S.A.B.deC.V. Dollar 1,000 5.45% 19/Nov/29 (247) 753 749 994
June 2027 NOteS ......ccovverreenen 05/Jun/20 CEMEX, S.A.B.deC.V. Dollar 1,000 7.375% 05/Jun/27 - 1,000 996 995
March 2026 Notes ... ... 19/Mar/19 CEMEX, S.A.B.de C.V. Euro 400 3.125% 19/Mar/26 - 428 427 454
July 2025 Notes ....... ... 01/Apr/03 CEMEX Materials LLC Dollar 150 7.70% 21/3ul/25 - 150 152 152
Other notes payable............c........ 20 26

$ 4,160 5,357

1 As of December 31, 2021, after closing the 2021 Credit Agreement, these issued notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by CEMEX Concretos, S.A. de C.V.,
CEMEX Operaciones México, S.A. de C.V., Cemex Innovation Holding Ltd. and CEMEX Corp.

2 Presented net of all notes repurchased by CEMEX. As of December 31, 2022, all repurchased notes have been canceled.
3 During 2022, pursuant to tender offers and other market transactions, CEMEX partially repurchased different series of its notes for an aggregate notional amount of

$1,172. The difference between the amount paid for such notes and the notional amount redeemed, net of transactional costs, generated a repurchase gain of $104,
recognized in the statement of operations for the year in the line item of “Financial income and other items, net.”

The maturities of consolidated long-term debt as of December 31, 2022, were as follows:

Bank loans Notes payable Total
$ 379 6 385
1,280 156 1,436
1,056 433 1,489
45 999 1,044
— 2,566 2,566
$ 2,760 4,160 6,920

As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX had the following lines of credit, of which, the only committed portion refers to the revolving credit facility under
the 2021 Credit Agreement, at annual interest rates ranging between 3.38% and 5.65%, depending on the negotiated currency:

Lines of credit Available
Other lines of credit in foreign sUDSIAIANIES L ..........cciiviiiiiii e $ 364 204
Other lines of Credit from DANKS L ...........couiiiiiiiiiiieeeccee e 556 356
Revolving credit facility 2021 Credit AQrEMENT ..........ooeiiiiiiieiire et 1,750 1,450
$ 2,670 2,010

1 Uncommitted amounts subject to the banks’ availability.
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Consolidated debt — continued
2021 Credit Agreement

On October 29, 2021, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. closed a Dollar-denominated $3,250 syndicated sustainability-linked credit agreement (the “2021 Credit
Agreement”), which proceeds were mainly used to fully repay its previous 2017 Facilities Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement originally consisted
of a $1,500 five-year amortizing term loan and a $1,750 five-year committed Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”). The 2021 Credit Agreement, which
was the first debt instrument issued by CEMEX under the Sustainability-linked Financing Framework (the “Framework™) aligned to CEMEX’s strategy
of CO2 emissions reduction and its ultimate vision of a carbon-neutral economy (note 2.4), resulted in a stronger liquidity position for CEMEX from a
risk and credit rating perspective. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, debt outstanding under the 2021 Credit Agreement amounted to $1,800 and
$1,500, respectively, which includes amounts owed under the RCF of $300 in 2022.

All tranches under the 2021 Credit Agreement include a margin over LIBOR! from 100 bps? to 175 bps, which is about 25 basis points lower on average
than that of the 2017 Facilities Agreement, depending on the ratio of debt to Operating EBITDA (“Consolidated Leverage Ratio) ranging from less
than 2.25 times in the lower end to greater than 3.25 times in the higher end. In addition, the annual performance in respect to the three metrics
referenced in the Framework may result in a total adjustment of the interest rate margin of plus or minus 5 basis points, in line with other sustainability-
linked loans from investment grade rated borrowers. The 2021 Credit Agreement includes the Loan Market Association® replacement screen rate
provisions in anticipation of the discontinuation of LIBOR rates.

Moreover, on December 23, 2021, CEMEX closed a Peso-denominated of Ps 5,231 syndicated sustainability-linked credit agreement (the “2021 Pesos
Credit Agreement”), under terms substantially similar to those of the 2021 Credit Agreement. The 2021 Pesos Credit Agreement has the same guarantor
structure as the 2021 Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, debt outstanding under the 2021 Pesos Credit Agreement amounted to Ps
5,231, equivalent to $268 and $255, respectively.

The balance of debt under the 2021 Credit Agreement, which debtor is CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., is guaranteed by CEMEX Concretos, S.A. de C.V.,
CEMEX Operaciones México, S.A. de C.V., Cemex Innovation Holding Ltd. and CEMEX Corp., same guarantor structure applicable in all senior
notes of the Parent Company.

Under the 2021 Credit Agreement, CEMEX has no limits or permitted baskets to incur capital expenditures, acquisitions, dividends, share buybacks
and sale of assets, among others, as long as certain limited circumstances, such as non-compliance with financial covenants or specific fundamental
changes, would not arise therefrom.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX was in compliance with the limitations, restrictions and financial covenants contained in the 2021 Credit
Agreement and in the 2021 Pesos Credit Agreement. CEMEX cannot assure that in the future it will be able to comply with such limitations, restrictions
and financial covenants, which non-compliance could result in an event of default, which could materially and adversely affect CEMEX’s business and
financial condition.

2017 Facilities Agreement

In July 2017, the Parent Company and certain subsidiaries entered into a multi-currency equivalent to $4,050 at the origination date syndicated facilities
agreement (the “2017 Facilities Agreement”), which proceeds were used to repay the $3,680 then outstanding under the former facilities agreement
and other debt. All tranches under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, which was outstanding until October 29, 2021, included a margin of LIBOR or
EURIBOR? from 125 bps to 475 bps, and TIIE? from 100 bps to 425 bps, depending on the Consolidated Leverage Ratio ranging from less than 2.50
times in the lower end to greater than 6.00 times in the higher end.

In the amendment process to the 2017 Facilities Agreement that became effective on October 13, 2020, among other aspects, CEMEX negotiated
modifications to the then applicable financial covenants considering the adverse effects arising during the COVID-19 Pandemic in exchange of a one-
time fee of $14 (35 bps), and agreed to certain temporary restrictions with respect to permitted capital expenditures, the extension of loans to third
parties, acquisitions and/or the use of proceeds from asset sales and fundraising activities, as well as the suspension of share repurchases whenever and
for as long as the Company failed to report a consolidated leverage ratio of 4.50 times or less.

During 2021 until October 29 and the years 2020 and 2019, under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, except when capital expenditures or acquisitions did
not exceed free cash flow generation or were funded with proceeds from equity issuances or asset disposals, CEMEX was required to: a) not exceed
an aggregate amount for capital expenditures of $1,500 per year, excluding certain capital expenditures, joint venture investments and acquisitions by
CHP and its subsidiaries and CLH and its subsidiaries, which had a separate limit of $500 (or its equivalent) each; and b) not exceed the amount for
permitted acquisitions and investments in joint ventures of $400 per year.

1 The London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) represent the variable rate used in international markets for debt denominated in Dollars. As of December 31, 2022
and 2021, 3-Month LIBOR rate was 4.77% and 0.21%, respectively. The contraction “bps” means basis points. One hundred basis points equal 1%. See note 17.5 for
developments on the undergoing interest rate benchmark reform.

2 The Euro Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) represent the variable rate used in international markets for debt denominated in Euros. The Tasa de Interés

Interbancaria de Equilibrio (“TIIE”) is the variable rate used for debt denominated in Pesos. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 3-Month EURIBOR rate was 2.13%
and -0.57%, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 28-day TIIE rate was 10.77% and 5.72%, respectively.
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Financial Covenants

Under the 2021 Credit Agreement, at the end of each quarter for each period of four consecutive quarters, CEMEX must comply with a maximum
Consolidated Leverage Ratio of 3.75 times throughout the life of the Credit Agreement, and a minimum ratio of Operating EBITDA to interest expense
(“Consolidated Coverage Ratio”) of 2.75 times. These financial ratios are calculated using the consolidated amounts under IFRS.

As of December 31, 2020, under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, CEMEX had to comply with a Consolidated Coverage Ratio equal or greater than 1.75
times and a Consolidated Leverage Ratio equal or lower than 6.25 times.

Consolidated Leverage Ratio

o Under the 2021 Credit Agreement, the ratio is calculated dividing “Consolidated Net Debt” by “Consolidated EBITDA” for the last twelve months
as of the calculation date. Consolidated Net Debt equals debt, as reported in the statement of financial position, net of cash and cash equivalents,
excluding any existing or future obligations under any securitization program, and any subordinated debt of CEMEX, adjusted for net mark-to-
market of all derivative instruments, as applicable, among other adjustments including in relation for business acquisitions or disposals.

« Under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, the ratio was calculated dividing “Funded Debt” by pro forma Operating EBITDA for the last twelve months
as of the calculation date including a permanent fixed adjustment from the adoption of IFRS 16. Funded Debt equals debt, as reported in the
statement of financial position, net of cash and cash equivalents, excluding components of liability of convertible subordinated notes, plus lease
liabilities, perpetual debentures and guarantees, plus or minus the fair value of derivative financial instruments, as applicable, among other
adjustments for business acquisitions or disposals.

Consolidated EBITDA: Under the 2021 Credit Agreement, represents Operating EBITDA for the last twelve months as of the calculation date, as
adjusted for any discontinued EBITDA, and solely for the purpose of calculating the Consolidated Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis for any material
disposition and/or material acquisition.

Pro forma Operating EBITDA: Under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, represented Operating EBITDA for the last twelve months as of the calculation
date, after IFRS 16 effects, plus the portion of Operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-month period of any significant acquisition made in the
period before its consolidation in CEMEX, minus Operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-month period of any significant disposal that had already
been liquidated.

Consolidated Coverage Ratio

« Under the 2021 Credit Agreement, the ratio is calculated by dividing Consolidated EBITDA by the financial expense for the last twelve months as
of the calculation date.

« Under the 2017 Facilities Agreement, the ratio was calculated by dividing pro forma Operating EBITDA by the financial expense for the last twelve
months as of the calculation date, both including IFRS 16 effects. Financial expense included coupons accrued on the perpetual debentures.

As of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, under the 2021 Credit Agreement and the 2017 Facilities Agreement, as applicable, the main consolidated
financial ratios were as follows:

Refers to the compliance limits and calculations that were

Consolidated financial ratios effective on each date
2022 2021 2020
LEVEIAgE FALIO .. .c.e vt Limit <=3.75 <=3.75 <=6.25
Calculation 2.84 2.73 4.07
COVEIAGE TALIO ...ttt Limit >=2.75 >=2.75 >=1.75
Calculation 6.27 5.99 3.82

CEMEZX’s ability to comply with these ratios may be affected by economic conditions and volatility in foreign exchange rates, as well as by overall
conditions in the financial and capital markets.

CEMEX will classify all of its non-current debt as current debt if: 1) as of any measurement date CEMEX fails to comply with the aforementioned
financial ratios; or 2) the cross default clause that is part of the 2021 Credit Agreement is triggered by the provisions contained therein; 3) as of any
date prior to a subsequent measurement date CEMEX expects not to be in compliance with such financial ratios in the absence of: a) amendments
and/or waivers covering the next succeeding 12 months; b) high probability that the violation will be cured during any agreed upon remediation period
and be sustained for the next succeeding 12 months; and/or ¢) an agreement to refinance the relevant debt on a long-term basis. As a result of such
classification of debt as current for noncompliance with the agreed upon financial ratios or, in such event, the absence of a waiver of compliance or a
negotiation thereof, after certain procedures upon CEMEX’s lenders’ request, they would call for the acceleration of payments due under the 2021
Credit Agreement. That scenario would have a material adverse effect on CEMEX’s operating results, liquidity or financial position.
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17.2) OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, other financial obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position were detailed as follows:

2022 2021
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
I LBASES ettt e $ 258 918 1,176 3 265 911 1,176
Il. Liabilities secured with accounts receivable .. 678 - 678 602 — 602
$ 936 918 1854 $ 867 911 1,778

. Leases (notes 2.7, 8.1, 15.2 and 24.1)

CEMEX has several operating and administrative assets under lease contracts (note 15.2). As mentioned in note 2.7, CEMEX applies the recognition

exemption for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. Changes in the balance of lease financial liabilities during 2022, 2021 and 2020 were
as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Lease financial liability at beginning OF YEar........ccooiiiiiiii e $ 1,176 1,260 1,306
AAItioNS FrOM NEW TEASES ......veuieeiirieieieeee et 296 227 213
Reductions from PAYMENTS ........ccoiriiiiieie e (276) (313) (276)
Cancellations and liability remeasurements 7 27 9)
Foreign currency translation and accretion effectS ...........coocovveiiiiniciicse e (27) (25) 26
Lease financial liability at @nd O YEAT ........ooiiiie e $ 1,176 1,176 1,260
As of December 31, 2022, the maturities of non-current lease financial liabilities are as follows:
Total
$ 194
151
109
81
383
$ 918

Total cash outflows for leases in 2022, 2021 and 2020, including the interest expense portion as disclosed at note 8.1, were $342, $381 and $350,
respectively. Future payments associated with these contracts are presented in note 24.1.

I1. Liabilities secured with accounts receivable

As mentioned in note 10, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the funded amounts of sale of trade accounts receivable under securitization programs
and/or factoring programs with recourse of $678 and $602, respectively, were recognized within the line item “Other financial obligations™ in the

statement of financial position. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the net cash flows generated by (used in) these securitization
programs were $79, $25 and $(26), respectively.
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17.3) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and liabilities

The book values of cash, trade receivables, other accounts receivable, trade payables, other accounts payable and accrued expenses, as well as short-
term debt, approximate their corresponding estimated fair values due to the revolving nature of these financial assets and liabilities in the short-term.

The estimated fair value of CEMEX’s non-current debt is level 1 and level 2 and is either based on estimated market prices for such or similar
instruments, considering interest rates currently available for CEMEX to negotiate debt with the same maturities, or determined by discounting future
cash flows using market-based interest rates currently available to CEMEX.

The fair values determined by CEMEX for its derivative financial instruments are level 2. There is no direct measure for the risk of CEMEX or its
counterparties in connection with such instruments. Therefore, the risk factors applied for CEMEX’s assets and liabilities originated by the valuation of
such derivatives were extrapolated from publicly available risk discounts for other public debt instruments of CEMEX or of its counterparties.

The estimated fair value of derivative instruments fluctuates over time and is determined by measuring the effect of future relevant economic variables
according to the yield curves shown in the market as of the reporting date. These values should be analyzed in relation to the fair values of the underlying
transactions and as part of CEMEX’s overall exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The notional amounts of derivative
instruments do not represent amounts of cash exchanged by the parties, and consequently, there is no direct measure of CEMEX’s exposure to the use
of these derivatives. The amounts exchanged are determined based on the notional amounts and other terms included in the derivative instruments.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities and their respective fair values were as follows:

2022 2021
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments (notes 14.2 and 17.4) .........cccoco..... $ 57 57 % 22 22
Other investments and non-current accounts receivable (hote 14.2) . 237 237 221 221

$ 294 294 % 243 243
Financial liabilities
Long-term debt (NOtE 17.1)....cviveiieieeesec e $ 6,920 6,517 $ 7,306 7,629
Other financial obligations (Note 17.2) ........cccceveieiinieiireneneeeeae 918 788 911 919
Derivative financial instruments (notes 17.4 and 18.2) .........ccccoeee.. 2 2 30 30

$ 7,840 7,307 $ 8,247 8,578

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, assets and liabilities carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position are included in the
following fair value hierarchy categories (note 2.7):

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (notes 14.2 and 17.4) ........ccccoceenne. $ - 57 - 57
Investments in strategic equity securities (note 14.2) ....... 5 - - 5
Other investments at fair value through earnings (note 14.2) ............... — 3 - 3
$ 5 60 — 65
Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (notes 17.4 and 18.2) ........ccccceveueee. $ — 2 — 2
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (notes 14.2 and 17.4) ........cccceevrvne. $ - 22 - 22
Investments in strategic equity securities (note 14.2) ........c.cccvvvrrenne. 14 - - 14
Other investments at fair value through earnings (note 14.2)................ — 3 - 3
$ 14 25 — 39
Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (notes 17.4 and 18.2) ..........cccccveneee. $ — 30 — 30
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17.4) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

During the reported periods, in compliance with the guidelines established by its Risk Management Committee, the restrictions set forth by its debt
agreements and its hedging strategy (note 17.5), CEMEX held derivative instruments with the objectives explained in the following paragraphs.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the notional amounts and fair values of CEMEX’s derivative instruments were as follows:

2022 2021
Notional amount Fair value Notional amount Fair value
I, Net investment NEAGES ........covrveiriiirese e $ 837 (48) 1,511 3
1. INTEreSt rate SWAPS.......coirrirereieiieie sttt 1,018 54 1,005 (18)
1. Fuel price Nedging .........ccovveiieiniineiseeese e 136 8 145 30
V. Foreign exchange OptionS..........ccoveveiineiicensccee e 500 18 250 6
$ 2,491 32 2,911 21

The caption “Financial income and other items, net” in the statements of operations includes certain gains and losses related to the recognition of
changes in fair values of the derivative financial instruments during the applicable period, which represented net losses of $5 in 2022, of $6 in 2021
and of $17 in 2020.

l. Net investment hedges

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there are Dollar/Peso foreign exchange forward contracts with target tenor ranging from 1 to 18 months for notional
amounts of $738 and $761, respectively. CEMEX has designated this program as a hedge of CEMEX’s net investment in Pesos, pursuant to which
changes in fair market value of these instruments are recognized as part of other comprehensive income in equity. For the years 2022, 2021 and 2020,
these contracts generated losses of $96, losses of $4 and gains of $53, respectively, which partially offset currency translation results in each year
recognized in equity generated from CEMEX’s net assets denominated in Pesos due to the appreciation of the Peso in 2022 and the depreciation of the
Peso in 2021 and 2020.

In addition, as of December 31, 2022, as part of CEMEX’s Peso net investment hedge strategy, there are additional Dollar/Peso capped forwards,
structured with option contracts, for a notional amount of $98. These capped forwards contain limits on the gain that the instrument may generate. Any
changes in fair market value of such capped forward contracts are also recognized as part of other comprehensive income in equity. For the year 2022,
these contracts generated losses of $2, which partially offset currency translation results recognized in equity generated from CEMEX’s net assets
denominated in Pesos due to the appreciation of the Peso in 2022.

Moreover, as of December 31, 2021, CEMEX held Dollar/Euro cross-currency swap contracts for a notional amount of $750, which were entered into
in November 2021. During the year 2022, CEMEX unwound these instruments fixing a settlement gain of $80. CEMEX designated the foreign
exchange forward component of these instruments as a hedge of CEMEX’s net investment in Euros, pursuant to which changes in fair market of such
forward contracts were recognized as part of other comprehensive income in equity, while changes in fair value of the interest rate swap component
were recognized within the line item of “Financial income and other items, net.” For the years 2022 and 2021, these contracts generated gains of $70
and $10 recognized in equity, which partially offset currency translation results recognized in equity generated from CEMEX’s net assets denominated
in Euros due to the depreciation of the Euro in 2022 and 2021 against the Dollar, as well as gains of $8 in 2022 and losses of $1 in 2021 related to the
exchange of interest rates in the statement of operations.

1. Interest rate swap contracts

For accounting purposes under IFRS, CEMEX designates interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges, to fix interest rate payments in relation to an
equivalent amount of floating interest rate debt; therefore, changes in fair value of these contracts are initially recognized as part of other comprehensive
income in equity and are subsequently reclassified to financial expense as the interest expense of the related floating interest rate debt is accrued in the
statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX held interest rate swaps for a notional amount of $750, in both periods, with a fair market value
representing assets of $39 in 2022 and liabilities of $30 in 2021, negotiated in June 2018 to fix interest payments of existing bank loans bearing Dollar
floating rates. During September 2020, CEMEX amended one of the interest rate swap contracts to reduce the weighted average fixed rate from 3.05%
to 2.56% in exchange of a payment of $14 and, in November 2021, CEMEX unwound a portion of its interest rate swap in exchange of a payment of
$5, recognized within “Financial income and other items, net” in the statement of operations. In November 2021, these contracts were extended with a
new maturity date in November 2026. For the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, changes in fair value of these contracts generated gains of $69, gains of $23
and losses of $9, respectively, recognized in other comprehensive income. Moreover, during the same periods, CEMEX recycled results from equity
to the line item of “Financial expenses” representing an expense of $2 in 2022, expense of $22 in 2021 and expense of $20 in 2020.
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Derivative financial instruments — continued

In addition, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX held interest rate swaps for a notional of $268 and $255, respectively, negotiated to fix interest
payments of existing bank loans referenced to Peso floating rates maturing in November 2023, which fair value represented an asset of $15 in 2022
and of $12 in 2021. During December 2021, CEMEX partially unwound its interest rate swap receiving $3 recognized within “Financial income and
other items, net” in the statement of operations. CEMEX designated these contracts as cash flow hedges, pursuant to which, changes in fair value are
initially recognized as part of other comprehensive income in equity and are subsequently allocated through financial expense as interest expense on
the related bank loans is accrued. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 changes in fair value of these contracts generated gains of
$3, gains of $15 and losses of $3, respectively, recognized in other comprehensive income. Moreover, during the same periods, CEMEX recycled
results from equity to the line item of “Financial expenses” representing gains of $7 in 2022, expense of $0.3 in 2021 and expense of $0.1 in 2020.

In addition, as part of a forecasted debt issuance expected by mid-2023, during March, 2022, CEMEX entered into interest rate swap lock contracts for
a notional of $300. CEMEX designated these interest rate swap lock contracts as a cash flow hedge of the forecasted debt transaction. During 2022,
changes in fair value of these contracts generated gains of $33 recognized in other comprehensive income. During September 2022, CEMEX early
settled these interest rate swap lock contracts and fixed the gain of $33, which will decrease the financial expense commencing when the debt is issued.
Otherwise, the amount will remain in equity.

I1l.  Fuel price hedging

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX maintained swap and option contracts negotiated to hedge the price of certain fuels, primarily diesel and
gas, in several operations for aggregate notional amounts of $136 and $145, respectively, with an estimated aggregate fair value representing assets of
$8 in 2022 and of $30 in 2021. By means of these contracts, for its own consumption only, CEMEX either fixed the price of these fuels, or entered into
option contracts to limit the prices to be paid for these fuels, over certain volumes representing a portion of the estimated consumption of such fuels in
several operations. These contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges of diesel or gas consumption, and as such, changes in fair value are
recognized temporarily through other comprehensive income and are recycled to operating expenses as the related fuel volumes are consumed. For the
years 2022, 2021 and 2020, changes in fair value of these contracts recognized in other comprehensive income represented losses of $25, gains of $22
and $7, respectively. Moreover, during the same periods, CEMEX recycled results from equity to the line items of “Cost of sales” and “Operating
expenses”, as applicable, representing gains of $88 in 2022, gains of $36 in 2021 and an expense of $24 in 2020.

IV.  Foreign exchange options

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEX held Dollar/Peso call spread option contracts for a notional amount of $500 and $250, respectively. Such
contracts mature between September 2024 and December 2024 and were negotiated to maintain the value in Dollars over an equivalent amount over
revenue generated in Pesos. Changes in the fair value of these instruments, generated losses of $13 in 2022 and of losses of $5 in 2021, recognized
within “Financial income and other items, net” in the statement of operations.

Other derivative financial instruments negotiated during the periods

During 2020, CEMEX negotiated Dollar/Peso, Dollar/Euro and Dollar/British Pound foreign exchange forward contracts to sell Dollars and Pesos and
buy Euros and British Pounds, negotiated in connection with the voluntary prepayment and currency exchanges under the 2017 Facilities Agreement,
for a combined notional amount of $397. For the year 2020, the aggregate results from positions entered and settled, generated losses of $15 recognized
within “Financial income and other items, net” in the statements of operation. Additionally, during 2020, CEMEX negotiated Dollar/Euro foreign
exchange forward contracts to sell Dollars and buy Euros, negotiated in connection with the redemption of the 4.625% April 2024 Notes. For the year
2020, the aggregate results of these instruments from positions entered and settled, generated gains of $3, recognized within “Financial income and
other items, net” in the statement of operations.

Moreover, in connection with the proceeds from the sale of certain assets in the United Kingdom (note 4.2), the Company negotiated British Pound/Euro
foreign exchange forward contracts to sell British Pounds and buy Euros for a notional amount of $186. CEMEX settled such derivatives on August 5,
2020. During the year 2020, changes in the fair value of these instruments and their settlement generated gains of $9 recognized within “Financial
income and other items, net” in the statement of operations.
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17.5) RISK MANAGEMENT

Enterprise risks may arise from any of the following situations: i) the potential change in the value of assets owned or reasonably anticipated to be
owned, ii) the potential change in value of liabilities incurred or reasonably anticipated to be incurred, iii) the potential change in value of services
provided, purchase or reasonably anticipated to be provided or purchased in the ordinary course of business, iv) the potential change in the value of
assets, services, inputs, products or commodities owned, produced, manufactured, processed, merchandised, leased or sold or reasonably anticipated
to be owned, produced, manufactured, processed, merchandised, leased or sold in the ordinary course of business, or v) any potential change in the
value arising from interest rate or foreign exchange rate exposures arising from current or anticipated assets or liabilities.

In the ordinary course of business, CEMEX is exposed to commodities risk, including the exposure from inputs such as fuel, coal, petcoke, fly-ash,
gypsum and other industrial materials which are commonly used by CEMEX in the production process, and expose CEMEX to variations in prices of
the underlying commadities. To manage this and other risks, such as credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity risk and liquidity risk,
considering the guidelines set forth by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, which represent CEMEX’s risk management framework and that are
supervised by several Committees, CEMEX’s management establishes specific policies that determine strategies oriented to obtain natural hedges to
the extent possible, such as avoiding customer concentration on a determined market or aligning the currencies portfolio in which CEMEX incurred its
debt, with those in which CEMEX generates its cash flows.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, these strategies are sometimes complemented with the use of derivative financial instruments as mentioned in note
17.4, such as the commodity forward contracts on fuels negotiated to fix the price of these underlying commaodities.

The main risk categories are mentioned below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss faced by CEMEX if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument does not meet its contractual obligations
and originates mainly from trade accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
balance of financial assets. Management has developed policies for the authorization of credit to customers. Exposure to credit risk is monitored
constantly according to the payment behavior of debtors. Credit is assigned on a customer-by-customer basis and is subject to assessments which
consider the customers’ payment capacity, as well as past behavior regarding due dates, balances past due and delinquent accounts. In cases deemed
necessary, CEMEX’s management requires guarantees from its customers and financial counterparties regarding financial assets.

The Company’s management has established a policy of low risk tolerance which analyzes the creditworthiness of each new client individually before
offering the general conditions of payment terms and delivery. The review includes external ratings, when references are available, and in some cases
bank references. Thresholds of purchase limits are established for each client, which represent the maximum purchase amounts that require different
levels of approval. Customers that do not meet the levels of solvency requirements imposed by CEMEX can only carry out transactions by paying cash
in advance. As of December 31, 2022, considering CEMEX’s best estimate of potential expected losses based on the ECL model developed by CEMEX
(note 10), the allowance for expected credit losses was $91.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates,
which only affects CEMEX s results if the fixed-rate long-term debt is measured at fair value. All of CEMEX’s fixed-rate long-term debt is carried at
amortized cost and therefore is not subject to interest rate risk. CEMEX’s accounting exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to its long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates, which, if such rates were to increase, may adversely affect its financing cost and
the results for the period.

Additionally, there is an opportunity cost for continuing to pay a determined fixed interest rate when the market rates have decreased, and the entity
may obtain improved interest rate conditions in a new loan or debt issuance. CEMEX manages its interest rate risk by balancing its exposure to fixed
and floating rates while attempting to reduce its interest costs. CEMEX could renegotiate the conditions or repurchase the debt, particularly when the
NPV of the estimated future benefits from the interest rate reduction are expected to exceed the cost and commissions that would have to be paid in
such renegotiation or repurchase of debt.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 21% and 10%, respectively, of CEMEX’s long-term debt was denominated in floating rates at a weighted-average
interest rate of LIBOR plus 148 basis points in 2022 and 150 basis points in 2021. These figures reflect the effect of interest rate swaps held by CEMEX
during 2022 and 2021. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, if interest rates at that date had been 0.5% higher, with all other variables held constant,
CEMEX’s net income for 2022 and 2021 would have reduced by $13 and $7, respectively, because of higher interest expense on variable rate
denominated debt. This analysis does not include the effect of interest rate swaps held by CEMEX during 2022 and 2021.
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Risk management — continued
Managing interest rate benchmark reform

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank offered rates
(IBORs) with alternative secured rates (referred to as the “IBOR reform”). CEMEX has exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments that will be
replaced or reformed as part of these market-wide initiatives. In anticipation of this transition, the 2021 Credit Agreement already incorporates a
benchmark rate replacement mechanism. Moreover, CEMEX’s derivative instrument contracts contain standard definitions to incorporate robust
fallbacks for instruments linked to certain IBORs, with the changes coming into effect from January, 2021. From that date, all new cleared and non-
cleared derivatives that reference such definitions include the fallbacks. As of December 31, 2022, with the exemption of certain instruments that have
migrated automatically to the alternative secured rates under the fallback protocol, CEMEX still has derivatives instruments, when applicable, linked
to LIBOR rates; such debt and derivative instruments will be orderly migrated to the alternative secured rates in due course. CEMEX does not expect
the migration spreads that may increase its financial expense to be significant.

CEMEX’s respective risk management committee monitors and manages the Company’s transition to alternative secured rates. The committee
evaluates the extent to which contracts reference IBOR cash flows, whether such contracts will need to be amended as a result of IBOR reform and how
to manage communication about IBOR reform with counterparties. The committee reports to the Parent Company’s Board of Directors quarterly and
collaborates with other business functions as needed. It provides periodic reports to management of interest rate risk and risks arising from IBOR reform.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. CEMEX’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to its operating activities. Due to its geographic
diversification, CEMEX’s revenues and costs are generated and settled in various countries and in different currencies. For the year ended December 31,
2022, 21% of CEMEX’s revenues, before eliminations resulting from consolidation, were generated in Mexico, 27% in the United States, 5% in the
United Kingdom, 4% in France, 3% in Germany, 2% in Poland, 2% in Spain, 2% in the Philippines, 5% in Israel and 4% in the Rest of EMEAA region,
2% in Colombia, 1% in Panama, 2% in Dominican Republic, 2% in Caribbean TCL, 2% in the Rest of SCA&C, and 16% in CEMEXs other operations.

Foreign exchange results incurred through monetary assets or liabilities in a currency different from its functional currency are recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations. Exchange fluctuations associated with foreign currency indebtedness directly related to the acquisition of foreign
entities and exchange fluctuations in related parties’ long-term balances denominated in foreign currency that are not expected to be settled in the
foreseeable future, are recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, excluding from the sensitivity
analysis the impact of translating the net assets denominated in currencies different from CEMEX’s presentation currency, considering a hypothetic
10% strengthening of the Dollar against the Peso, with all other variables held constant, CEMEX’s net income for 2022 would have decreased by $42,
as a result of higher foreign exchange losses on CEMEX’s Dollar-denominated net monetary liabilities held in consolidated entities with other
functional currencies. Conversely, a hypothetic 10% weakening of the Dollar against the Peso would have the opposite effect.

As of December 31, 2022, 79% of CEMEXs financial debt was Dollar-denominated, 14% was Euro-denominated, 4% was Peso-denominated, 2%
was Philippine Peso-denominated and 1% was in other currencies. Therefore, CEMEX had a foreign currency exposure arising mainly from the Dollar-
denominated versus the several currencies in which CEMEX’s revenues are settled in most countries in which it operates. CEMEX cannot guarantee
that it will generate sufficient revenues in Dollars from its operations to service these obligations. As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX had implemented
a derivative financing hedging strategy using foreign exchange options for a notional amount of $500 to hedge the value in Dollar terms of revenues
generated in Pesos to partially address this foreign currency risk (note 17.4). Complementarily, CEMEX may negotiate other derivative financing
hedging strategies in the future if either of its debt portfolio currency mix, interest rate mix, market conditions and/or expectations changes.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, CEMEXs consolidated net monetary assets (liabilities) by currency are as follows:

2022
Mexico United States EMEAA SCA&C Others? Total

Monetary assets ..o $ 960 650 1,315 204 - 3,129

Monetary liabilities. ..o, 1,951 2,559 2,887 519 7,174 15,090

Net monetary assets (liabilities)................. $ (991) (1,909) (1,572) (315) (7,174) (11,961)
Out of which:

$ 8 (1,909) 12 (42) (5,633) (7,564)

(999) - - - (72) (1,071)

- - (632) - (1,183) (1,815)

- - (931) - 171 (760)

— — (21) (273) (457) (751)

$ (991) (1,909) (1,572) (315) (7,174) (11,961)
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Risk management — Foreign currency risk — continued

2021
Mexico United States EMEAA SCA&C Others! Total

Monetary assetS ..o, $ 873 605 1,255 262 193 3,188

Monetary liabilities 1,644 2,701 3,279 659 7,544 15,827

Net monetary assets (liabilities) $ (771) (2,096) (2,024) (397) (7,351) (12,639)
Out of which:

$ (166) (2,096) 23 (87) (6,254) (8,580)

(601) - - - @17 (618)

- - (762) 1 (384) (1,145)

- - (1,191) - 28 (1,163)

4) - (94) (311) (724) (1,133)

$ (771) (2,096) (2,024) (397) (7,351) (12,639)

1 Includes the Parent Company, CEMEX’s financing subsidiaries, among other entities.

Considering that the Parent Company’s functional currency for all assets, liabilities and transactions associated with its financial and holding company
activities is the Dollar (note 2.5), there is foreign currency risk associated with the translation into Dollars of subsidiaries’ net assets denominated in
different currencies. When the Dollar appreciates, the value of these net assets denominated in other currencies decreases in terms of Dollars, generating
negative foreign currency translation and reducing stockholders’ equity. Conversely, when the Dollar depreciates, the value of such net assets
denominated in other currencies would increase in terms of Dollars generating the opposite effect. CEMEX has implemented a Dollar/Peso foreign
exchange forward contracts program to hedge foreign currency translation in connection with its net assets denominated in Pesos (note 17.4).

Equity risk

Equity risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market price of CEMEX,
S.A.B. de C.V.’s and/or third party’s shares. CEMEX has negotiated equity forward contracts on third-party shares. Under these equity derivative
instruments, there is a direct relationship from the change in the fair value of the derivative with the change in price of the underlying share. All changes in
fair value of such derivative instruments are recognized in the income statement as part of “Financial income and other items, net.” During the reported
periods effects were not significant. As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX does not have derivative financial instruments based on the price of the Parent
Company’s shares or any third-party’s shares.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that CEMEX will not have sufficient funds available to meet its obligations. In addition to cash flows provided by its operating
activities, to meet CEMEXs overall liquidity needs for operations, servicing debt and funding capital expenditures and acquisitions, CEMEX relies on
cost-cutting and operating improvements to optimize capacity utilization and maximize profitability, as well as borrowing under credit facilities,
proceeds of debt and equity offerings, and proceeds from asset sales. CEMEX is exposed to risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
prices and currency controls, interest rates, inflation, governmental spending, social instability and other political, economic and/or social developments
in the countries in which it operates, any one of which may materially affect CEMEX’s results and reduce cash from operations. The maturities of
CEMEX’s contractual obligations are included in note 24.1.

As of December 31, 2022, current liabilities, which included $987 of current debt and other financial obligations, exceed current assets by $1,020. It is
noted that as part of its operating strategy implemented by management, the Company operates with a negative working capital balance. For the year
ended December 31, 2022, CEMEX generated net cash flows provided by operating activities of $1,475. The Company’s management considers that
CEMEX will generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the following twelve months to meet its current obligations and trusts in its proven
capacity to continually refinance and replace its current obligations, which will enable CEMEX to meet any liquidity risk in the short-term. In addition,
as of December 31, 2022, CEMEX has committed lines of credit under the revolving credit facility in its 2021 Credit Agreement for a total amount of
$1,750. As of December 31, 2022, the disposed amount is $300.
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18) OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
18.1) OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated other current liabilities were as follows:

2022 2021
PIOVISIONS L ...ttt bbb bbbt $ 620 620
INEEIESE PAYADIE. ...ttt bbbt bbbt b e b bt bt e et R e b e bbb nne s 96 92
Other accounts payable and acCrued EXPENSES Z...........c..cuieririiiirerieei e 216 233
Contract liabilities with cUStOMErs (N0 3)3.........ccoviiiiirerr s 293 257
$ 1,225 1,202

1 Current provisions primarily consist of accrued employee benefits, insurance payments, accruals for legal assessments and others. These amounts are revolving in
nature and are expected to be settled and replaced by similar amounts within the next 12 months.

2 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, includes $6 and $7, respectively, of the current portion of other taxes payable in Mexico.

3 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, contract liabilities with customers included $253 and $219, respectively, of advances received from customers, as well as in
2022 and 2021 the current portion of deferred revenues in connection with advances under long-term clinker supply agreements of $5 and $4, respectively.

18.2) OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, consolidated other non-current liabilities were as follows:

2022 2021
AsSet retirement ODIIGATIONS L ..ottt b s $ 465 553
Accruals for legal assessments and other responsibilitieS? ...........cccciveiiiiiieccee e 41 48
Non-current liabilities for valuation of derivative iNStTUMENTS .........c.ccceiviiiiiieeie e 2 30
ENVIroNmMENtal HADTILIES 3 ..ottt ettt ettt s st e st et et s et s e et e st e e e s e et e et st et sae s seeesseeeeseanas 233 276
Other non-current liabilities and ProVISIONS > .........cocvoviiiviciiieeeee et 324 391
$ 1,065 1,298

1 Provisions for asset retirement include future estimated costs for demolition, cleaning and reforestation of production sites at the end of their operation, which are
initially recognized against the related assets and are depreciated over their estimated useful life.

2 Provisions for legal claims and other responsibilities include items related to tax contingencies.

3 Environmental liabilities include future estimated costs arising from legal or constructive obligations, related to cleaning, reforestation and other remedial actions to
remediate damage caused to the environment. The expected average period to settle these obligations is greater than 15 years.

4 As of December 31, 2021, includes $6 of the non-current portion of taxes payable in Mexico.

5 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the balance includes deferred revenues of $27 and $32, respectively, that are amortized to the income statement as deliverables
are fulfilled over the maturity of long-term clinker supply agreements.

Changes in consolidated other current and non-current liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, were as follows:

2022
Asset Accruals Valuation of
retirement Environmental for legal derivative Other liabilities
obligations liabilities proceedings instruments  and provisions Total 2021
Balance at beginning of period.......... $ 553 276 48 37 1,043 1,957 1,756
Additions or increase in estimates . 22 1 11 25 211 270 595
Releases or decrease in estimates .. (119) 37) a7 (29) (284) (486) (301)
Business combinations .................. 6 - - - - 6 -
Reclassifications............c.cccoeiinnes 34 - - - (26) 8 4
Accretion eXpense ...........cccceeeae. (24) - (4) - (30) (58) (28)
Foreign currency translation ......... ) (M 3 17 23 29 (69)
Balance at end of period..................... $ 465 233 41 50 937 1,726 1,957
Out of which:
Current provisions ...........cooveveerenne. $ — — — 48 613 661 659
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19) PENSIONS AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution pension plans

The consolidated costs of defined contribution plans for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $59, $54 and $48, respectively.
CEMEX contributes periodically the amounts offered by the pension plan to the employee’s individual accounts, not retaining any remaining liability
as of the financial statements’ date.

Defined benefit pension plans

Most of CEMEX’s defined benefit plans have been closed to new participants for several years. Actuarial results related to pension and other post-
employment benefits are recognized in earnings and/or in “Other comprehensive income” for the period in which they are generated, as appropriate.
For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the effects of pension plans and other post-employment benefits are summarized as follows:

Pensions Other benefits Total
Net period cost (income): 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

Recorded in operating costs and expenses
SEIVICE COSE ...t $ 8 9 9 4 3 2 12 12 11
Past service cost .........c.cooveneee. 1 - (2) - - 1 1 - (1)
Settlements and curtailments — (1) — — 1) (1) (2) (1)

9 8 7 4 2 2 13 10 9
Recorded in other financial expenses
NEL INTErESE COSE ... 23 26 27 6 5 5 29 30 32
Recorded in other comprehensive income
Actuarial (gains) losses for the period .........c.ccccoevenierinnne. (166)  (257) 181 (10) (6) 18 (176)  (263) 199

$  (134) (223) 215 1 25 (134) (223) 240

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the reconciliation of the actuarial benefits’ obligations and pension plan assets, are presented as follows:

Pensions Other benefits Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Change in benefits obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of the period ......... $ 2,685 2,928 98 105 2,783 3,033
Service cost 8 9 4 3 12 12
Interest cost 66 62 6 5 72 67
ACtUArIal QAINS.....c.viviiieie e (632) (134) (10) (6) (642) (140)
Initial valuation from new plan............cccccoeeviveneneiniciesee, 13 - - - 13 -
Reduction from disposal of assets *..........ccccoceevereiiierenriennnn. (6) - - - (6) -
Settlements and curtailments - 1) - 1) - 2)
Plan amendments ..................... 1 - - - 1 -
Benefits paid .........ccccooriiennen. (130) (132) 7) ) (137) (139)
Foreign currency translation (194) (47) 1 (1) (193) (48)
Projected benefit obligation at end of the period .................... 1,811 2,685 92 98 1,903 2,783
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the period ............... 1,783 1,693 1 1 1,784 1,694
REtUrn on plan @SSEtS ........ccoveiieinieireesee e 43 36 - - 43 36
Actuarial (10SS€S) gaiNS.......c.covciiivirieieiee e (466) 123 - - (466) 123
Employer contributions ..........cccoeverierneneneinsenese e 98 78 7 7 105 85
Initial valuation from new plan............cccccooiiininiiecnicnene, 13 - - - 13 -
Benefits Paid .......cccoviiiiei s (132) (132) 7) ) (139) (139)
Foreign currency translation .........c.cccoveievieneinneinees (132) (15) — - (132) (15)
Fair value of plan assets at end of the period ...........c.ccocvnee. 1,207 1,783 1 1 1,208 1,784
Net projected liability in the statement of financial position.. $ 604 902 91 97 695 999

1 In connection with the sale of Neoris’ 65% stake as described in note 4.2.
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Pensions and post-employment benefits — continued

For the years 2022, 2021 and 2020, actuarial (gains) losses for the period were generated by the following main factors as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Actuarial (gains) 10sSes due t0 EXPEIIENCE ......c..cvieiiiririeiee ettt $ 96 (87) 1
Actuarial (gains) losses due to demographic assumptions.........cccccoererereienienerene e 2) 20 18
Actuarial (gains) losses due financial asSUMPLIONS..........c..coiirieiiiineiee e (270) (196) 180
$ (176) (263) 199

In 2022, net actuarial gains due to financial assumptions were mainly driven by a general increase in the discount rates applicable to the calculation of
the benefits’ obligations mainly in the United Kingdom, the United States, Germany, and Mexico, as market interest rates increased in 2022 as compared
to 2021. partially offset by actual returns in plan assets lower than estimated for a total of $466, of which $373 refers to the United Kingdom, $52 to
the United States and $19 to Mexico. In addition, there were significant increase effects in the net projected liability related to adjustments due to
experience for a total of $96, mainly in the United Kingdom for $77 and Germany for $13. In 2022, the net actuarial gains were also driven by a gain

in demographic assumptions of $2.

In 2021, net actuarial gains due to financial assumptions were mainly driven by moderate increases in the discount rates applicable to the calculation
of the benefits’ obligations in the United Kingdom, the United States, Germany and Mexico, as market interest rates increased in 2021 as compared to
2020. In addition, there were significant reduction effects in the net projected liability related to adjustments due to experience in the United Kingdom,
the United States and Germany for a combined amount of $81. Moreover, the net projected liability significantly decreased by actual returns in plan
assets higher than estimated returns for a total of $122, of which $86 refers to the United Kingdom, $13 to the United States and $23 to other countries,

partially offset by actuarial losses due to demographic assumption of $20, of which $12 refers to the United Kingdom.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, based on the hierarchy of fair values, plan assets are detailed as follows:

2022 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
S $ 38 - - 38 $ 33 - - 33
Investments in corporate bonds ...........cccceveeviennne 7 289 - 296 1 432 - 433
Investments in government bonds .............ccccceenee 90 266 — 356 85 393 — 478
Total fixed-income securities...............c........ 135 555 - 690 119 825 - 944
Investment in marketable securities..............c........ 226 42 - 268 380 109 - 489
Other investments and private funds....................... 91 42 117 250 163 88 100 351
Total variable-income securities................... 317 84 117 518 543 197 100 840
Total plan assets.......cooveireernirnenseine $ 452 639 117 1,208 $ 662 1,022 100 1,784

The most significant assumptions used in the determination of the benefit obligation were as follows:

2022 2021
United United Range of rates in United United Rates ranges in
Mexico States Kingdom other countries Mexico States Kingdom other countries
Discount rates........ccceevrererieneienncas 10.50% 5.50% 5.00% 3.6%-13.0% 9.25% 2.90% 1.90% 0.4%-9.3%
Rate of return on plan assets ... 10.50% 5.50% 5.00% 3.6%-13.0% 9.25% 2.90% 1.90% 0.4%-9.3%
Rate of salary increases ................... 4.50% — 3.25% 2.5%—7.3% 4.50% — 3.35% 2.3%—-7.3%

As of December 31, 2022, estimated payments for pensions and other post-employment benefits over the next 10 years were as follows:
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Pensions and post-employment benefits — continued

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the aggregate projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) for pension plans and other post-employment benefits and the
plan assets by country were as follows:

2022 2021
PBO Assets Deficit PBO Assets Deficit
MEXICO...cvviiriecie ettt $ 220 25 195 $ 200 38 162
United STatesS......ccvveveivieiecieceeee e 194 166 28 270 226 44
United Kingdom..........cccoeveviniiiicccenn, 1,062 791 271 1,794 1,273 521
GeIMANY ...oivieiiisiieie et 134 6 128 180 7 173
Other COUNLIIES ......cveevveeeveeeieecree e 293 220 73 339 240 99
$ 1,903 1,208 695 $ 2,783 1,784 999

1 Applicable regulation in the United Kingdom requires to maintain plan assets at a level similar to that of the obligations. Beginning in 2012, the pension fund started
to receive annual dividends from a limited partnership (the “Partnership™), whose assets, transferred by CEMEX UK of an approximate value of $553, are leased
back to CEMEX UK. The Partnership is owned, controlled and consolidated by CEMEX UK. The annual dividends received by the pension funds in 2022, 2021 and
2020, which increase at a 5% rate per year, were £22.3 ($30), £22.3 ($30) and £21.3 ($29), respectively. In 2037, on expiry of the arrangement, the Partnership will
be terminated and under the terms of the agreement, the remaining assets will be distributed to CEMEX UK. Distributions from the Partnership to the pension fund
are considered as employer contributions to plan assets in the period in which they occur.

In some countries, CEMEX has established health care benefits for retired personnel limited to a certain number of years after retirement. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the projected benefits obligation related to these benefits was $60 and $69, respectively, included within other benefits
liability. The medical inflation rates used to determine the projected benefits obligation of these benefits in 2022 and 2021 for Mexico were 7% and
7% respectively, for Puerto Rico 5.4% and 6.4%, respectively, for the United Kingdom were 6.8% and 6.9%, respectively, and for TCL was a rate
range between 5.0% and 13.0% and 5.0% and 10.5%, respectively.

Significant events of settlements or curtailments related to employees’ pension benefits and other post-employment benefits during the reported periods
In 2022, there were no significant settlements or curtailments related to employees’ pension benefits and other post-employment benefits.

In 2021, as an effect of a sale of assets in France (note 4.2), there was a curtailment gain of $1 in its pension plan recognized in the statement of
operations for the period. In addition, one of the participating companies in other postretirement benefits of TCL ceased operations in February 2021,
resulting in a curtailment gain in other postretirement benefits of $1 reflected in the statement of operations for the period.

During 2020, in connection with the divestiture of Kosmos’ assets in the United States (note 4.1), CEMEX recognized a curtailment gain of $1 related
to its medical plan. Moreover, in France, CEMEX changed certain formulas of the pension benefits resulting in a past service gain of $2. In addition,
in Mexico, CEMEX changed some postretirement benefits resulting in an expense for past services of $1 in 2020. These effects were recognized in the
income statement for the year.

Sensitivity analysis of pension and other post-employment benefits
For the year ended December 31, 2022, CEMEX performed sensitivity analyses on the most significant assumptions that affect the PBO, considering

reasonable independent changes of plus or minus 50 basis points in each of these assumptions. The increase (decrease) that would have resulted in the
PBO of pensions and other post-employment benefits as of December 31, 2022 are shown below:

Pensions Other benefits Total
Assumptions: +50 bps -50 bps +50 bps -50 bps +50 bps -50 bps
Discount Rate Sensitivity ................. $ (91) 100 (3) 3 (94) 103
Salary Increase Rate Sensitivity ....... 5 (4) - 1) 5 (5)
Pension Increase Rate Sensitivity ..... 66 (63) - - 66 (63)

Multiemployer defined benefit pension plans

In addition to the Company’s sponsored plans, certain union employees in the United States and the United Kingdom are covered under multiemployer
defined benefit plans administered by their unions. The Company’s funding arrangements, rate of contributions and funding requirements were made
in accordance with the contractual multiemployer agreements. The combined amounts contributed to the multiemployer plans were $61 in 2022, $58
in 2021 and $56 in 2020. The Company expects to contribute $58 to the multiemployer plans in 2023.
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20) INCOME TAXES
20.1) INCOME TAXES FOR THE PERIOD

The amounts of income tax expense in the statements of operations for 2022, 2021 and 2020 are summarized as follows:

2022 2021 2020
CUITENT INCOME TAX EXPENSE. ....vevviveeveetiitestestet et ereete s e stesae st e s e e esestesbesae st esseseesseteabesresreseesean $ 170 172 158
Deferred income tax expense (income) 39 (35) (122)
$ 209 137 36

20.2) DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the main temporary differences that generated the consolidated deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
presented below:

2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carryforwards and Other taX CrEdItS ..........ouiriieiii e $ 561 662
Accounts payable and aCCIUBH EXPEINSES ........oueiuiiuerieieieetiaieste st steee ittt tesbe st se et et eseabeabesbesbesbe e eneebeabesbesbeneeneas 754 808
INEANGIDIE ASSELS, NEL.......cuiieiiieitiitiie et b et e st e b e b e st e s e e bt e teeb et e st et e e ensetaabesbesresbeean 140 138
Total deferred taX ASSELS, GIOSS ....cviveriieiriitirteiteietteesteste st et e s ereetesbeste st e sse st essaseabesbesbe b e s esseteabestesresaesnan 1,455 1,608
Presentation of net position by same 1egal ENTILY ..o (1,044) (1,046)
411 562
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, machinery and equipment and right-0f-USe aSSEt, NEL .........ccveiririiieiiieere e (1,406) (1,502)
INVESIMENTS QMU OTNEE BSSELS......e.vieieieeiietieie ettt ettt sttt et be s b e ee e e s e e s e e st ebeebeseesb e e e e eneereaneateseensenean (32) (29)
Total deferred tax llabilitieS, GrOSS........civ it ettt (1,438) (1,531)
Presentation of net position by same [egal ENtILY ............cooiiiiiiiii e 1,044 1,046
Total deferred tax liabilities, net in the statement of financial PoSItion ... (394) (485)
Net deferred tax assets (lADIITIES)..... ..ot $ 17 77
Out of which:
Net deferred tax liabilities in MeXiCan eNtItIES L ..........c....cooicvirieeriiecsieeeseec s $ @17 (81)
Net deferred tax assets in FOrigN ENTILIES 2 ............cc..oveeureeeseseessseseses s ss st ssssss s ss s ssssss s sssanens 34 158
NET EFEITEA TAX ASSELS ...viiviitieiiiieitetecte ettt et ettt st et e et e s te et e ebeeseese e st et e st et e etesbeebeebsensessens e e esbeneesaesbesbesaesbeereens $ 17 77

1 Netdeferred tax liabilities in Mexico at the reporting date mainly refer to a temporary difference resulting when comparing the carrying amount of property, machinery
and equipment, against their corresponding tax values (remaining tax-deductible amount), partially offset by certain deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards
that are expected to be recovered in the future against taxable income. When the book value is greater than the related tax value results in a deferred tax liability. In
2011, upon transition to IFRS, CEMEX elected to measure its fixed assets at fair value, which resulted in a significant increase in book value, mainly associated with
the revaluation of mineral reserves. Such restated amounts are depleted to the income statement in a period close to 35 years, generating accounting expense that is

not tax-deductible; hence the temporary difference will gradually reverse over time but does not represent a payment obligation to the tax authority at the reporting
date.

2 Net deferred tax assets in foreign entities in 2022 and 2021 are mainly related to tax loss carryforwards recognized in prior years, mainly in the United States, that are
expected to be recovered in the future against taxable income.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, balances of the deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the statement of financial position are located in the
following entities:

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
Mexican entities........cooecvrvereerrenisennenes $ 168 (185) an s 191 (272) (81)
Foreign entities ........ccoeevveeneenscneccee 243 (209) 34 371 (213) 158
$ 411 (394) 17 $ 562 (485) 77
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Deferred income taxes — continued

The breakdown of changes in consolidated deferred income taxes during 2022, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Deferred income tax expense (income) in the income statement ................ccccocovoinnnccnnn. $ 39 (35) (122)
Deferred income tax expense (income) in stockholders' equity..........ccccoeevreieneineinninnn 14 (38) (41)
Reclassifications L.........ccoevierneenniesncen e 7 78 (12
Change in deferred income tax during the period $ 60 5 (175)

1 In 2022, 2021 and 2020, refers to the effects of the reclassification of balances to assets held for sale and related liabilities (note 4.2).

Current and/or deferred income tax relative to items of other comprehensive income during 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Revenue related to foreign exchange fluctuations from intercompany balances (note 21.2).. $ - (6) (19)
Expense (revenue) associated to actuarial results (note 21.2).......... 32 26 (41)
Revenue related to derivative financial instruments (note 17.4) (30) 1) 14
Expense (revenue) from foreign currency translation and other effects ............ccoccoevviinennns 12 (63) (14)
$ 14 (44) (60)
As of December 31, 2022, consolidated tax loss and tax credits carryforwards expire as follows:
Amount of Amount of
Amount of unrecognized recognized
carryforwards carryforwards carryforwards
$ 185 156 29
148 20 128
209 192 17
209 191 18
7,739 5,707 2,032
$ 8,490 6,266 2,224

As of December 31, 2022, in connection with CEMEX’s deferred tax loss carryforwards presented in the table above, to realize the benefits associated with
such deferred tax assets that have been recognized, before their expiration, CEMEX would need to generate $2,224 in consolidated pre-tax income in future
periods. Based on the same forecasts of future cash flows and operating results used by CEMEX’s management to allocate resources and evaluate
performance in the countries in which CEMEX operates, along with the implementation of feasible tax strategies, CEMEX believes that it will recover
the balance of its tax loss carryforwards that have been recognized before their expiration. In addition, CEMEX concluded that, the deferred tax liabilities
that were considered in the analysis of recoverability of its deferred tax assets will reverse in the same period and tax jurisdiction of the related recognized
deferred tax assets. Moreover, a certain amount of CEMEX’s deferred tax assets refers to operating segments and tax jurisdictions in which CEMEX is
currently generating taxable income or in which, according to CEMEX’s management cash flow projections, will generate taxable income in the
relevant periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets.

The Parent Company does not recognize a deferred income tax liability related to its investments in subsidiaries considering that CEMEX controls the reversal
of the temporary differences arising from these investments and management is satisfied that such temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

20.3) RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the effective consolidated income tax rates were as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Earnings (10sS) before iNCOME taX ........ccceviiiiiciieii e $ 770 954 (1,310)
INCOME taX EXPENSE ..ot (209) (137) (36)
Effective consolidated income tax expense rate ! 27.1% 14.4% (2.1)%

1 The average effective tax rate equals the net amount of income tax revenue or expense divided by income or loss before income taxes, as these line items are reported
in the income statement.
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Effective tax rate — continued

Differences between the financial reporting and the corresponding tax basis of assets and liabilities and the different income tax rates and laws applicable
to CEMEX, among other factors, give rise to permanent differences between the statutory tax rate applicable in Mexico, and the effective tax rate
presented in the consolidated statements of operations, which in 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2022 2021 2020
% $ % $ % $

Mexican Statutory taX Fate .........ocevrveerieerrieirie e 30.0 231 30.0 280 30.0 (392)
Difference between accounting and tax expenses, net !...... 35.8 276 4.8 45 (18.4) 240
Non-taxable sale of equity securities and fixed assets......... 34 26 (3.8) (35) 1.3 17)
Difference between book and tax inflation ... 28.2 217 23.9 223 (7.1) 92
Differences in the income tax rates in the countries where

CEMEX OPEIAtES 2 ...ttt (6.2) (48) 4.7 44 (0.9) 12
Changes in deferred tax assets 3.........cooerreerneerneen e (59.7) (460) (48.7) (454) (9.6) 125
Changes in provisions for uncertain tax positions .... (5.1) (39) 2.6 24 0.2 ?3)
OLNBIS ..t 0.7 6 0.8 10 1.7 (21)
Effective consolidated income tax expense rate ...........c.ccoceeueeene 27.1 209 14.4 137 (2.7) 36

1 In 2022 includes $365 and in 2020 includes $312, related to the effects of the impairment charges during the periods which are basically non-deductible (note 7).

2 Refers mainly to the effects of the differences between the statutory income tax rate in Mexico of 30% against the applicable income tax rates of each country where
CEMEX operates. In 2021 includes the effect related to the change in statutory tax rate in Colombia from 30% to 35%.

3 Refers to the effects in the effective income tax rate associated with changes during the period in the amount of deferred income tax assets related to CEMEX’s tax
loss carryforwards.

The following table compares the line item “Changes in deferred tax assets” as presented in the table above against the changes in deferred tax assets
in the statement of financial position for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
Changes in the Changes in the
statement of statement of

financial Amounts in financial Amounts in

position reconciliation position reconciliation
Tax loss carryforwards generated and not recognized during the year....... $ - 38 - 9
Derecognition related to tax loss carryforwards recognized in prior years. (103) - (145) -
Recognition related to unrecognized tax loss carryforwards ...................... 16 (498) 19 (460)
Foreign currency translation and other effects (14) — 11 (3)
Changes in deferred taxX 8SSELS ........coviireririreieeee e $ (101) (460) (115) (454)

20.4) UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS AND SIGNIFICANT TAX PROCEEDINGS

Uncertain tax positions

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, as part of current provisions and non-current other liabilities (note 18), CEMEX has recognized provisions related
to unrecognized tax benefits in connection with uncertain tax positions taken, in which it is deemed probable that the tax authority would differ from
the position adopted by CEMEX. As of December 31, 2022, the tax returns submitted by some subsidiaries of CEMEX located in several countries are
under review by the respective tax authorities in the ordinary course of business. CEMEX cannot anticipate if such reviews will result in new tax
assessments, which would, should any arise, be appropriately disclosed and/or recognized in the financial statements. A summary of the beginning and
ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, excluding interest and penalties, is as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Balance of tax positions at beginning of the period ..., $ 48 27 28
Additions for tax positions of prior periods ... 5 4 -
Additions for tax positions of current period ............cccocevvevircenienne. 5 27 3
Reductions for tax positions related to prior periods and other items (11) (2) 1)
Settlements and reclassifiCationS ............ccoviiiiieiciicce s 4) (5) 3)
Expiration of the statute of limitations .... 2 2 2
Foreign currency translation effects ... — (1) 2
Balance of tax positions at end of the Period ............ccocveieiciiiiiin e $ 41 48 27
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Uncertain tax positions — continued

Tax examinations can involve complex issues, and the resolution of issues may span multiple years, particularly if subject to negotiation or litigation.
Although CEMEX believes its estimates of the total unrecognized tax benefits are reasonable, uncertainties regarding the final determination of income
tax audit settlements and any related litigation could affect the amount of total unrecognized tax benefits in future periods. It is difficult to estimate the
timing and range of possible changes related to uncertain tax positions, as finalizing audits with the income tax authorities may involve formal
administrative and legal proceedings. Accordingly, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected changes to the total unrecognized tax benefits
over the next 12 months, although any settlements or statute of limitations expirations may result in a significant increase or decrease in the total
unrecognized tax benefits, including those positions related to tax examinations being currently conducted.

Significant tax proceedings
As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s most significant tax proceedings are as follows:

« The tax authorities in Spain (“the Spanish Tax Authorities™) challenged part of the tax loss carryforwards reported by CEMEX Espafia covering the
tax years from and including 2006 to 2009. During 2013, the Spanish Tax Authorities notified CEMEX Espafia of fines in the aggregate amount of
$489. In April 2014, CEMEX Espafia filed appeals against such resolution before the Tribunal Econémico Administrativo Central (“TEAC”) of the
Spanish Tax Authorities. On September 20, 2017, CEMEX Espafia was notified by the TEAC about an adverse resolution to such appeals. CEMEX
Espania filed a recourse against such resolution in November 2017 before the National Court (Audiencia Nacional) and applied for the suspension of
the payment before the National Court until the case is finally resolved. On January 31, 2018, the National Court notified CEMEX Espafa of the
granting of the suspension of the payment, subject to the provision of guarantees on or before April 2, 2018. In this regard, CEMEX Espafia provided
the respective guarantees in the form of a combination of a liability insurance policy and a mortgage of several assets in Spain. In November 2018,
the National Court confirmed the acceptance of the guarantees by the Spanish Tax Authorities, which ensures the suspension of the payment until
the recourses are definitively resolved. On November 30, 2021, the National Court issued a judgment rejecting the appeal filed by CEMEX Espafia
against the resolution of the TEAC, confirming the imposed fines. On February 25, 2022, CEMEX Espafia filed with the Spanish Supreme Court a
cassation appeal against this judgment issued by the National Court. On October 13, 2022, the Spanish Supreme Court rejected the admission of the
cassation appeal. As a result, CEMEX Espafia filed an annulment recourse against this determination, which was admitted by the Spanish Supreme
Court in December 2022. As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX believes an adverse resolution in these proceedings is not probable and no accruals
have been created in connection with these proceedings. Nonetheless, it is difficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result, and
the appeals that CEMEX Espafia has filed could take an extended amount of time to be resolved, but if adversely resolved, these proceedings could
have a material adverse impact on CEMEXs results of operations, liquidity or financial position.

« On March 26, 2021, the Spanish Tax Authorities notified CEMEX Espafia of an assessment for Income Taxes in an amount in Euros equivalent to
$51 as of December 31, 2022, plus late interest, derived from a tax audit process covering the tax years 2010 to 2014. This assessment was appealed
before the TEAC. In order for the suspension of the payment of the tax assessment to be granted, CEMEX Espafia provided a payment guarantee
which was approved by such tax authorities. Moreover, on December 3, 2021, the Spanish Tax Authorities notified CEMEX Espafia of a penalty for
an amount in Euros equivalent to $73, derived from the tax audit process covering the same period from 2010 to 2014. This assessment was appealed
before the TEAC. Until this appeal is resolved, no payment will be made and the company is not required to furnish a guarantee for the filing of the
appeal. As of December 31, 2022, CEMEX believes an adverse resolution in these proceedings are not probable and no accruals have been created in
connection with these proceedings. Nonetheless, it is difficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result, and the appeals that CEMEX
Espafia has filed could take an extended amount of time to be resolved, but if adversely resolved, these proceedings could have a material adverse
impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial position.

« During April, 2018, CEMEX Colombia received a special proceeding from the Colombian Tax Authority (the “Tax Authority”), where certain deductions
included in the 2012 income tax return were rejected. The Tax Authority assessed an increase in the income tax payable by CEMEX Colombia and
imposed an inaccuracy penalty for amounts in Colombian Pesos equivalent to $26 of income tax and $26 of penalty. After having appealed this
requirement, on December 28, 2018, CEMEX Colombia received an official review settlement ratifying the rejected deductible items and amounts.
CEMEX Colombia filed a reconsideration request on February 21, 2019, which was rejected in all its parts by the Tax Authority on January 8, 2020.
OnJuly 1, 2020, CEMEX Colombia filed an appeal against the aforementioned resolution in the Administrative Court of Cundinamarca. In the event
of an unfavorable resolution, the aforementioned amounts include in the taxes payable, the adjustment of refunding to the Tax Authority credit
balances for the year in question, which were used to offset taxes payable for subsequent years. If the proceeding is adversely resolved in the final
stage, CEMEX Colombia must pay the amounts determined in the official settlement plus interest accrued on the amount of the income tax adjustment
until the payment date. As of December 31, 2022, at this stage of the proceeding, CEMEX considers that an adverse resolution in this proceeding after
conclusion of all available defense procedures is not probable, however, it is difficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result in the
proceeding; if adversely resolved, CEMEX believes this proceeding could have a material adverse impact on the operating results, liquidity or financial
position of CEMEX.
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Significant tax proceedings — continued

« In September 2012, the Tax Authority requested CEMEX Colombia to amend its income tax return for the year 2011 in connection with several
deductible expenses including the amortization of goodwill. CEMEX Colombia rejected the arguments of the ordinary request and filed a motion
requesting the case to be closed. The 2011 income tax return was under audit of the Tax Authority from August 2013 until September 5, 2018, when the
Tax Authority notified CEMEX Colombia of a special proceeding in which it rejected certain deductions included in the 2011 tax return and determined
an increase in the income tax payable and imposed a penalty for amounts in Colombian Pesos equivalent to $18 of income tax and $18 of penalty. After
having appealed this requirement, the Tax Authority notified the official reversal review liquidation in May, 2019, maintaining the claims of the special
proceeding; CEMEX Colombia filed an appeal on July 11, 2019. On July 6, 2020, CEMEX Colombia was notified about a resolution to the appeal
of reconsideration, in which the Tax Authority confirms the claims of the official liquidation. On October 22, 2020, CEMEX Colombia filed an
appeal against the resolution in the Administrative Court of Cundinamarca within legal term. In the event of a final unfavorable resolution, the
amounts mentioned above include in taxes payable, the adjustment of refunding to the Tax Authority of credit balances for the year in question,
which were used to offset taxes payable in subsequent years. If the proceeding is adversely resolved in its final stage, CEMEX Colombia would have
to pay the amounts determined in the official settlement plus interest accrued on the amount of the income tax adjustment until the date of payment. As
of December 31, 2022, at this stage of the proceeding, CEMEX considers that an adverse resolution in this proceeding after conclusion of all available
defense procedures is not probable, however, it is difficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result in the proceeding; if adversely
resolved, CEMEX believes this proceeding could have a material adverse impact on the operating results, liquidity or financial position of CEMEX.

21) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Dollars based on IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (“IAS 21”), while
the reporting currency of the Parent Company is the Peso. As a result, for the consolidated entity, transactions of common stock, additional paid-in
capital and retained earnings are translated and accrued using historical exchange rates of the dates in which the transactions occurred. As a result,
although the amounts of total non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements and total stockholders’ equity of the Parent Company are
the same, IAS 21 methodology results in differences between line-by-line items within CEMEX’s controlling interest and the Parent Company’s
stockholders’ equity. The official stockholders’ equity for statutory purposes is that of the Parent Company as expressed in Pesos. As of December 31,
2022, the line-by-line reconciliation between CEMEX’s controlling interest, as reported using the Dollar as presentation currency, and the Parent
Company’s stockholders’ equity, using a convenience translation of the balances in Pesos translated using the exchange rate of 19.50 Pesos per Dollar
as of December 31, 2022, is as follows:

As of December 31, 2022

Consolidated Parent Company

Common stock and additional paid-in Capital L..........ccccoveveiriiiiiieiccee s $ 7,810 5,414
Oher EQUILY TESEIVES 12 . ... (1,555) 1,687
Retained earnings? ................. 4,246 3,400
Total controlling interest $ 10,501 10,501

1 The difference relates to the method of accruing Dollars using the historical exchange rates to translate each common stock and additional paid-in capital transaction
denominated in Pesos to Dollars. The cumulative effect from these changes in exchange rates is recognized against other equity reserves.

2 The difference relates with the method of accruing Dollars using the exchange rates of each month during the period for income statement purposes. The cumulative
effect from these changes in exchange rates is recognized against other equity reserves.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, stockholders’ equity excludes investments in CPOs of the Parent Company held by subsidiaries of $8 (20,541,277
CPOs) and $14 (20,541,277 CPOs), respectively, which were eliminated within “Other equity reserves.”

21.1) COMMON STOCK AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the breakdown of consolidated common stock and additional paid-in capital was as follows:

2022 2021
COMMON SEOCK . ...vtitie ettt ettt et e et ebe et et b e e ab e e b e e abesbeebseebeaasesbeeRsesbeeaeesbeetsebeeasesbeebeeabeareesbeantenas $ 318 318
Additional Paid-in CAPITAL ........c.eiiiiiiiie bbbt 7,492 7,492
$ 7,810 7,810

Effective as of December 31, 2020, the Company’s management approved a restitution to the consolidated line item of “Retained earnings” for $2,481,
by means of transfer with charge to the line item of “Additional paid-in capital.” This transfer represents a reclassification between line items within
CEMEX’s consolidated stockholders’ equity that does not affect its consolidated amount.
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Common stock and additional paid-in capital — continued

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was presented as follows:

2022 2021
Shares ! Series A? Series B? Series A2 Series B?
Subscribed and Paid SNAES..........ccvviiiiiirieieiee e 29,016,656,496 14,508,328,248 29,457,941,452 14,728,970,726
Unissued shares authorized for executives’ stock compensation programs........ 881,442,830 440,721,415 881,442,830 440,721,415
REPUICNASE SNATESS.........coivivirireieieii ettt 441,284,956 220,642,478

30,339,384,282 15,169,692,141 30,339,384,282 15,169,692,141

1 Asof December 31, 2022 and 2021, 13,068,000,000 shares correspond to the fixed portion, and 32,441,076,423 shares as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, correspond
to the variable portion.

2 Series “A” or Mexican shares must represent at least 64% of CEMEX’s capital stock; Series “B” or free subscription shares must represent at most 36% of CEMEX’s
capital stock.

3 Shares repurchased under the share repurchase program authorized by the Company’s shareholders (note 21.2).

On March 24, 2022, stockholders at the ordinary general shareholders’ meeting of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. approved: (a) setting an amount of $500
or its equivalent in Pesos as the maximum amount of resources through year 2022 and until the next ordinary general shareholders’ meeting of the
Parent Company that CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. may use for the acquisition of its own shares or securities that represent such shares; b) authorize the
Company’s Board of Directors to determine the bases on which the acquisition and placement of any such shares shall be instructed, designate the
persons that shall make the decisions to acquire or place them, appoint those responsible for carrying out the transaction and giving the corresponding
notices to the authorities; and (c) designation of the members of CEMEX’s Board of Directors, as well as members of the Audit, Corporate Practices
and Finance, and Sustainability Committees.

On March 25, 2021, stockholders at the annual ordinary shareholders’ meeting (the “Shareholders' Meeting”) of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. approved:
(i) setting the amount of $500 or its equivalent in Pesos as the maximum amount of resources through year 2021 and until the next ordinary general
shareholders’ meeting of the Parent Company is held for the acquisition of its own shares or securities that represent such shares; (ii) the decrease of
the variable part of the Parent Company’s share capital through the cancellation of (a) 1,134 million shares repurchased during the 2020 fiscal year,
under the share repurchase program and (b) an aggregate of 3,409.5 million shares that were authorized to guarantee the conversion of then existing
convertible securities, as well as for any new issuance of convertible securities and/or to be subscribed and paid for in a public offering or private
subscription; and (iii) the appointment of the members of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, the Corporate Practices and Finance Committee
(which reduced its members from four to three) and the Sustainability Committee of the Parent Company.

On March 26, 2020, the Shareholders' Meeting of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. approved: (i) setting the amount of $500 or its equivalent in Pesos as the
maximum amount of resources through year 2020 and until the next ordinary Shareholders' Meeting is held for the acquisition of its own shares or
securities that represent such shares; and (ii) the cancellation of shares of repurchased during the 2019 fiscal year and the remained in the Parent
Company’s treasury after the maturities of the November 2019 Mandatory Convertible Notes and the 3.72% Convertible Notes, except for the minimal
conversion. Under the 2020 share repurchase program, the Parent Company repurchased 378.2 million CEMEX CPOs, at a weighted-average price in
Pesos equivalent to 0.22 Dollars per CPO. The total amount of these CPO repurchases, excluding value-added tax, was $83. On April 8, 2020, the
Parent Company announced that, to enhance its liquidity, it suspended the share repurchase program for the remainder of 2020.

In connection with the long-term executive share-based compensation programs (note 22), in 2022 and 2021 CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. did not issue
shares.

21.2) OTHER EQUITY RESERVES AND SUBORDINATED NOTES

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the caption of other equity reserves and subordinated notes was integrated as follows:

2022 2021
OLNET BOUILY TESEIVES ...ttt ettt ettt b et s b bttt b st et bt e b e bbbt e b e st et e et st b et e nan $ (2,549) (2,365)
YU oo o [T aFoLe=Te I Lo (= RSP 994 994
$ (1,555) (1,371)
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Other equity reserves

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, other equity reserves are detailed as follows:

2022 2021

Cumulative translation effect, net of effects from deferred income taxes recognized directly in equity (note
20.2) and derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges (928) (722)
Cumulative aCtUATIAI IOSSES ......cevviviiriiirieiriee e . (353) (529)
Cumulative coupon payments under perpetual debentures (note 21.4) . (1,070) (1,070)
Treasury shares repurchased under share repurchase program (note 21.1)......... " (111) -
Cumulative coupon payments under SUDOrdiNAted NOES ... ......vruirireueiieerireeeeneeee e eees (84) (30)
Treasury shares held DY SUDSIAIAIIES ..........oeiieiiieiiciesee bbb (5) (14)
$ (2,549) (2,365)

1 Interest accrued under the Parent Company’s subordinated notes described below are recognized as part of other equity reserves.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the translation effects of foreign subsidiaries included in the statements of comprehensive
income were as follows:

2022 2021 2020
Foreign currency translation TeSUIL L ............cvoviviiiiiiiiieeeceee e $ (235) (389) 352
Foreign exchange fluctuations from debt2 ...........c.cooveeeiiiiviiiicccee e (23) 89 (126)
Foreign exchange fluctuations from intercompany balances? ..............cococoeeeviveririsiieeenen. (68) (13) (419)
$ (326) (313) (193)

1 These effects refer to the result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and include the changes in fair value of foreign exchange
forward contracts designated as hedge of a net investment (note 17.4).

2 Generated by foreign exchange fluctuations over a notional amount of debt in CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., associated with the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries and
designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries (note 2.4).

3 Refers to foreign exchange fluctuations arising from balances with related parties in foreign currencies that are of a long-term investment nature considering that
their liquidation is not anticipated in the foreseeable future and foreign exchange fluctuations over a notional amount of debt of a subsidiary of CEMEX Esparfia
identified and designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries.

Subordinated notes

On June 8, 2021, the Parent Company issued one series of $1,000 5.125% subordinated notes with no fixed maturity. After issuance costs, the Parent
Company received $994. Considering that the Parent Company’s subordinated notes have no fixed maturity date, there is no contractual obligation for
the Parent Company to deliver cash or any other financial assets, the payment of principal and interest may be deferred indefinitely at the sole discretion
of CEMEX and specific redemption events, are fully under the Parent Company’s control, under applicable IFRS, these subordinated notes issued by
the Parent Company qualify as equity instruments and are classified within controlling interest stockholders’ equity. The Parent Company has a
repurchase option on the fifth anniversary of the subordinated notes. In the event of liquidation of the Parent Company’s due to commercial bankruptcy,
the subordinated notes would come to the liquidation process according to its subordination after all liabilities.

Coupon payments on the subordinated notes were included within “Other equity reserves” and amounted to $54 in 2022 and $30 in 2021.

21.3) RETAINED EARNINGS

The Parent Company’s net income for the year is subject to a 5% allocation toward a legal reserve until such reserve equals one fifth of the common
stock. As of December 31, 2022, the legal reserve amounted to $93.

21.4) NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST AND PERPETUAL DEBENTURES
Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the share of non-controlling stockholders in the equity and results of consolidated subsidiaries. As of December 31,
2022 and 2021, non-controlling interest in equity amounted to $408 and $444, respectively. In 2022, 2021 and 2020, non-controlling interests in
consolidated net income were $27, $25 and $21, respectively. These non-controlling interests arise mainly from the following CEMEXs subsidiaries:

o InFebruary 2017, CEMEX acquired a controlling interest in TCL, whose shares trade in the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. As of December
31, 2022 and 2021, there is a non-controlling interest in TCL of 30.17% of its common shares (see note 4.3 for certain relevant condensed financial
information).
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Non-controlling interest — continued

e InJuly 2016, CHP closed its initial offering of 45% of its common shares. Pursuant to the repurchase of CHP’s shares in the market and a public
stock right offering, CEMEX reduced the non-controlling interest in CHP from 45% in 2018 to 33.22% in 2019 and to 22.16% in 2020 considering
the results of a public stock rights offering. CHP’s assets consist primarily of CEMEX’s cement manufacturing assets in the Philippines (see note
27 for Subsequent Events).

e InNovember 2012, CLH, a direct subsidiary of CEMEX Espafia, concluded its initial offering of common shares. CLH’s assets include substantially
all of CEMEX’s assets in Colombia, Panama, Guatemala and until August 31, 2022, operations in Costa Rica and El Salvador. In December 2020,
by means of a public share tender offer, CEMEX Espaiia increased its ownership in CLH by acquiring 108,337,613 shares of CLH in exchange of
$103. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is a non-controlling interest in CLH of 4.70% and 7.74%, respectively, of CLH's outstanding
common shares, excluding shares held in treasury. Moreover, on December 22, 2022, CEMEX Espafia requested authorization to the Colombian
Finance Superintendency to launch a Delisting Tender Offer of CLH’s ordinary shares (see note 27 for Subsequent Events).

Perpetual debentures

As of December 31, 2020, the line item of “Non-controlling interest” included $449, related to the notional amount of perpetual debentures, excluding
any perpetual debentures then held by subsidiaries. In June 2021, considering the issuance of the subordinated notes described above, CEMEX
repurchased all series of its outstanding perpetual notes.

Until its repurchase, coupon payments on the perpetual debentures were included within “Other equity reserves” and amounted to $11 in 2021 and $24
in 2020, excluding in all the periods the coupons accrued by perpetual debentures held by subsidiaries.

CEMEX’s perpetual debentures had no fixed maturity date and there were no contractual obligations for CEMEX to exchange any series of its
outstanding perpetual debentures for financial assets or financial liabilities. As a result, these debentures, issued by Special Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”),
qualified as equity instruments un